
Scrutiny Standing  
Panel Agenda 

1 

 
 
 
 
Finance and Performance Management Scrutiny Panel 
Tuesday, 31st March, 2009 
 
Place: Civic Offices, High Street, Epping 
  
Time: 7.00 pm 
  
Democratic Services 
Officer: 

A Hendry -  The Office of the Chief Executive 
Tel: 01992 564246  Email: ahendry@eppingforestdc.gov.uk 

 
Members: 
 
Councillors D Jacobs (Chairman), G Mohindra (Vice-Chairman), K Angold-Stephens, 
J Collier, M Colling, J Hart, J Philip, W Pryor, A Watts and J M Whitehouse 
 
 
 

 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 

 2. SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS (COUNCIL MINUTE 39 - 23.7.02)   
 

  (Assistant to the Chief Executive)  To report the appointment of any substitute 
members for the meeting. 
 

 3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   
 

  (Assistant to the Chief Executive). To declare interests in any items on the agenda. 
 
In considering whether to declare a personal or a prejudicial interest under the Code 
of Conduct, Overview & Scrutiny members are asked pay particular attention to 
paragraph 11 of the Code in addition to the more familiar requirements. 
 
This requires the declaration of a personal and prejudicial interest in any matter before 
an OS Committee which relates to a decision of or action by another Committee or 
Sub Committee of the Council, a Joint Committee or Joint Sub Committee in which the 
Council is involved and of which the Councillor is also a member. 
 
Paragraph 11 does not refer to Cabinet decisions or attendance at an OS meeting 
purely for the purpose of answering questions or providing information on such a 
matter. 
 

 4. MINUTES  (Pages 3 - 8) 
 

  To confirm the minutes of the meetings of the Panels held on 10th February 2009. 
 



Finance and Performance Management Scrutiny Panel Tuesday, 31 March 2009 
 

2 

 
 5. TERMS OF REFERENCE / WORK PROGRAMME  (Pages 9 - 14) 

 
  (Chairman/Lead Officer) The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has agreed the Terms 

of Reference of this Panel and associated Work Programme. This is attached. The 
Panel are asked at each meeting to review both documents. 
 

 6. KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2009/10  (Pages 15 - 42) 
 

  (Deputy Chief Executive) To consider the attached report. 
 

 7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY - PROGRESS REPORT 2008/09  (Pages 43 - 48) 
 

  (Deputy Chief Executive) To consider the attached report. 
 

 8. VALUE FOR MONEY STRATEGY - REVIEW  (Pages 49 - 70) 
 

  (Deputy Chief Executive) To consider the attached report. 
 

 9. REPORTS TO BE MADE TO THE NEXT MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE   

 
  To consider which reports are ready to be submitted to the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee at its next meeting. 
 

 10. FUTURE MEETINGS   
 

  To consider the forward programme of meeting dates for the new year for this Panel. 
They are: 
 
16th June 2009; 
25th August 2009; 
17th November 2009; 
12th January 2010; 
23rd February 2010; and 
22nd April 2010. 
 

 



1

EPPING FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL 
NOTES OF A MEETING OF FINANCE AND PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT SCRUTINY 

PANEL
HELD ON TUESDAY, 10 FEBRUARY 2009 

IN COMMITTEE ROOM 1, CIVIC OFFICES, HIGH STREET, EPPING 
AT 7.00  - 8.46 PM 

Members
Present:

D Jacobs (Chairman), G Mohindra (Vice-Chairman), K Angold-Stephens, 
M Colling, J Hart, J Philip, A Watts and J M Whitehouse 

Other members 
present:

Mrs D Collins and C Whitbread 

Apologies for 
Absence:

Officers Present D Macnab (Deputy Chief Executive), J Gilbert (Director of Environment 
and Street Scene), A Hall (Director of Housing), J Preston (Director of 
Planning and Economic Development), P Maddock (Assistant Director 
Accountancy), P Maginnis (Assistant Director Human Resources), S Tautz 
(Performance Improvement Manager), Mrs J Twinn (Assistant Director of 
Finance and ICT) and A Hendry (Democratic Services Officer) 

53. SUBSTITUTE  MEMBERS (COUNCIL MINUTE 39 - 23.7.02)  

The Panel noted that there were no substitute members. 

54. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  

Pursuant to the Council Code for Members Conduct, Councillor A Watts declared a 
personal interest in agenda item 6, LPI 16 Average time for processing new benefit 
claims, by virtue of being associated with the software provider under discussion. He 
declared that his interests were prejudicial and that he would remain, but not partake 
in, the discussion for the consideration of the item.  

55. MINUTES  

The notes from the previous meeting held on 13 January 2009 were agreed. 

56. TERMS OF REFERENCE / WORK PROGRAMME  

The Terms of Reference and the Work Programme were noted subject to: 

• Item 9 of the work programme to be identified as completed; and  

• Item 8 – the next report that was due on May/June 2008 should read 2009. 

57. KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS - QUARTER 3 -  PERFORMANCE 
MONITORING  

The Performance Improvement Manager, Mr S Tautz, introduced the latest Key 
Performance Indicator (KPI) monitoring report for 2008/09. The Panel noted that a 
range of twenty-nine KPIs for 2008/09 were adopted by the Cabinet in June 2008, to 

Agenda Item 4

Page 3



Finance and Performance Management Scrutiny Panel Tuesday, 10 February 2009 

2

focus improvement on key areas and achieve comparable performance with the top 
performing local authorities (where appropriate). 

The Panel reviewed performance reports for the majority of the KPIs for the period 
from 1 April to 31 December 2009. The Performance Improvement Manager reported 
that a number of the KPI’s could not easily be monitored on a quarterly basis and that 
performance against these would be reported at the end of the year.  

The Panel then went on to review the KPIs in turn. 

NI157b - processing of planning applications (‘minor’ applications types) – Councillor 
Watts asked about the progress on the KPI improvement plan. He was told that as in 
previous years there was a requirement to provide a detailed improvement plan. This 
would include looking at cases that may need to go to committee or not.  There was 
a request to look at the volume of applications to the number of staff available. It may 
be that applications may drop off in the current financial climate. There was a case to 
look at applications that went on to appeal. 

NI191 – Residual household waste per household – Councillor Jacobs asked if the 
figures for waste was identified in kilos; he was told that it was. 

NI192 – Percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting – 
Councillor Jacobs asked if the figures were Districts or the Counties. He was told that 
it was a mixture of the two. They could not just use County figures as they were late 
by a number of months. These figures were based on EFDC’s measurements. 

NI195 (a) – Improved street and environment cleanliness (levels of litter) – noted that 
it was a government requirement this was measured on a four monthly basis so 
some meetings of the Panel would not receive an update. Officers were hopeful they 
would meet the 10.5% target.  

LPI 02a – Average time (days) to determine a Premises Licence – this was adopted 
at the Panel’s last meeting – so no historical information was available. 

LPI 04 – Rent collected as a proportion of rents owed on housing revenue account 
dwellings – this was well above target until this quarter. Officers were still hopeful that 
the target would be achieved, but they were uncertain, due to delays resulting from 
the installation of the new revenues and benefits computer system. 

LPI 12 – Affordable homes built and acquired – noted that there was not much the 
council could do about achieving this target this year. Any action needed a long lead 
in time, especially due to the current economic climate. However, there are a lot of 
homes planned to be handed over next year. It was predicted that some 240 homes 
would be delivered in the new financial year. 

LPI 16 – Average time (days) for processing new benefits claims – Officers noted 
that this would probably get worse within the next quarter due to the implementation 
of the new IT system.  They were getting a lot more claims and it took a long time to 
set up new claimants. They also had some staffing problems. However, extra agency 
staff was being engaged to help clear the backlog. 

LPI 28 – Number of working days lost due to sickness absence – noted that quarter 3 
figures were hit by flu and winter chills, pushing the figures up. The trigger points of 8 
days or 5 separate occasions needed to be kept under constant surveillance and 
management. 

Page 4



Finance and Performance Management Scrutiny Panel Tuesday, 10 February 2009 

3

LPI 42 – Percentage of Households served by a kerbside collection of recyclables – 
the council was making progress in putting in processes so that people in flats and 
buildings of multiple occupation could have access to recycling banks. Officers hope 
to see an improvement in this indicator by the middle of the year and into the next. 

RESOLVED: 

That the Panel noted the Council’s performance figures for the first nine 
months of 2008/09. 

58. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL MONITORING  

The Assistant Director of Accountancy, Peter Maddock introduced the Quarterly 
Financial Monitoring report to the Panel. This report provided a comparison between 
the profiled budgets for the period ended 31 December 2008 and the actual 
expenditure or income applicable. 

The Panel noted that:

• a 2.45% pay increase had now been implemented, however the award itself 
was still in arbitration; 

• income budgets were looking increasingly volatile; 

• Development Control income at month 9 was £17,000 below expectations, 
due to pre-application fees not reaching expectations; 

• Building Control income showed an underachievement of £53,000. Income 
levels would not reach predicted levels and a revised budget had been 
prepared on a basis of an income loss of £80,000; 

• Land Charge  search income at month 9 was £187,000 below expected 
levels;

• Hanger No.1 had now been let; 

• Income from car parking was higher than expected mainly due to additional 
season tickets issued to Essex County Council. The additional income was 
included in the revised estimates; 

• Since November 2008, interests rates had plummeted dramatically; 

• Investments interest the final figure would be nearer a quarter million rather 
than the expected £3069k. 

Councillor Mohindra asked what the time frame was for the council getting its money 
back from its investments with the Heritable Bank. Mr Maddock replied that they had 
no definate indication of the timescale, but it should hopefully be within the next six 
months.

Councillor Angold-Stephens asked if the present interest rate cut was factored in for 
next year. Mr Maddock replied that yes, they had factored in £200k CSB Growth for 
next year. 

Councillor Angold-Stephens asked if the Car Park and Traffic Schemes budget would 
be exceeded at the end of the year. Mr Maddock replied that he was not aware of 
any overspend. The Director of Environment and Street Scene said that not all that 
data was up to date. The Harlow Highways office was currently experiencing staffing 
difficulties and that Councillor Bassett would be writing to the County Portfolio Holder 
to say that this was unacceptable. 

Page 5



Finance and Performance Management Scrutiny Panel Tuesday, 10 February 2009 

4

Councillor Watts asked about the completion date for the Springfield Improvement 
Scheme works. The Director of Housing said that a completion date of June 09 was 
anticipated.  Because of the 12 week extension, they were now expecting an 
overspend on the final account. 

RESOLVED: 

That the Panel noted the revenue and capital financial monitoring report for 
the third quarter of 2008/09. 

59. VALUE FOR MONEY COST AND PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS 2007/08  

The Panel received a verbal update of the deliberations of the sub-group considering 
the Value for Money (VFM) Cost and Performance Analysis. The Sub-committee 
consisted of Councillors Jacobs, Mohindra and Watts. 

Councillor D Jacobs advised the Panel of the conclusion of the sub-committee 
previously established to consider the Council’s Value for Money, Cost and 
Performance Analysis for 2007/08. They had carried out a comprehensive review of 
the cost and performance information that was currently available for the Council’s 
services in 2007/08. Officers had pointed out that many areas had already been 
scrutinised and it would not be worthwhile for the sub-committee to try and duplicate 
this.

The sub-committee identified the following areas as requiring detailed scrutiny of the 
action being taken by the Executive to improve performance and said that it would 
like progress reports in 2009/10 on the performance of: 

(1) green waste collection;
(2) responsive repairs and void properties; and 
(3) housing benefit and council tax.  

The Sub-Committee also requested progress reports on data quality. 

Councillor Watts commented that the VFM sub-group had done what it was 
supposed to do for this year, but queried about the timing for its work next year. The 
Deputy Chief Executive said that officers were in the process of mapping out a series 
of reports for 2009/10 and that the work of the sub-group would be incorporated 
within this. 

The Director of Housing said the VFM Review last year was very useful, comparing 
EFDC to other authorities. It had therefore been agreed that the VFM Review 
exercise should be replicated this year, in terms of comparative costs and 
performance for 2007/08. The information should be available through the Audit 
Commission by the end of February. We can then compare our costs and 
performance with other authorities.  

Councillor Watts said that at a meeting this time next year, they should be appointing 
a sub-group to meet in March. The Director of Housing commented that it may be too 
quick, having regard to the publication date of comparative data by the Audit 
Commission, and that the earliest that consideration could be given would be April, 
as it takes time to get the information and analyse it. Officers would need time to 
assess it and make it meaningful. 

Page 6



Finance and Performance Management Scrutiny Panel Tuesday, 10 February 2009 

5

Councillor Watts said this needed to be a continuing process. At their next meeting, it 
was agreed that the Scrutiny Panel should give consideration to the timing of 
meetings for next year. 

RESOLVED: 

That following the consideration of the VFM Cost and Performance Analysis 
for 2007/08 and with regard to the findings of the corporate VFM Review in 
2008, reports be made to a future meeting of the Scrutiny Panel in respect of: 

(a) Progress towards securing of cost and performance improvements in 
respect of the following services: 

• Green waste collection; 

• Responsive repairs and void properties; and 

• Housing and Council tax Benefits. 

(b) Proposed arrangements for the development and member 
consideration of the VFM Cost and Performance Analysis for 2009/10 

60. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY  

The Assistant Director of Accountancy, Peter Maddock introduced the medium term 
financial strategy report for the period ended 2012/13. It was noted that the Panel 
had requested at its last meeting to see the medium term financial strategy. The 
strategy itself is an important document that sets the financial framework for the 
medium term with a view to managing future budgets and identifying necessary 
savings early so that these could be managed in a controlled way.  

The report allowed a considered view to be taken of spending and resources. 
Without a medium term financial strategy finances would be managed on an annual 
basis leading to sudden expansion and contractions in services. 

The strategy was updated annually and was originally considered in September 2008 
with the financial issues paper that forms the start of the budget process. The 
updated strategy was then considered by the Finance and Performance 
Management Cabinet Committee at it’s meeting on 26 January 2009.  

The Panel noted that it was necessary to increase the CSB target upwards from 
£17.9m to £18.1m.

It was noted that target savings of £300,000 were necessary in each of the final three 
years of the strategy. The strategy would be monitored during the year and updated 
for the September 2009 meeting of the Finance and Performance Management 
Cabinet Committee. 

Officers promised to get the four year forecast to the panel in good time next year. 

RESOLVED: 

That the Panel noted the medium term financial strategy for the period ending 
2012/13.

Page 7



Finance and Performance Management Scrutiny Panel Tuesday, 10 February 2009 

6

61. REPORTS TO BE MADE TO THE NEXT MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

To report back to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee with a general update on the 
reports considered at this meeting. 

62. ANY OTHER BUSINESS  

It was noted that there was no other urgent business for consideration by the Panel. 

63. FUTURE MEETINGS  

The schedule for future meetings were noted. 

Page 8



June 2008 

TERMS OF REFERENCE - STANDING PANEL 
 
 
Title:  Finance and Performance Management  
 
 
Status:  Standing Panel 
 
 
Terms of Reference: 
 
Performance Management 
1. To review statutory and local performance indicator outturns for the previous year at 

the commencement of each municipal year, and to determine the following on an 
annual basis: 

 
(a) A basket of ‘Key’ Performance Indicators (KPIs) important to the Council’s 

core business and corporate priorities; and 
 
(b) The monitoring frequency of the KPIs identified by the Panel for the year; 

 
2. To monitor performance against the adopted KPIs throughout the year; and to make 

recommendations for corrective action in relation to poorly performing indicators; 
 
Council Plan 
3. To undertake an annual review of performance against objectives, targets and 

actions contained in the Council Plan for 2006 to 2010; 
 
 
Public Consultation 
 
4. To develop arrangements to directly engage the community in commenting on and 

shaping the future direction of services to make them more responsive to local 
needs, including the development of proposals for effective consultation through an 
annual community conference;  

 
5. To annually review the consultation exercises undertaken by the council over the 

previous year. 
 
Finance 
 
6. To consider the draft budgets for each portfolio and in so doing to evaluate and rank 

proposals for either enhancing or reducing services. Members will need to ensure 
consistency between wider policy objectives and financial demands. 

 
7. To consider financial monitoring reports on key areas of income and expenditure for 

each portfolio.  
 
ICT  
8. To monitor and review progress on the implementation of all major ICT systems: 

• Review of the Web-Casting System. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5

Page 9



June 2008 

 
 
Value For Money 
9.  To consider the annual Value for Money Analysis, and to identify any areas where 
further detailed analysis may be required to be undertaken by a Task and Finish Panel 
during the year. 
 
Essex Local Area Agreement 
10. To monitor performance against the performance indicators contained within the 
second Essex Local Area Agreement, that the Council ‘has regard to’; and to make 
recommendations for corrective action in relation to poorly performing indicators. 
 
Equality and Diversity 
11. To undertake an annual review of progress towards the implementation of the 
Council’s Race Equality, Gender Equality, and Disability Equality Schemes, and 
performance in relation to other equality and diversity issues. 
 
 
 
Chairman:  Cllr Derek Jacobs 
 

 

Page 10



Fi
na

nc
e 

&
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 M

an
ag

em
en

t S
ta

nd
in

g 
P

an
el

 –
 W

or
k 

P
ro

gr
am

m
e 

A
s 

at
 M

ar
ch

 2
00

9 

Fi
na

nc
e 

an
d 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 M
an

ag
em

en
t S

ta
nd

in
g 

P
an

el
 

Ite
m

 
R

ep
or

t D
ea

dl
in

e/
 

P
rio

rit
y 

P
ro

gr
es

s 
/ C

om
m

en
ts

 
P

ro
gr

am
m

e 
of

 
fu

tu
re

 m
ee

tin
gs

 
(1

) B
es

t V
al

ue
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 P

la
n 

20
07

/0
8 

R
ep

or
t c

on
si

de
re

d 
an

nu
al

ly
  

C
om

pl
et

ed
: T

he
 S

um
m

ar
y 

B
V

P
P

 a
nd

 a
rr

an
ge

m
en

ts
 fo

r 
co

ns
id

er
at

io
n 

of
 fu

ll 
B

V
P

P
 fo

r 2
00

8/
09

 a
gr

ee
d 

on
 1

1 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 2

00
8.

 T
he

 s
ta

tu
to

ry
 re

qu
ire

m
en

t t
o 

pr
od

uc
e 

an
 

an
nu

al
 B

V
P

P
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

re
vo

ke
d 

as
 p

ar
t o

f t
he

 n
ew

 
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

 fr
am

ew
or

k 
fo

r l
oc

al
 g

ov
er

nm
en

t, 
an

d 
th

e 
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

 p
la

n 
fo

r 2
00

8/
09

 w
ill

 b
e 

th
e 

la
st

 to
 b

e 
pr

od
uc

ed
 in

 th
e 

cu
rr

en
t f

or
m

. 
 

(2
) K

ey
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 In

di
ca

to
rs

 - 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 M

on
ito

rin
g 

 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 re

po
rts

 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 o
n 

a 
qu

ar
te

rly
 b

as
is

. 

Q
ua

rte
rly

 K
P

I p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 re
po

rts
 w

ill
 b

e 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 a
t 

th
e 

m
ee

tin
gs

 to
 b

e 
he

ld
 o

n 
19

 A
ug

us
t 2

00
8,

 1
1 

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

08
 a

nd
 1

0 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 2

00
9.

 A
n 

ex
tra

 m
ee

tin
g 

w
as

 
ar

ra
ng

ed
 o

n 
20

 O
ct

ob
er

 0
8 

to
 c

on
si

de
r Q

tr 
1.

 
 

(3
) Q

ua
rte

rly
 F

in
an

ci
al

 M
on

ito
rin

g 
R

ep
or

ts
 to

 b
e 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 o

n 
a 

qu
ar

te
rly

 b
as

is
. 

Fi
rs

t Q
ua

rte
r i

nf
or

m
at

io
n 

w
as

 c
on

si
de

re
d 

on
 1

9 
A

ug
us

t 
’0

8,
 2

nd
 Q

ua
rte

r o
n 

11
 N

ov
em

be
r ‘

08
 m

ee
tin

g 
an

d 
th

e 
3rd

 
Q

ua
rte

r t
o 

go
 to

 th
e 

Fe
br

ua
ry

 0
9 

m
ee

tin
g.

 
 

(4
) P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 (S

er
vi

ce
s 

to
 b

e 
sc

ru
tin

is
ed

 in
 R

ot
at

io
n)

 
O

ng
oi

ng
 

Th
e 

P
an

el
 lo

ok
ed

 a
t t

he
 C

ou
nc

il’
s 

la
nd

 a
nd

 
ac

co
m

m
od

at
io

n 
st

ra
te

gy
 a

t i
ts

 m
ee

tin
g 

in
 N

ov
em

be
r 2

00
7.

 
Fu

rth
er

 is
su

es
 fo

r c
on

si
de

ra
tio

n 
m

ay
 b

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

du
rin

g 
th

e 
ye

ar
. 

 
(5

) E
ss

ex
 L

oc
al

 A
re

a 
A

gr
ee

m
en

t  
 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 re
po

rts
 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 o

n 
a 

qu
ar

te
rly

 b
as

is
 

C
om

pl
et

ed
: O

ut
tu

rn
 re

po
rt 

in
 re

sp
ec

t o
f t

he
 fi

rs
t E

ss
ex

 
Lo

ca
l A

re
a 

A
gr

ee
m

en
t (

LA
A

) w
as

 c
on

si
de

re
d 

du
rin

g 
20

08
/0

9.
 Q

ua
rte

rly
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 re

po
rts

 in
 re

sp
ec

t o
f t

he
 

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
 in

di
ca

to
rs

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
se

co
nd

 E
ss

ex
 L

A
A

 th
at

 
th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
‘h

as
 re

ga
rd

 to
’ w

ill
 b

e 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 a
t t

he
 

m
ee

tin
gs

 to
 b

e 
he

ld
 o

n 
19

 A
ug

us
t 2

00
8,

 1
1 

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

08
 a

nd
 1

0 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 2

00
9.

 
 

 17
 J

un
e 

20
08

 
19

 A
ug

us
t 

20
 O

ct
ob

er
 

11
 N

ov
em

be
r 

 13
 J

an
ua

ry
 2

00
9 

10
 F

eb
ru

ar
y 

31
 M

ar
ch

 
    

Page 11



Fi
na

nc
e 

&
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 M

an
ag

em
en

t S
ta

nd
in

g 
P

an
el

 –
 W

or
k 

P
ro

gr
am

m
e 

A
s 

at
 M

ar
ch

 2
00

9 

(6
) C

ou
nc

il 
P

la
n 

20
06

-2
01

0 
– 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 M
on

ito
rin

g 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 re

po
rt 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 o

n 
an

 
an

nu
al

 b
as

is
. 

C
on

si
de

re
d 

at
 A

ug
us

t 0
8 

m
ee

tin
g.

 A
nn

ua
l p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 

re
po

rt 
w

as
 c

on
si

de
re

d 
at

 th
e 

m
ee

tin
g 

he
ld

 o
n 

19
 A

ug
us

t 
20

08
. 

 

(7
) A

nn
ua

l V
al

ue
 fo

r M
on

ey
 

A
na

ly
si

s 
 

V
al

ue
 fo

r M
on

ey
 

A
na

ly
si

s 
up

da
te

d 
on

 a
n 

an
nu

al
 b

as
is

 to
 re

fle
ct

 
la

te
st

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
co

st
 a

nd
 

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n

Th
e 

V
al

ue
 fo

r M
on

ey
 A

na
ly

si
s 

w
as

 c
on

si
de

re
d 

at
 th

e 
m

ee
tin

g 
to

 b
e 

he
ld

 o
n 

19
 A

ug
us

t 2
00

8,
 to

 id
en

tif
y 

an
y 

ar
ea

s 
w

he
re

 fu
rth

er
 m

or
e 

de
ta

ile
d 

an
d 

ta
rg

et
ed

 a
na

ly
si

s 
m

ay
 b

e 
re

qu
ire

d 
to

 b
e 

un
de

rta
ke

n 
by

 a
 T

as
k 

an
d 

Fi
ni

sh
 

P
an

el
 d

ur
in

g 
th

e 
ye

ar
. 

A
 S

ub
 G

ro
up

 h
ad

 b
ee

n 
co

ns
tit

ut
ed

 a
nd

 re
po

rt
ed

 to
 th

e 
Fe

br
ua

ry
 0

9 
m

ee
tin

g.
 

(8
) A

nn
ua

l C
on

su
lta

tio
n 

P
la

n 
R

ep
or

t c
on

si
de

re
d 

on
 

an
 a

nn
ua

l b
as

is
. 

C
on

si
de

re
d 

at
 th

e 
A

ug
us

t 0
8 

m
ee

tin
g.

 

C
om

pl
et

ed
 A

ug
us

t 0
8.

 C
on

su
lta

tio
n 

P
la

n 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 a
t 

fir
st

 m
ee

tin
g 

of
 e

ac
h 

m
un

ic
ip

al
 y

ea
r. 

N
ex

t r
ep

or
t d

ue
 

M
ay

/J
un

e 
20

09
 

(9
) D

et
ai

le
d 

P
or

tfo
lio

 B
ud

ge
ts

 
To

 g
o 

to
 th

e 
Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

09
 m

ee
tin

g.
 

C
om

pl
et

ed
 - 

A
nn

ua
l r

ev
ie

w
 o

f t
he

 P
or

tfo
lio

 h
ol

de
rs

 
bu

dg
et

s 

(1
0)

 M
ed

iu
m

 T
er

m
 F

in
an

ci
al

 
S

tra
te

gy
 

To
 g

o 
to

 th
e 

Fe
br

ua
ry

 
20

09
 m

ee
tin

g.
  

C
om

pl
et

ed
 - 

To
 re

vi
ew

 th
e 

C
ou

nc
il’

s 
m

ed
iu

m
 te

rm
 

fin
an

ci
al

 s
tra

te
gy

. 

(1
1)

 R
ac

e 
E

qu
al

ity
 S

ch
em

e 
M

on
ito

rin
g 

an
d 

P
ro

gr
es

s 
w

ith
 

E
qu

al
iti

es
 W

or
k 

R
ep

or
t c

on
si

de
re

d 
on

 
an

 a
nn

ua
l b

as
is

. 
M

on
ito

rin
g 

re
po

rt 
in

 re
sp

ec
t o

f t
he

 R
ac

e 
E

qu
al

ity
 S

ch
em

e 
an

d 
pr

og
re

ss
 w

ith
 o

th
er

 e
qu

al
ity

 is
su

es
 to

 b
e 

m
ad

e 
to

 th
e 

m
ee

tin
g 

to
 b

e 
he

ld
 o

n 
31

 M
ar

ch
 2

00
9.

 

(1
2)

 G
en

de
r E

qu
al

ity
 a

nd
 

D
is

ab
ili

ty
 E

qu
al

ity
 S

ch
em

es
 –

 
M

on
ito

rin
g 

R
ep

or
t c

on
si

de
re

d 
on

 
an

 a
nn

ua
l b

as
is

 
M

on
ito

rin
g 

re
po

rt 
in

 re
sp

ec
t o

f t
he

 G
en

de
r E

qu
al

ity
 a

nd
 

D
is

ab
ili

ty
 E

qu
al

ity
 S

ch
em

es
 to

 b
e 

m
ad

e 
to

 th
e 

m
ee

tin
g 

to
 

be
 h

el
d 

on
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
00

9.
 

(1
3)

 C
ap

ita
l O

ut
tu

rn
 2

07
/0

8 
an

d 
us

e 
of

 tr
an

si
tio

na
l r

el
ie

f i
n 

20
08

/0
9 

To
 g

o 
to

 J
un

e 
20

08
 

m
ee

tin
g.

 
C

on
si

de
re

d 
at

 th
e 

Ju
ne

 2
00

8 
m

ee
tin

g.
 

(1
4)

 P
ro

vi
si

on
al

 R
ev

en
ue

 O
ut

tu
rn

 
20

07
/0

8 
To

 g
o 

to
 th

e 
Ju

ne
 2

00
8 

m
ee

tin
g 

C
on

si
de

re
d 

at
 th

e 
Ju

ne
 2

00
8 

m
ee

tin
g.

 

 

Page 12



Fi
na

nc
e 

&
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 M

an
ag

em
en

t S
ta

nd
in

g 
P

an
el

 –
 W

or
k 

P
ro

gr
am

m
e 

A
s 

at
 M

ar
ch

 2
00

9 

(1
5)

 F
ee

s 
an

d 
C

ha
rg

es
 

R
ep

or
t c

on
si

de
re

d 
at

 
th

e 
N

ov
em

be
r 0

8 
m

ee
tin

g.
 

C
om

pl
et

ed
. 

 

 

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



Report to the Finance and 
Performance Management Scrutiny 
Panel 
 
Date of meeting: 31 March 2009 
 
 
Portfolio: Finance and Performance Management  
 
Subject: National and Local Performance Indicators 2009/10 - Adoption of ‘Key’ 
Performance Indicators 
 
Responsible Officer: S. Tautz (01992 564180) 
 
Democratic Services Officer:  A. Hendry (01992 564246) 
 
 
 

Recommendations/Decisions Required: 
 

(1) That, proposals for the adoption of ‘Key’ Performance Indicators for 
2009/10, be agreed; and 

 
(2) That a corporate target be set for the achievement of year-on-year 

improvement against four out of every five of the adopted Key Performance 
Indicators for 2009/10 and future years. 

 
Executive Summary: 
 
1. (Deputy Chief Executive) Members have previously received details of the National 
Outcome and Indicator Set, and the National Performance Indicators (NIs) that were 
introduced from 1 April 2008. The NI set replaced all other existing suites of statutory 
indicators including Best Value Performance Indicators (BVPIs).  
 
2. Subsequent to the introduction of the National Outcome and Indicator Set, it is 
important for local authorities to continue to use Local Performance Indicators (LPIs) to 
reflect performance against local priorities. The introduction of the NI set in April 2008 
provided an opportunity for a thorough review to be undertaken of the Council’s locally 
determined LPIs for 2008/09, and this exercise has recently been repeated for 2009/10. This 
report therefore makes proposals for the adoption of a range of ‘Key’ Performance Indicators 
(KPIs) for 2009/10, comprising both NIs and LPIs. 
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision: 
 
3. To enable members to contribute to the review of the current LPI set, with a view to 
the adoption of relevant NIs and LPIs reflecting the Council’s core business and its corporate 
priorities, as KPIs for 2009/10. 
 
Other Options for Action: 
 
4. None. The Council is required to collect and report data against relevant NIs, and is 
encouraged to utilise LPIs to monitor performance against the achievement of local priorities 
and targets. Appropriate data collection systems and monitoring and reporting arrangements 
are already in place for each of the indicators proposed to be adopted as KPIs for 2009/10. 
 
 

 Agenda Item 6

Page 15



Report: 
 
5. The National Outcome and Indicator Set was introduced from 1 April 2008. Extensive 
guidance has been issued by the Department for Communities and Local Government in 
relation to individual NIs, and a copy of the full guidance document has previously been 
placed on deposit in the Members’ Room. 
 
6. A range of twenty-nine KPIs for 2008/09 was adopted by the Cabinet at it’s meeting 
on 10 June 2008, comprising both NIs and LPIs. The aim of the KPIs is to focus improvement 
on key objectives and achieve comparable performance with that of the top performing local 
authorities (where appropriate), and to then maintain or improve further on that level of 
performance. In adopting the KPIs for 2008/09, the Cabinet set a target for at least 75% to 
achieve target performance by the end of the year, and performance against this target will 
be reported at year-end.  
 
7. Improvement plans are produced for the KPIs, setting out actions to be implemented 
in order to achieve or maintain target performance, and to reflect year on year changes in 
service delivery. A number of the NIs introduced from April 2008 are designed to be reported 
annually at year-end only, and members have also previously agreed that performance in 
relation to some of the LPIs (in their previous incarnation as BVPIs) also be subject to 
detailed scrutiny at year-end only, as little change is likely over each three month quarterly 
period. Progress in achieving target performance in respect of the KPIs that are suitable for 
monitoring on a quarterly basis is reported to the Finance and Peformance Management 
Scrutiny Panel and the relevant Portfolio Holder at the conclusion of each quarter. 
 
8. The Scrutiny Panel will be aware that the Council’s overall rate of performance 
improvement, measured against the former BVPIs for 2007/08 and previous years, is below 
average. With this in mind, the Corporate Executive Forum (CEF) considers that greater 
focus now needs to be placed on improving performance against the whole spectrum of 
performance indicators, rather than against a ‘basket’ of selected indicators. It is therefore 
proposed that all relevant indicators should be designated as KPIs for 2009/10. 
 
9. The KPIs have traditionally been determined at the first cycle of meetings in each 
municipal year (May/June), resulting in a potential delay in the implementation of 
improvement effort by almost the whole of the first quarter of the financial year. For 2009/10, 
it is intended that the KPIs be determined at this stage (February/March) in the calendar year, 
linked to provisional targets based on third quarter performance (April to December 2008). It 
should be noted that targets have not been set for several NIs for the current year, and that 
the baseline data collected for 2008/09 will inform future improvement and target setting for 
2009/10 onwards. 
 
10. All service directors have accordingly commenced a robust review of the authority’s 
current LPI sets, with a view to the retention of those indicators as LPIs for 2009/10 onwards, 
where they continue to reflect local priorities but were not brought forward into the new NI set 
in a broadly similar form. The review has resulted in the proposed deletion of several existing 
indicators that are no longer considered to reflect local priorities, and the transfer of a 
significant number of others to the relevant draft business plans for 2009/10 or strategic 
documents such as the Asset Management Plan.  
 
11. Details of the proposed KPIs for 2009/10 are attached as Appendix 1 to this report. 
The proposed indicators comprise: 
 

(a) Those NIs where the Council has sole responsibility for the indicator (i.e. where it 
is directly responsible for service provision and has collection and reporting 
responsibility. These reflect a wide range of both national and local priorities, but 
exclude those indicators informed by the bi-annual ‘Place Survey’ or other survey 
measures (which will be subject to separate reporting arrangements) and those 
NIs to which the Council contributes data but for which it has no reporting 
responsibility; and 

Page 16



 
(b) Those LPIs (including some proposed additions to the set) that reflect local 

priorities but which are not covered by the NI set, with all other existing LPIs 
being transferred to the relevant draft business plans for 2009/10 or other 
appropriate strategic document. 

 
10. The KPIs will comprise the totality of the Council’s formal performance indicator 
measures. Those existing LPIs that are proposed for deletion or transfer to business plans or 
other strategic documents are highlighted in grey shading. A number of these indicators 
generally still provide valuable and relevant management information, and performance 
against these indicators will therefore continue to be monitored as part of the Council’s new 
arrangements for the alignment of its business, budget, workforce planning and development 
processes. 
 
11. Improvement plans will be produced for all of the KPIs, setting out actions to be 
implemented in order to achieve or maintain target performance, and to reflect year on year 
changes in service delivery. In view of the corporate importance attached to the KPIs, the 
improvement plans will considered, agreed and monitored by CEF. Although it is not yet 
known whether the Council’s target of achieving top-quartile performance for at least 75% of 
the KPIs for 2008/09 has been achieved, CEF recommends that a target be set for the 
achievement of year-on-year improvement against four out of every five of the adopted KPIs 
for 2009/10. 
 
12. The Scrutiny Panel is requested to agree the proposals set out in this report for the 
adoption of KPIs for 2009/10 and the relevant targets for the year. This report was 
considered by the Finance and Performance Management Cabinet Committee at its meeting 
on 16 March 2009, and the proposed indicators and targets for 2009/10 were agreed, subject 
to the concurrence of the Panel. The Cabinet Committee also proposed the introduction of a 
new LPI for 2009/10 in relation to the Council's approach to Housing and Council Tax Benefit 
Fraud, and the Director of Finance and ICT will report to the Scrutiny Panel in respect of this 
proposed new LPI. 
 
13. Service Directors will be in attendance at the meeting to respond to any issues in 
respect of proposals for the retention/deletion of specific indicators and proposed targets for 
2009/10.  
 
Resource Implications: 
 
The respective Service Director will identify the resource requirements for any proposals for 
corrective action in respect of KPI areas of current under-performance set out in this report. 
 
Legal and Governance Implications: 
 
There are no legal implications or Human Rights Act issues arising from the 
recommendations in this report, which ensure that the Council monitors progress against its 
KPIs for 2009/20, and that proposals for corrective action are considered in respect of areas 
of current under-performance. 
 
Safer, Cleaner and Greener Implications: 
 
The respective Service Director will have identified any implications arising from proposals for 
corrective action in respect of KPI areas of current under-performance set out in this report, 
in respect of the Council’s commitment to the Nottingham Declaration for climate change, the 
corporate Safer, Cleaner and Greener initiative, or any Crime and Disorder issues within the 
district. 
 
Consultation Undertaken: 
 

Page 17



The targets and performance information set out in this report have been submitted by each 
appropriate Service Director, and have been reviewed and considered by the Corporate 
Executive Forum. 
 
Background Papers:  
 
None. 
 
Impact Assessments: 
 
The respective Service Director will have identified any risk management issues or equality 
implications arising from any proposals for corrective action in respect of KPI areas of current 
under-performance set out in this report. 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 18



KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2008/09 
 
 

ESSEX LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT 2008-2011 INDICATORS 
1.  NI 8 - Adult participation in sport* 
2.  NI 11 - Engagement in the arts* 
3.  NI 17 - Perceptions of anti-social behaviour* 
4.  NI 20 - Assault with injury crime rate* 

5.  NI 195(a), (b), (c) and (d)   - Improved street and environmental cleanliness 
(levels of graffiti, litter, detritus and fly-posting); 

6.  NI 186 - Per capita CO2 emissions in the local authority area* 
7.  NI 188 - Adapting to climate change* 
8.  NI 191 - Residual household waste per head 
9.  NI 192 - Household waste recycled and composted 
10.  NI 197 - Improved local biodiversity - active management of local sites* 
11.  LPI 03 – People feeling safe outside after dark* 
12.  LPI 12 – Affordable homes built and acquired 

NATIONAL INDICATORS 
Housing Portfolio 
13.  NI 158 - Percentage of decent council homes* 
14.  NI 160 - Local authority tenants’ satisfaction with landlord services* 

Planning and Economic Development Portfolio 

15. -17. NI 157 (a), (b) and (c) - Processing of planning applications as measured 
against targets for ‘major’, ‘minor’ and ‘other’ application types 

LOCAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
Housing Portfolio 

18.  LPI 04 - Rent collected as a proportion of rents owed on housing revenue 
account dwellings 

19.  LPI 11 - Average number of single homeless households placed in bed and 
breakfast accommodation 

Environmental Protection Portfolio 

20.  LPI 42 - Percentage of households served by kerbside collection of 
recyclables 

Community Wellbeing Portfolio 
21.  LPI 02 (a), (b) and (c) - Licence applications processed within targets 

Finance and ICT Portfolio 
22.  LPI 13 - Percentage of invoices paid within 30 days of receipt 
23.  LPI 14 - Percentage of Council Tax collected 
24.  LPI 15 - Percentage of non-domestic rates collected 
25.  LPI 16 - Average time for processing new benefit claims 

26.  LPI 17 - Average time for processing notification of changes of circumstance 
for benefit claims 

 
 

Page 19



Corporate Support Services Portfolio 
27.  LPI 28 - Number of working days lost due to sickness absence 

Leisure and Young Persons Portfolio 

28.  LPI 49 - Number of pupils visiting museums and galleries in organised school 
groups 

Planning and Economic Development Portfolio 
29.  LPI 44 - Achievement of milestones within Local Development Scheme 

 
*Performance against these Key Performance Indicators is monitored annually at 
year-end only. Performance against all other indicators is monitored on a quarterly 
basis. 

Page 20



R
e

f:
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it

y
2

0
0

8
/0

9
T

a
rg

e
t

2
0

0
8

/0
9

Q
u

a
rt

e
r

3

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e

P
ro

p
o

s
e

d

2
0

0
9

/1
0

T
a

rg
e

t

S
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
N

o
te

N
I

0
0

1

L
o
c
a
l
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

T
h

e
b

i-
a
n

n
u

a
l
P

la
c
e

S
u

rv
e
y

is
le

a
d

b
y 

th
e

E
p

p
in

g

F
o
re

s
t

L
o
c
a
l
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

(L
S

P
).

Im
p

ro
ve

m
e
n

t
a
g

a
in

s
t 

th
e

re
s
u

lt
s

o
f 
th

e
fir

s
t

s
u

rv
e
y

(2
0

0
8

/0
9

)
w

ill
b

e
c
o
o
rd

in
a
te

d
b

y 
th

e
L

S
P

.

P
la

c
e

S
u

rv
e
y

N
I

0
0

2

L
o
c
a
l
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

T
h

e
b

i-
a
n

n
u

a
l
P

la
c
e

S
u

rv
e
y

is
le

a
d

b
y 

th
e

E
p

p
in

g

F
o
re

s
t

L
o
c
a
l
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

(L
S

P
).

Im
p

ro
ve

m
e
n

t
a
g

a
in

s
t 

th
e

re
s
u

lt
s

o
f 
th

e
fir

s
t

s
u

rv
e
y

(2
0

0
8

/0
9

)
w

ill
b

e
c
o
o
rd

in
a
te

d
b

y 
th

e
L

S
P

.

P
la

c
e

S
u

rv
e
y

N
I

0
0

3

L
o
c
a
l
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

T
h

e
b

i-
a
n

n
u

a
l
P

la
c
e

S
u

rv
e
y

is
le

a
d

b
y 

th
e

E
p

p
in

g

F
o
re

s
t

L
o
c
a
l
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

(L
S

P
).

Im
p

ro
ve

m
e
n

t
a
g

a
in

s
t 

th
e

re
s
u

lt
s

o
f 
th

e
fir

s
t

s
u

rv
e
y

(2
0

0
8

/0
9

)
w

ill
b

e
c
o
o
rd

in
a
te

d
b

y 
th

e
L

S
P

.

P
la

c
e

S
u

rv
e
y

N
I

0
0

4

L
o
c
a
l
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

T
h

e
b

i-
a
n

n
u

a
l
P

la
c
e

S
u

rv
e
y

is
le

a
d

b
y 

th
e

E
p

p
in

g

F
o
re

s
t

L
o
c
a
l
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

(L
S

P
).

Im
p

ro
ve

m
e
n

t
a
g

a
in

s
t 

th
e

re
s
u

lt
s

o
f 
th

e
fir

s
t

s
u

rv
e
y

(2
0

0
8

/0
9

)
w

ill
b

e
c
o
o
rd

in
a
te

d
b

y 
th

e
L

S
P

.

P
la

c
e

S
u

rv
e
y

N
I

0
0

5

L
o
c
a
l
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

T
h

e
b

i-
a
n

n
u

a
l
P

la
c
e

S
u

rv
e
y

is
le

a
d

b
y 

th
e

E
p

p
in

g

F
o
re

s
t

L
o
c
a
l
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

(L
S

P
).

Im
p

ro
ve

m
e
n

t
a
g

a
in

s
t 

th
e

re
s
u

lt
s

o
f 
th

e
fir

s
t

s
u

rv
e
y

(2
0

0
8

/0
9

)
w

ill
b

e
c
o
o
rd

in
a
te

d
b

y 
th

e
L

S
P

.

P
la

c
e

S
u

rv
e
y

N
I

0
0

6

L
o
c
a
l
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

T
h

e
b

i-
a
n

n
u

a
l
P

la
c
e

S
u

rv
e
y

is
le

a
d

b
y 

th
e

E
p

p
in

g

F
o
re

s
t

L
o
c
a
l
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

(L
S

P
).

Im
p

ro
ve

m
e
n

t
a
g

a
in

s
t 

th
e

re
s
u

lt
s

o
f 
th

e
fir

s
t

s
u

rv
e
y

(2
0

0
8

/0
9

)
w

ill
b

e
c
o
o
rd

in
a
te

d
b

y 
th

e
L

S
P

.

P
la

c
e

S
u

rv
e
y

N
I

0
0

8

D
e
re

k
M

a
c
n

a
b

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

T
h

e
a
n

n
u

a
l
A

c
ti
ve

P
e
o
p

le
S

u
rv

e
y

is
u

n
d

e
rt

a
k
e
n

b
y

S
p

o
rt

E
n

g
la

n
d

.
N

I
8

is
in

c
lu

d
e
d

in
 t

h
e

E
s
s
e
x

L
o
c
a
l
A

re
a

A
g

re
e
m

e
n

t
2

0
0

8
-1

1
,

b
u

t 
th

e
C

o
u

n
c
il

d
o
e
s

n
o
t

h
a
ve

a
c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n

o
r

re
p

o
rt

in
g

re
s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ty

in
re

s
p

e
c
t

o
f 
th

e
in

d
ic

a
to

r.

A
c
ti
ve

P
e
o
p

le

S
u

rv
e
y

N
I

0
1

1

D
e
re

k
M

a
c
n

a
b

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

T
h

e
a
n

n
u

a
l
A

c
ti
ve

P
e
o
p

le
S

u
rv

e
y

is
u

n
d

e
rt

a
k
e
n

b
y

S
p

o
rt

E
n

g
la

n
d

.
N

I
1

1
is

in
c
lu

d
e
d

in
 t

h
e

E
s
s
e
x

L
o
c
a
l
A

re
a

A
g

re
e
m

e
n

t
2

0
0

8
-1

1
,

b
u

t 
th

e
C

o
u

n
c
il

d
o
e
s

n
o
t

h
a
ve

a
c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n

o
r

re
p

o
rt

in
g

re
s
p

o
n

s
ib

ili
ty

in
re

s
p

e
c
t

o
f 
th

e
in

d
ic

a
to

r.

A
c
ti
ve

P
e
o
p

le

S
u

rv
e
y

N
I

0
1

4
D

e
re

k
M

a
c
n

a
b

N
/A

N
/A

T
o

b
e

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d

O
u

tt
u

rn
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

fo
r 

th
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
(s

u
rv

e
y

m
e
a
s
u

re
a
c
ro

s
s

a
ll

re
le

va
n

t
s
e
rv

ic
e

a
re

a
s
)

w
ill

b
e

c
o
n

s
id

e
re

d
b

y
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
B

o
a
rd

in
A

p
ri
l
2

0
0

9
.

T
h

e
 t

a
rg

e
t

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

w
ill

b
e

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d

o
n

 t
h

e

b
a
s
is

o
f 
th

is
o
u

tt
u

rn
fig

u
re

,
a
n

d
w

ill
b

e
re

p
o
rt

e
d

in

th
e

n
e
w

fin
a
n

c
ia

l
ye

a
r.

Y
e
a
r-

e
n

d

A
d

u
lt

p
a

rt
ic

ip
a

ti
o

n
in

s
p

o
rt

(L
A

A
In

d
ic

a
to

r)
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
m

e
a
s
u

re
s

p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n

in
s
p

o
rt

a
n

d
a
c
ti
ve

re
c
re

a
ti
o
n

a
t 

th
e

lo
c
a
l
le

ve
l
(H

IG
H

).

C
iv

ic
p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o

n
in

 t
h

e
lo

c
a

l
a

re
a

.
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
p

ro
m

o
te

s
g

re
a
te

r
lo

c
a
l
p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n

in
a

ra
n

g
e

o
f
c
iv

ic

a
c
ti
vi

ti
e
s
,

o
n

e
o
f 
th

e
p

ri
n

c
ip

a
l
m

e
a
n

s
b

y
w

h
ic

h
in

d
iv

id
u

a
ls

e
xe

rc
is

e
 t

h
e
ir

e
m

p
o
w

e
rm

e
n

t
fo

r 
th

e
b

e
n

e
fit

o
f 
th

e

lo
c
a
lit

y
(H

IG
H

).

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f

p
e

o
p

le
w

h
o

 f
e

e
l 
th

e
y

c
a

n
in

fl
u

e
n

c
e

d
e

c
is

io
n

s
in

 t
h

e
ir

lo
c
a

lit
y
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
s
u

p
p

o
rt

s

G
o
ve

rn
m

e
n

t
a
im

s
 t

o
b

u
ild

c
o
m

m
u

n
it
ie

s
w

h
e
re

in
d

iv
id

u
a
ls

a
re

e
m

p
o
w

e
re

d
 t

o
m

a
k
e

a
d

iff
e
re

n
c
e
 t

o
 t

h
e
ir

liv
e
s

a
n

d
 t

h
e
ir

a
re

a
,

a
n

d
m

e
a
s
u

re
s
 t

h
e

e
xt

e
n

t 
to

w
h

ic
h

p
e
o
p

le
fe

e
l
a
b

le
 t

o
in

flu
e
n

c
e

d
e
c
is

io
n

s
a
ff
e
c
ti
n

g
 t

h
e

lo
c
a
l

a
re

a
(H

IG
H

).

O
v
e

ra
ll/

g
e

n
e

ra
l
s
a

ti
s
fa

c
ti
o

n
w

it
h

lo
c
a

l
a

re
a

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
p

ro
vi

d
e
s

a
u

th
o
ri
ti
e
s

a
n

d
s
e
rv

ic
e

d
e
liv

e
re

rs
w

it
h

a

b
a
s
e
lin

e
o
f
lo

c
a
l
s
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

w
h

ic
h

w
ill

h
e
lp

 t
h

e
m

id
e
n

ti
fy

a
n

d
a
d

d
re

s
s

is
s
u

e
s

a
ff
e
c
ti
n

g
h

o
w

re
s
id

e
n

ts
fe

e
l

a
b

o
u

t 
th

e
ir

a
re

a
(H

IG
H

).

P
a

rt
ic

ip
a

ti
o

n
in

re
g
u

la
r

v
o

lu
n

te
e

ri
n

g
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
s
u

p
p

o
rt

s
 t

h
e

c
re

a
ti
o
n

o
f
a

c
u

lt
u

re
in

w
h

ic
h

in
d

iv
id

u
a
ls

a
re

a
b

le
 t

o
c
o
n

tr
ib

u
te

 t
o
 t

h
e
ir

c
o
m

m
u

n
it
ie

s
b

y
vo

lu
n

te
e
ri
n

g
(H

IG
H

).

S
u

m
m

a
ry

D
e

fi
n

it
io

n
a

n
d

D
ir

e
c

ti
o

n
o

f 
Im

p
ro

v
in

g
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

(H
IG

H
/L

O
W

)

2
0
0
9
/1

0
N

a
ti

o
n

a
l 
In

d
ic

a
to

r
S

e
t

(D
is

tr
ic

t
C

o
u

n
c
il

S
p

a
ti

a
l
L

e
v

e
l)

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f

p
e

o
p

le
w

h
o

b
e

lie
v
e

p
e

o
p

le
 f

ro
m

d
if
fe

re
n

t
b

a
c
k
g
ro

u
n

d
s

g
e

t
o

n
w

e
ll 

to
g
e

th
e

r
in

 t
h

e
ir

lo
c
a

l

a
re

a
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
s
u

p
p

o
rt

s
 G

o
ve

rn
m

e
n

t
a
im

s
 t

o
c
re

a
ti
n

g
s
tr

o
n

g
a
n

d
c
o
h

e
s
iv

e
c
o
m

m
u

n
it
ie

s
a
n

d
 t

h
ri
vi

n
g

p
la

c
e
s
,

in
w

h
ic

h
a

fe
a
r

o
f
d

iff
e
re

n
c
e

is
re

p
la

c
e
d

b
y

s
h

a
re

d
va

lu
e
s

a
n

d
a

s
e
n

s
e

o
f
p

u
rp

o
s
e

a
n

d
b

e
lo

n
g

in
g

(H
IG

H
).

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f

p
e

o
p

le
w

h
o

 f
e

e
l 
th

a
t 

th
e

y
b

e
lo

n
g
 t

o
 t

h
e

ir
n

e
ig

h
b

o
u

rh
o

o
d

.
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
s
u

p
p

o
rt

s

G
o
ve

rn
m

e
n

t
a
im

s
 t

o
c
re

a
te

s
tr

o
n

g
a
n

d
c
o
h

e
s
iv

e
c
o
m

m
u

n
it
ie

s
a
n

d
 t

h
ri
vi

n
g

p
la

c
e
s
,

in
w

h
ic

h
a

fe
a
r

o
f

d
iff

e
re

n
c
e

is
re

p
la

c
e
d

b
y

s
h

a
re

d
va

lu
e
s

a
n

d
a

s
e
n

s
e

o
f
p

u
rp

o
s
e

a
n

d
b

e
lo

n
g

in
g

(H
IG

H
).

E
n

g
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

in
 t

h
e

a
rt

s
(L

A
A

In
d

ic
a

to
r)

.
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
m

e
a
s
u

re
s

a
tt

e
n

d
a
n

c
e

a
t

a
n

d
/o

r
p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n

in
, 

th
e

a
rt

s
a
t 

th
e

lo
c
a
l
le

ve
l
(H

IG
H

).

R
e

d
u

c
in

g
a

v
o

id
a

b
le

c
o

n
ta

c
t:

M
in

im
is

in
g
 t

h
e

p
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
o

f
c
u

s
to

m
e

r
c
o

n
ta

c
t 

th
a

t
is

o
f

lo
w

o
r

n
o

v
a

lu
e

 t
o

th
e

c
u

s
to

m
e

r.
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
m

e
a
s
u

re
s
 t

h
e

p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n

o
f
c
u

s
to

m
e
r

c
o
n

ta
c
t 

th
a
t

is
o
f
lo

w
o
r

n
o

va
lu

e
 t

o
 t

h
e

c
u

s
to

m
e
r

(L
O

W
).

Page 21



R
e

f:
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it

y
2

0
0

8
/0

9
T

a
rg

e
t

2
0

0
8

/0
9

Q
u

a
rt

e
r

3

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e

P
ro

p
o

s
e

d

2
0

0
9

/1
0

T
a

rg
e

t

S
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
N

o
te

S
u

m
m

a
ry

D
e

fi
n

it
io

n
a

n
d

D
ir

e
c

ti
o

n
o

f 
Im

p
ro

v
in

g
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

(H
IG

H
/L

O
W

)

N
I

0
1

7

L
o
c
a
l
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

/C
ri
m

e

a
n

d
D

is
o
rd

e
r

R
e
d

u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

T
h

e
b

i-
a
n

n
u

a
l
P

la
c
e

S
u

rv
e
y

is
le

a
d

b
y 

th
e

E
p

p
in

g

F
o
re

s
t

L
o
c
a
l
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

(L
S

P
).

Im
p

ro
ve

m
e
n

t
a
g

a
in

s
t 

th
e

re
s
u

lt
s

o
f 
th

e
fir

s
t

s
u

rv
e
y

(2
0

0
8

/0
9

)
w

ill
b

e
c
o
o
rd

in
a
te

d
b

y 
th

e
L

S
P

a
n

d
,

in

re
s
p

e
c
t

o
f 
th

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r,
b

y 
th

e
E

p
p

in
g

F
o
re

s
t

C
ri
m

e
a
n

d
D

is
o
rd

e
r

R
e
d

u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

.

P
la

c
e

S
u

rv
e
y

N
I

0
2

0

L
o
c
a
l
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

/C
ri
m

e

a
n

d
D

is
o
rd

e
r

R
e
d

u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

T
h

e
b

i-
a
n

n
u

a
l
P

la
c
e

S
u

rv
e
y

is
le

a
d

b
y 

th
e

E
p

p
in

g

F
o
re

s
t

L
o
c
a
l
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

(L
S

P
).

Im
p

ro
ve

m
e
n

t
a
g

a
in

s
t 

th
e

re
s
u

lt
s

o
f 
th

e
fir

s
t

s
u

rv
e
y

(2
0

0
8

/0
9

)
w

ill
b

e
c
o
o
rd

in
a
te

d
b

y 
th

e
L

S
P

a
n

d
,

in

re
s
p

e
c
t

o
f 
th

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r,
b

y 
th

e
E

p
p

in
g

F
o
re

s
t

C
ri
m

e
a
n

d
D

is
o
rd

e
r

R
e
d

u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

.

P
la

c
e

S
u

rv
e
y

N
I

0
2

1

L
o
c
a
l
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

/C
ri
m

e

a
n

d
D

is
o
rd

e
r

R
e
d

u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

T
h

e
b

i-
a
n

n
u

a
l
P

la
c
e

S
u

rv
e
y

is
le

a
d

b
y 

th
e

E
p

p
in

g

F
o
re

s
t

L
o
c
a
l
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

(L
S

P
).

Im
p

ro
ve

m
e
n

t
a
g

a
in

s
t 

th
e

re
s
u

lt
s

o
f 
th

e
fir

s
t

s
u

rv
e
y

(2
0

0
8

/0
9

)
w

ill
b

e
c
o
o
rd

in
a
te

d
b

y 
th

e
L

S
P

a
n

d
,

in

re
s
p

e
c
t

o
f 
th

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r,
b

y 
th

e
E

p
p

in
g

F
o
re

s
t

C
ri
m

e
a
n

d
D

is
o
rd

e
r

R
e
d

u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

.

P
la

c
e

S
u

rv
e
y

N
I

0
3

5

L
o
c
a
l
S

tr
a
te

g
ic

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

/C
ri
m

e

a
n

d
D

is
o
rd

e
r

R
e
d

u
c
ti
o
n

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

T
h

e
a
n

n
u

a
l
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n

t
o
f 
th

e
a
rr

a
n

g
e
m

e
n

ts
fo

r

b
u

ild
in

g
re

s
ili

e
n

c
e
 t

o
vi

o
le

n
t

e
xt

re
m

is
m

is
re

q
u

ir
e
d

to
b

e
u

n
d

e
rt

a
k
e
n

b
y 

th
e

E
p

p
in

g
F

o
re

s
t

L
o
c
a
l

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

(L
S

P
).

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
w

ill

th
e
re

fo
re

b
e

c
o
o
rd

in
a
te

d
b

y 
th

e
L

S
P

.

Y
e
a
r-

e
n

d

N
I

1
5

4
J
o
h

n
P

re
s
to

n
1

4
4

.0
8

N
/A

1
4

4
.0

8

T
h

e
 t

a
rg

e
t

fo
r 

th
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
fo

r
2

0
0

8
/0

9
a
n

d

2
0

0
9

/1
0

is
b

a
s
e
d

o
n

 t
h

e
C

o
u

n
c
il'

s
 t

o
ta

l
E

a
s
t

o
f

E
n

g
la

n
d

P
la

n
(2

0
0

1
-2

0
2

1
)

h
o
u

s
in

g
a
llo

c
a
ti
o
n

,

a
n

n
u

a
lis

e
d

b
e
tw

e
e
n

2
0

0
8

/0
9

a
n

d
2

0
2

0
/2

1
.

Y
e
a
r-

e
n

d

N
I

1
5

5
A

la
n

H
a
ll

6
6

.0
0

1
4

.0
0

5
7

.0
0

T
h

e
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 t
a
rg

e
t

fo
r 

th
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
fo

r
2

0
0

9
/1

0

is
b

a
s
e
d

o
n

d
e
ve

lo
p

m
e
n

ts
c
u

rr
e
n

tl
y

o
n

s
it
e

a
n

d

d
u

e
 t

o
s
ta

rt
.

Q
u

a
rt

e
rl
y

N
I

1
5

6
A

la
n

H
a
ll

1
0

4
.0

0
7

3
.0

0
1

0
0

.0
0

T
h

e
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 t
a
rg

e
t

fo
r 

th
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
fo

r
2

0
0

9
/1

0

is
b

a
s
e
d

o
n

a
re

a
lis

ti
c

le
ve

l,
 t

a
k
in

g
a
c
c
o
u

n
t

o
f

e
xp

e
c
te

d
in

c
re

a
s
e
d

h
o
m

e
le

s
s
n

e
s
s

d
u

e
 t

o
 t

h
e

c
u

rr
e
n

t
e
c
o
n

o
m

ic
s
it
u

a
ti
o
n

.
T

h
e

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d

 t
a
rg

e
t

is
lo

w
e
r 

th
a
n

 t
h

e
 G

o
ve

rn
m

e
n

t's
 t

a
rg

e
t

fo
r 

th
e

C
o
u

n
c
il.

Q
u

a
rt

e
rl
y

N
I

1
5

7
(a

)
J
o
h

n
P

re
s
to

n
8

0
.7

1
%

5
7

.6
9

%
8

1
.0

0
%

T
h

e
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 t
a
rg

e
t

fo
r 

th
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
fo

r
2

0
0

9
/1

0

a
s
s
u

m
e
s
 t

h
e
 t

o
p

q
u

a
rt

ile
fig

u
re

s
 t

o
b

e
s
im

ila
r 

to

th
o
s
e

u
s
e
d

a
s
 t

a
rg

e
ts

fo
r

2
0

0
8

/0
9

.
Q

u
a
rt

e
rl
y

N
I

1
5

7
(b

)
J
o
h

n
P

re
s
to

n
8

3
.6

6
%

7
8

.4
9

%
8

4
.0

0
%

T
h

e
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 t
a
rg

e
t

fo
r 

th
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
fo

r
2

0
0

9
/1

0

a
s
s
u

m
e
s
 t

h
e
 t

o
p

q
u

a
rt

ile
fig

u
re

s
 t

o
b

e
s
im

ila
r 

to

th
o
s
e

u
s
e
d

a
s
 t

a
rg

e
ts

fo
r

2
0

0
8

/0
9

.
Q

u
a
rt

e
rl
y

N
I

1
5

7
(c

)
J
o
h

n
P

re
s
to

n
9

2
.5

7
%

8
9

.5
4

%
9

3
.0

0
%

T
h

e
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 t
a
rg

e
t

fo
r 

th
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
fo

r
2

0
0

9
/1

0

a
s
s
u

m
e
s
 t

h
e
 t

o
p

q
u

a
rt

ile
fig

u
re

s
 t

o
b

e
s
im

ila
r 

to

th
o
s
e

u
s
e
d

a
s
 t

a
rg

e
ts

fo
r

2
0

0
8

/0
9

.
Q

u
a
rt

e
rl
y

P
e

rc
e

p
ti
o

n
s

o
f

a
n

ti
-s

o
c
ia

l
b

e
h

a
v
io

u
r

(L
A

A
In

d
ic

a
to

r)
.

L
o
c
a
l
a
u

th
o
ri
ti
e
s

a
re

 t
h

e
k
e
y

p
a
rt

n
e
r

in
 t

a
c
k
lin

g
a
n

ti
-

s
o
c
ia

l
b

e
h

a
vi

o
u

r
a
n

d
h

a
ve

s
ta

tu
to

ry
d

u
ti
e
s
 t

o
e
n

fo
rc

e
a
n

ti
-s

o
c
ia

l
b

e
h

a
vi

o
u

r
le

g
is

la
ti
o
n

(L
O

W
).

A
s
s
a

u
lt

w
it
h

in
ju

ry
c
ri
m

e
ra

te
(L

A
A

In
d

ic
a

to
r)

.
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
m

e
a
s
u

re
s

a
s
s
a
u

lt
s

w
it
h

le
s
s

s
e
ri
o
u

s
in

ju
ry

p
e
r

1
,0

0
0

p
o
p

u
la

ti
o
n

,
a
s

a
p

ro
xy

fo
r

a
lc

o
h

o
l
re

la
te

d
vi

o
le

n
t

o
ff
e
n

c
e
s

(L
O

W
).

D
e

a
lin

g
w

it
h

lo
c
a

l
c
o

n
c
e

rn
s

a
b

o
u

t
a

n
ti
-s

o
c
ia

l
b

e
h

a
v
io

u
r

a
n

d
c
ri
m

e
is

s
u

e
s

b
y
 t

h
e

lo
c
a

l
c
o

u
n

c
il

a
n

d
p

o
lic

e
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
s
u

p
p

o
rt

s
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

w
o
rk

in
g

w
it
h

lo
c
a
l
a
g

e
n

c
ie

s
,

a
n

d
a
ls

o
m

e
a
s
u

re
s

c
o
n

fid
e
n

c
e

in
lo

c
a
l

a
g

e
n

c
ie

s
 t

o
 t

a
c
k
le

c
o
m

m
u

n
it
y

s
a
fe

ty
is

s
u

e
s

(H
IG

H
).

B
u

ild
in

g
re

s
ili

e
n

c
e

 t
o

v
io

le
n

t
e

x
tr

e
m

is
m

.
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
a
s
s
e
s
s

lo
c
a
l
a
rr

a
n

g
e
m

e
n

ts
 t

o
s
to

p
p

e
o
p

le
b

e
c
o
m

in
g

o
r

s
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

vi
o
le

n
t

e
xt

re
m

is
ts

(H
IG

H
).

N
e

t
a

d
d

it
io

n
a

l
h

o
m

e
s

p
ro

v
id

e
d

.
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
e
n

c
o
u

ra
g

e
s

a
g

re
a
te

r
s
u

p
p

ly
o
f
n

e
w

h
o
m

e
s
 t

o
a
d

d
re

s
s

lo
n

g
-

te
rm

h
o
u

s
in

g
a
ff
o
rd

a
b

ili
ty

is
s
u

e
s
,

a
n

d
m

e
a
s
u

re
s
 t

h
e

n
e
t

in
c
re

a
s
e

in
d

w
e
lli

n
g

s
to

c
k

o
ve

r
o
n

e
ye

a
r

(H
IG

H
).

N
u

m
b

e
r

o
f

a
ff

o
rd

a
b

le
h

o
m

e
s

d
e

liv
e

re
d

(G
ro

s
s
).

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
p

ro
m

o
te

s
a
n

in
c
re

a
s
e

in
 t

h
e

s
u

p
p

ly
o
f

a
ff
o
rd

a
b

le
h

o
u

s
in

g
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
n

e
w

-b
u

ild
c
o
m

p
le

ti
o
n

s
,

c
h

a
n

g
e
s

o
f
u

s
e

a
n

d
c
o
n

ve
rs

io
n

s
(H

IG
H

).

N
u

m
b

e
r

o
f

h
o

u
s
e

h
o

ld
s

liv
in

g
in

 t
e

m
p

o
ra

ry
a

c
c
o

m
m

o
d

a
ti
o

n
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
m

o
n

it
o
rs

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 t

o
w

a
rd

s

re
d

u
c
in

g
 t

h
e

n
u

m
b

e
r

o
f
h

o
u

s
e
h

o
ld

s
in

 t
e
m

p
o
ra

ry
a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d

a
ti
o
n

p
ro

vi
d

e
d

u
n

d
e
r

h
o
m

e
le

s
s
n

e
s
s

le
g

is
la

ti
o
n

(L
O

W
).

P
ro

c
e

s
s
in

g
o

f
p

la
n

n
in

g
a

p
p

lic
a

ti
o

n
s

a
s

m
e

a
s
u

re
d

a
g
a

in
s
t 

ta
rg

e
ts

.
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
e
n

s
u

re
s
 t

h
a
t

lo
c
a
l

p
la

n
n

in
g

a
u

th
o
ri
ti
e
s

d
e
te

rm
in

e
m

a
jo

r
p

la
n

n
in

g
a
p

p
lic

a
ti
o
n

s
in

a
 t

im
e
ly

m
a
n

n
e
r

(w
it
h

in
1

3
w

e
e
k
s
)

(H
IG

H
).

P
ro

c
e

s
s
in

g
o

f
p

la
n

n
in

g
a

p
p

lic
a

ti
o

n
s

a
s

m
e

a
s
u

re
d

a
g
a

in
s
t 

ta
rg

e
ts

.
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
e
n

s
u

re
s
 t

h
a
t

lo
c
a
l

p
la

n
n

in
g

a
u

th
o
ri
ti
e
s

d
e
te

rm
in

e
‘m

in
o
r’

p
la

n
n

in
g

a
p

p
lic

a
ti
o
n

s
in

a
 t

im
e
ly

m
a
n

n
e
r

(w
it
h

in
8

w
e
e
k
s
)

(H
IG

H
).

P
ro

c
e

s
s
in

g
o

f
p

la
n

n
in

g
a

p
p

lic
a

ti
o

n
s

a
s

m
e

a
s
u

re
d

a
g
a

in
s
t 

ta
rg

e
ts

.
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
e
n

s
u

re
s
 t

h
a
t

lo
c
a
l

p
la

n
n

in
g

a
u

th
o
ri
ti
e
s

d
e
te

rm
in

e
'o

th
e
r'

p
la

n
n

in
g

a
p

p
lic

a
ti
o
n

s
in

a
 t

im
e
ly

m
a
n

n
e
r

(w
it
h

in
8

w
e
e
k
s
)

(H
IG

H
).

Page 22



R
e

f:
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it

y
2

0
0

8
/0

9
T

a
rg

e
t

2
0

0
8

/0
9

Q
u

a
rt

e
r

3

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e

P
ro

p
o

s
e

d

2
0

0
9

/1
0

T
a

rg
e

t

S
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
N

o
te

S
u

m
m

a
ry

D
e

fi
n

it
io

n
a

n
d

D
ir

e
c

ti
o

n
o

f 
Im

p
ro

v
in

g
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

(H
IG

H
/L

O
W

)

N
I

1
5

8
A

la
n

H
a
ll

1
.5

0
%

N
/A

0
.0

0
%

T
h

e
 G

o
ve

rn
m

e
n

t's
e
xp

e
c
ta

ti
o
n

,
a
n

d
 t

h
a
t

o
f 
th

e

C
o
u

n
c
il,

is
 t

h
a
t 

th
e

a
u

th
o
ri
ty

s
h

o
u

ld
h

a
ve

n
o

n
o
n

-

d
e
c
e
n

t
h

o
m

e
s

b
y

A
p

ri
l
2

0
1

0
.

Y
e
a
r-

e
n

d

N
I

1
5

9
J
o
h

n
P

re
s
to

n
1

0
0

.0
0

%
N

/A
1

0
0

.0
0

%

A
s

in
2

0
0

8
/0

9
, 

th
e

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d

 t
a
rg

e
t

o
f
1

0
0

.0
0

%
is

c
o
n

s
id

e
re

d
a
p

p
ro

p
ri
a
te

fo
r 

th
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
fo

r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

. 
G

o
o
d

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

a
g

a
in

s
t 

th
e

in
d

ic
a
to

r

e
q

u
a
te

s
 t

o
a

p
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
o
f
1

0
0

.0
0

%
o
r

g
re

a
te

r.
Q

u
a
rt

e
rl
y

N
I

1
6

0
A

la
n

H
a
ll

8
5

.0
0

%
N

/A
8

3
.0

0
%

T
h

e
 t

e
n

a
n

t
s
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

s
u

rv
e
y

is
re

q
u

ir
e
d

 t
o

b
e

u
n

d
e
rt

a
k
e
n

e
ve

ry
 t

w
o

ye
a
rs

.
T

h
e
re

is
n

o
s
u

rv
e
y

in

2
0

0
9

/1
0

,
s
o
 t

h
e

2
0

0
8

/9
fig

u
re

w
ill

b
e

re
tu

rn
e
d

,

w
h

ic
h

is
8

3
%

(w
e
ig

h
te

d
).

Y
e
a
r-

e
n

d

N
I

1
7

0
J
o
h

n
P

re
s
to

n
1

0
.0

0
%

N
/A

1
0

.0
0

%

A
s

in
2

0
0

8
/0

9
, 

th
e

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d

 t
a
rg

e
t

o
f
1

0
.0

0
%

is

c
o
n

s
id

e
re

d
a
p

p
ro

p
ri
a
te

fo
r 

th
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
fo

r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

.
T

h
e

in
d

ic
a
to

r
is

c
a
lc

u
la

te
d

fr
o
m

 t
h

e

re
s
u

lt
o
f 
th

e
N

a
ti
o
n

a
l
L

a
n

d
U

s
e

D
a
ta

b
a
s
e

re
tu

rn
.

Y
e
a
r-

e
n

d

N
I

1
7

9
B

o
b

P
a
lm

e
r

£
6

3
5

,0
0

0
N

/A
£

3
0

0
,0

0
0

.0
0

T
h

e
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 t
a
rg

e
t

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

is
in

lin
e

w
it
h

 t
h

e

C
o
u

n
c
il'

s
M

e
d

iu
m

-T
e
rm

F
in

a
n

c
ia

l
S

tr
a
te

g
y.

Y
e
a
r-

e
n

d

N
I

1
8

0
B

o
b

P
a
lm

e
r

9
7

5
.0

0
U

n
a
b

le
 t

o
re

p
o
rt

a
t

p
re

s
e
n

t
1

0
0

0
.0

0

T
h

is
is

n
o
t

a
n

in
d

ic
a
to

r 
th

a
t 

th
e

C
o
u

n
c
il

is
in

c
o
n

tr
o
l
o
f,

a
s

it
c
a
n

n
o
t

lim
it

c
h

a
n

g
e
s

in
p

e
o
p

le
's

c
ir
c
u

m
s
ta

n
c
e
s
. 

In
vi

e
w

o
f 
th

e
in

c
re

a
s
e
d

n
u

m
b

e
r

o
f
c
la

im
s
,

it
is

fe
lt

a
p

p
ro

p
ri
a
te

 t
o

in
c
re

a
s
e
 t

h
e

ta
rg

e
t

fo
r 

th
e

in
d

ic
a
to

r
fo

r
2

0
0

9
/1

0
.

Q
u

a
rt

e
rl
y

N
I

1
8

1
B

o
b

P
a
lm

e
r

1
5

.0
0

1
9

.4
4

1
5

.0
0

A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

e
s
a
m

e
 t

a
rg

e
t

is
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

a
s

fo
r

2
0

0
8

/0
9

, 
th

is
re

p
re

s
e
n

ts
a

c
h

a
lle

n
g

e
a
s

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

h
a
s

fa
lle

n
s
h

o
rt

o
f 
th

is
 t

a
rg

e
t

a
n

d
 t

h
e

n
u

m
b

e
r

o
f
c
la

im
s

h
a
s

in
c
re

a
s
e
d

.
Q

u
a
rt

e
rl
y

N
I

1
8

2

J
o
h

n
 G

ilb
e
rt

,

C
o
lle

e
n

 O
'B

o
yl

e
,

A
la

n
H

a
ll

N
/A

N
/A

7
5

.0
0

%

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
is

c
ro

s
s
-d

ir
e
c
to

ra
te

in
it
s

m
e
a
s
u

re
m

e
n

t.
  

It
 i
s

m
e
a
s
u

re
d

a
t

ye
a
r-

e
n

d
a
n

d

q
u

e
s
ti
o
n

n
a
ir
e
s

re
la

ti
n

g
 t

o
2

0
0

8
/0

9
w

ill
b

e
is

s
u

e
d

s
h

o
rt

ly
, 

th
e

re
s
u

lt
s

o
f
w

h
ic

h
w

ill
p

ro
vi

d
e

a
b

a
s
e
-

lin
e

fo
r 

th
e

fu
tu

re
.

H
o
w

e
ve

r,
b

a
s
e
d

o
n

 t
h

e
lim

it
e
d

s
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

s
u

rv
e
y

d
a
ta

a
va

ila
b

le
fr

o
m

a
m

o
re

lim
it
e
d

s
u

rv
e
y

a
p

re
lim

in
a
ry

ta
rg

e
t

o
f
7

5
%

is

Y
e
a
r-

e
n

d

N
I

1
8

4
J
o
h

n
 G

ilb
e
rt

8
0

.0
0

%
N

/A
7

5
.0

0
%

T
h

is
is

a
n

e
w

in
d

ic
a
to

r,
a
lt
h

o
u

g
h

it
is

p
re

d
ic

a
te

d

o
n

e
xi

s
ti
n

g
d

a
ta

s
e
ts

.
W

h
ils

t
it

c
o
u

ld
b

e
a
rg

u
e
d

th
a
t,

g
iv

e
n

 t
h

e
n

a
tu

re
o
f 
th

e
is

s
u

e
b

e
in

g

m
e
a
s
u

re
d

,
a
 t

a
rg

e
t

o
f
1

0
0

%
s
h

o
u

ld
a
p

p
lie

d
,

in

re
a
lit

y 
th

is
is

n
o
t

re
a
lis

ti
c

s
in

c
e
 t

h
e
re

a
re

a
w

id
e

ra
n

g
e

o
f
fa

c
to

rs
,

s
o
m

e
c
ri
ti
c
a
l
a
n

d
s
o
m

e
n

o
t,

w
h

ic
h

c
o
u

ld
re

n
d

e
r

a
p

re
m

is
e
s

n
o
t

'b
ro

a
d

ly

c
o
m

p
lia

n
t'.

F
u

rt
h

e
rm

o
re

,
p

re
m

is
e
s

c
o
u

ld
re

m
a
in

n
o
t

'b
ro

a
d

ly
c
o
m

p
lia

n
t'

e
ve

n
fo

llo
w

in
g

in
te

rv
e
n

ti
o
n

.

T
h

e
re

fo
re

,
b

a
s
e
d

o
n

k
n

o
w

n
d

a
ta

a
n

d
in

s
p

e
c
ti
o
n

o
u

tc
o
m

e
s
,

a
 t

a
rg

e
t

o
f
7

5
%

is
s
u

g
g

e
s
te

d
fo

r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

w
h

ic
h

c
a
n

b
e

re
vi

e
w

e
d

fo
llo

w
in

g
 t

h
e

fir
s
t

Y
e
a
r-

e
n

d

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f

n
o

n
-d

e
c
e

n
t

c
o

u
n

c
il

h
o

m
e

s
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
m

e
a
s
u

re
s
 t

h
e

n
u

m
b

e
r

o
f
n

o
n

-d
e
c
e
n

t
c
o
u

n
c
il

h
o
m

e
s

a
n

d
 t

h
e

p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n

 t
h

is
re

p
re

s
e
n

ts
o
f 
th

e
 t

o
ta

l
c
o
u

n
c
il

h
o
u

s
in

g
s
to

c
k
,

in
o
rd

e
r 

to
d

e
m

o
n

s
tr

a
te

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 t

o
w

a
rd

s
m

a
k
in

g
a
ll

c
o
u

n
c
il

h
o
u

s
in

g
d

e
c
e
n

t
(L

O
W

).

S
u

p
p

ly
o

f
re

a
d

y
 t

o
d

e
v
e

lo
p

h
o

u
s
in

g
s
it
e

s
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
m

e
a
s
u

re
s
 t

h
e

a
b

ili
ty

o
f
lo

c
a
l
p

la
n

n
in

g
a
u

th
o
ri
ti
e
s

to
m

a
in

ta
in

a
fiv

e
-y

e
a
r

s
u

p
p

ly
o
f
d

e
liv

e
ra

b
le

s
it
e
s

fo
r

h
o
u

s
in

g
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
e

L
o
c
a
l
D

e
ve

lo
p

m
e
n

t
F

ra
m

e
w

o
rk

,

a
n

d
is

 t
h

e
 t

o
ta

l
n

u
m

b
e
r

o
f
n

e
t

a
d

d
it
io

n
a
l
d

w
e
lli

n
g

s
 t

h
a
t

a
re

d
e
liv

e
ra

b
le

a
s

a
p

e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
o
f 
th

e
p

la
n

n
e
d

h
o
u

s
in

g
p

ro
vi

s
io

n
(i
n

n
e
t

a
d

d
it
io

n
a
l
d

w
e
lli

n
g

s
)

fo
r 

th
e

fiv
e

ye
a
r

p
e
ri
o
d

.
(H

IG
H

).

L
o

c
a

l
a

u
th

o
ri
ty

 t
e

n
a

n
t

s
a

ti
s
fa

c
ti
o

n
w

it
h

la
n

d
lo

rd
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
e
n

c
o
u

ra
g

e
s
 t

h
e

d
e
liv

e
ry

o
f
g

o
o
d

h
o
u

s
in

g
m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
s
e
rv

ic
e
s

b
y

lo
c
a
l
a
u

th
o
ri
ti
e
s

w
h

e
re

 t
h

e
y

re
ta

in
o
w

n
e
rs

h
ip

o
f
c
o
u

n
c
il

h
o
u

s
in

g
(H

IG
H

).

P
re

v
io

u
s
ly

d
e

v
e

lo
p

e
d

la
n

d
 t

h
a

t
h

a
s

b
e

e
n

v
a

c
a

n
t

o
r

d
e

re
lic

t 
fo

r
m

o
re

 t
h

a
n

5
y
e

a
rs

.
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r

m
e
a
s
u

re
s
 t

h
e

s
u

c
c
e
s
s

o
f
lo

c
a
l
a
u

th
o
ri
ti
e
s

in
fa

c
ili

ta
ti
n

g
 t

h
e

re
-u

s
e

o
f
b

ro
w

n
fie

ld
la

n
d

a
s

a
c
o
n

tr
ib

u
ti
o
n

 t
o

re
g

e
n

e
ra

ti
o
n

a
n

d
e
c
o
n

o
m

ic
g

ro
w

th
,

a
n

d
is

e
xp

re
s
s
e
d

(i
n

p
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 t

e
rm

s
)

a
s
 t

h
e

a
re

a
o
f
d

e
ve

lo
p

e
d

la
n

d

th
a
t

is
va

c
a
n

t
o
r

d
e
re

lic
t

fo
r

m
o
re

 t
h

a
n

fiv
e

ye
a
rs

(L
O

W
).

V
a

lu
e

 f
o

r
M

o
n

e
y
:

T
o

ta
l
n

e
t

v
a

lu
e

o
f

o
n

-g
o

in
g

c
a

s
h

-r
e

le
a

s
in

g
v
a

lu
e

 f
o

r
m

o
n

e
y

g
a

in
s
 t

h
a

t
h

a
v
e

im
p

a
c
te

d

s
in

c
e

 t
h

e
s
ta

rt
o

f 
th

e
2

0
0

8
/0

9
 f

in
a

n
c
ia

l
y
e

a
r.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
m

e
a
s
u

re
s
 t

h
e
 t

o
ta

l
n

e
t

va
lu

e
o
f
o
n

-g
o
in

g
c
a
s
h

-

re
le

a
s
in

g
va

lu
e

fo
r

m
o
n

e
y

g
a
in

s
 t

h
a
t

h
a
ve

im
p

a
c
te

d
s
in

c
e
 t

h
e

s
ta

rt
o
f 
th

e
fin

a
n

c
ia

l
ye

a
r

(H
IG

H
).

T
h

e
n

u
m

b
e

r
o

f
c
h

a
n

g
e

s
o

f
c
ir
c
u

m
s
ta

n
c
e

s
w

h
ic

h
a

ff
e

c
t

c
u

s
to

m
e

rs
’H

o
u

s
in

g
B

e
n

e
fi
t/

C
o

u
n

c
il

T
a

x
B

e
n

e
fi
t

e
n

ti
tl
e

m
e

n
t

w
it
h

in
 t

h
e

y
e

a
r

(p
e

r
1

0
0

0
c
a

s
e

lo
a

d
).

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
e
n

s
u

re
s
 t

h
a
t

c
u

s
to

m
e
rs

re
c
e
iv

e
 t

h
e

c
o
rr

e
c
t

a
m

o
u

n
t

o
f
H

B
/C

T
B

a
n

d
c
o
n

tr
ib

u
te

s
 t

o
re

d
u

c
in

g
p

o
ve

rt
y

a
n

d
fr

a
u

d
a
n

d
e
rr

o
r

(N
/A

).

T
im

e
 t

a
k
e

n
(d

a
y
s
) 

to
p

ro
c
e

s
s

H
o

u
s
in

g
B

e
n

e
fi
t/

C
o

u
n

c
il

T
a

x
B

e
n

e
fi
t

n
e

w
c
la

im
s

a
n

d
c
h

a
n

g
e

e
v
e

n
ts

.
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
m

e
a
s
u

re
s

b
e
n

e
fit

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
,

a
s

d
e
la

ys
in

 t
h

e
a
d

m
in

is
tr

a
ti
o
n

o
f
b

e
n

e
fit

s
c
a
n

im
p

a
c
t

o
n

s
o
m

e
o
f

th
e

m
o
s
t

vu
ln

e
ra

b
le

p
e
o
p

le
(L

O
W

).

S
a

ti
s
fa

c
ti
o

n
o

f
b

u
s
in

e
s
s
e

s
w

it
h

lo
c
a

l
a

u
th

o
ri
ty

re
g
u

la
ti
o

n
s
e

rv
ic

e
s

(e
n

v
ir
o

n
m

e
n

ta
l,

h
e

a
lt
h

,
lic

e
n

s
in

g
,

p
u

b
lic

s
e

c
to

r
la

n
d

lo
rd

s
).

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
s
u

p
p

o
rt

s
 t

h
e

s
u

c
c
e
s
s

o
f 
th

e
e
c
o
n

o
m

y 
th

ro
u

g
h

a
b

u
s
in

e
s
s

fr
ie

n
d

ly

e
n

vi
ro

n
m

e
n

t
(H

IG
H

).

F
o

o
d

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
m

e
n

ts
in

 t
h

e
a

re
a

w
h

ic
h

a
re

b
ro

a
d

ly
c
o

m
p

lia
n

t
w

it
h

 f
o

o
d

h
y
g
ie

n
e

la
w

.
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r

p
ro

te
c
ts

p
u

b
lic

h
e
a
lt
h

b
y

e
n

s
u

ri
n

g
fo

o
d

is
s
a
fe

a
n

d
fit

 t
o

e
a
t

b
y

m
o
n

it
o
ri
n

g
lo

c
a
l
a
u

th
o
ri
ty

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

in

in
c
re

a
s
in

g
c
o
m

p
lia

n
c
e

w
it
h

fo
o
d

la
w

(H
IG

H
).

Page 23



R
e

f:
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it

y
2

0
0

8
/0

9
T

a
rg

e
t

2
0

0
8

/0
9

Q
u

a
rt

e
r

3

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e

P
ro

p
o

s
e

d

2
0

0
9

/1
0

T
a

rg
e

t

S
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
N

o
te

S
u

m
m

a
ry

D
e

fi
n

it
io

n
a

n
d

D
ir

e
c

ti
o

n
o

f 
Im

p
ro

v
in

g
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

(H
IG

H
/L

O
W

)

N
I

1
8

5
J
o
h

n
P

re
s
to

n
N

/A
N

/A
T

o
b

e

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

a
g

a
in

s
t 

th
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
is

c
a
lc

u
la

te
d

a
t

ye
a
r-

e
n

d
a
n

d
,

w
it
h

o
u

t
b

a
s
e
lin

e
le

ve
ls

o
f

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
,

it
is

n
o
t

ye
t

p
o
s
s
ib

le
 t

o
e
s
ta

b
lis

h
a

ta
rg

e
t

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

.
B

a
s
e
d

o
n

o
u

tt
u

rn
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

fo
r

2
0

0
8

/0
9

, 
th

e
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 t
a
rg

e
t

fo
r 

th
e

in
d

ic
a
to

r

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

w
ill

b
e

re
p

o
rt

e
d

in
 t

h
e

n
e
w

fin
a
n

c
ia

l

Y
e
a
r-

e
n

d

N
I

1
8

6
J
o
h

n
P

re
s
to

n
N

/A
N

/A
5

.9
0

%

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
is

in
c
lu

d
e
d

in
 t

h
e

E
s
s
e
x

L
o
c
a
l
A

re
a

A
g

re
e
m

e
n

t
(L

A
A

)
2

0
0

8
-1

1
,

a
n

d
 t

h
e
 t

a
rg

e
ts

fo
r

2
0

0
8

/0
9

a
n

d
2

0
0

9
/1

0
a
re

d
ra

w
n

fr
o
m

 t
h

e
L

A
A

.
Y

e
a
r-

e
n

d

N
I

1
8

7
J
o
h

n
P

re
s
to

n
N

/A
N

/A
T

o
b

e

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

a
g

a
in

s
t 

th
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
is

c
a
lc

u
la

te
d

a
t

ye
a
r-

e
n

d
a
n

d
,

w
it
h

o
u

t
b

a
s
e
lin

e
le

ve
ls

o
f

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
,

it
is

n
o
t

ye
t

p
o
s
s
ib

le
 t

o
e
s
ta

b
lis

h
a

ta
rg

e
t

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

.
B

a
s
e
d

o
n

o
u

tt
u

rn
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

fo
r

2
0

0
8

/0
9

, 
th

e
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 t
a
rg

e
t

fo
r 

th
e

in
d

ic
a
to

r

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

w
ill

b
e

re
p

o
rt

e
d

in
 t

h
e

n
e
w

fin
a
n

c
ia

l

Y
e
a
r-

e
n

d

N
I

1
8

8
J
o
h

n
P

re
s
to

n
L

e
ve

l 
3

N
/A

L
e
ve

l 
3

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
is

in
c
lu

d
e
d

in
 t

h
e

E
s
s
e
x

L
o
c
a
l
A

re
a

A
g

re
e
m

e
n

t
(L

A
A

)
2

0
0

8
-1

1
,

a
n

d
 t

h
e
 t

a
rg

e
ts

fo
r

2
0

0
8

/0
9

a
n

d
2

0
0

9
/1

0
a
re

d
ra

w
n

fr
o
m

 t
h

e
L

A
A

.
Y

e
a
r-

e
n

d

N
I

1
9

1
J
o
h

n
 G

ilb
e
rt

5
5

4
.0

0
4

0
1

.0
0

5
4

8
.0

0

T
h

e
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 t
a
rg

e
t

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

a
lig

n
s

w
it
h

 t
h

e

c
u

rr
e
n

t 
ta

rg
e
t

fo
r 

th
e

in
d

ic
a
to

r
a
s

s
e
t

o
u

t
in

 t
h

e

E
s
s
e
x

L
o
c
a
l
A

re
a

A
g

re
e
m

e
n

t
2

0
0

8
-2

0
1

1
.

Q
u

a
rt

e
rl
y

N
I

1
9

2
J
o
h

n
 G

ilb
e
rt

4
0

.0
0

%
4

5
.8

5
%

4
2

.0
0

%

T
h

e
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 t
a
rg

e
t

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

a
lig

n
s

w
it
h

 t
h

e

c
u

rr
e
n

t 
ta

rg
e
t

fo
r 

th
e

in
d

ic
a
to

r
a
s

s
e
t

o
u

t
in

 t
h

e

E
s
s
e
x

L
o
c
a
l
A

re
a

A
g

re
e
m

e
n

t
2

0
0

8
-2

0
1

1
.

Q
u

a
rt

e
rl
y

N
I

1
9

4
J
o
h

n
P

re
s
to

n
N

/A
N

/A
T

o
b

e

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

a
g

a
in

s
t 

th
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
is

c
a
lc

u
la

te
d

a
t

ye
a
r-

e
n

d
a
n

d
,

w
it
h

o
u

t
b

a
s
e
lin

e
le

ve
ls

o
f

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
,

it
is

n
o
t

ye
t

p
o
s
s
ib

le
 t

o
e
s
ta

b
lis

h
a

ta
rg

e
t

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

.
B

a
s
e
d

o
n

o
u

tt
u

rn
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

fo
r

2
0

0
8

/0
9

, 
th

e
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 t
a
rg

e
t

fo
r 

th
e

in
d

ic
a
to

r

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

w
ill

b
e

re
p

o
rt

e
d

in
 t

h
e

n
e
w

fin
a
n

c
ia

l

Y
e
a
r-

e
n

d

N
I

1
9

5
(a

)
J
o
h

n
 G

ilb
e
rt

1
0

.5
0

%
1

3
.0

0
%

1
0

.0
0

%

T
h

e
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 t
a
rg

e
t

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

is
a

0
.5

%

re
d

u
c
ti
o
n

o
n

 t
h

a
t

fo
r

2
0

0
8

/0
9

 t
o

e
n

s
u

re
c
o
n

ti
n

u
e
d

im
p

ro
ve

m
e
n

t.
T

h
is

is
c
o
n

s
id

e
ra

b
ly

in
e
xc

e
s
s

o
f

th
e

E
s
s
e
x

L
o
c
a
l
A

re
a

A
g

re
e
m

e
n

t
2

0
0

8
-2

0
1

1

ta
rg

e
t

o
f
2

3
%

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

a
n

d
2

0
%

fo
r

2
0

1
0

/1
1

.

'Q
u

a
rt

e
r

3
'p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

re
fle

c
ts

 t
h

e
e
ig

h
t-

m
o
n

th

F
o
u

r
M

o
n

th
ly

N
I

1
9

5
(b

)
J
o
h

n
 G

ilb
e
rt

1
5

.0
0

%
1

2
.5

0
%

1
3

.0
0

%

T
h

e
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 t
a
rg

e
t

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

is
a

0
.5

%

re
d

u
c
ti
o
n

o
n

 t
h

a
t

fo
r

2
0

0
8

/0
9

 t
o

e
n

s
u

re
c
o
n

ti
n

u
e
d

im
p

ro
ve

m
e
n

t.
T

h
is

is
c
o
n

s
id

e
ra

b
ly

in
e
xc

e
s
s

o
f

th
e

E
s
s
e
x

L
o
c
a
l
A

re
a

A
g

re
e
m

e
n

t
2

0
0

8
-2

0
1

1

ta
rg

e
t

o
f
2

7
%

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

a
n

d
2

4
%

fo
r

2
0

1
0

/1
1

.

'Q
u

a
rt

e
r

3
'p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

re
fle

c
ts

 t
h

e
e
ig

h
t-

m
o
n

th

F
o
u

r
M

o
n

th
ly

N
I

1
9

5
(c

)
J
o
h

n
 G

ilb
e
rt

5
.0

0
%

0
.5

0
%

3
.0

0
%

T
h

e
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 t
a
rg

e
t

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

is
a

2
%

re
d

u
c
ti
o
n

o
n

 t
h

a
t

fo
r

2
0

0
8

/0
9

, 
to

re
fle

c
t 

th
a
t 

th
e

a
c
tu

a
l
le

ve
ls

o
f
g

ra
ff
it
i
fo

u
n

d
o
n

in
s
p

e
c
ti
o
n

a
re

lo
w

.

'Q
u

a
rt

e
r

3
'p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

re
fle

c
ts

 t
h

e
e
ig

h
t-

m
o
n

th

p
e
ri
o
d

 t
o

3
0

N
o
ve

m
b

e
r

2
0

0
8

,

F
o
u

r
M

o
n

th
ly

C
O

2
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

lo
c
a

l
a

u
th

o
ri
ty

o
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
s
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
s
u

p
p

o
rt

s
 t

h
e

a
c
h

ie
ve

m
e
n

t
o
f 
th

e

G
o
ve

rn
m

e
n

t’
s

c
lim

a
te

c
h

a
n

g
e

o
b

je
c
ti
ve

s
,

a
s
 t

h
e

p
u

b
lic

s
e
c
to

r
is

in
a

k
e
y

p
o
s
it
io

n
 t

o
le

a
d

o
n

c
a
rb

o
n

e
m

is
s
io

n
s

b
y

s
e
tt

in
g

a
b

e
h

a
vi

o
u

ra
l
a
n

d
s
tr

a
te

g
ic

e
xa

m
p

le
(H

IG
H

).

P
e

r
c
a

p
it
a

C
O

2
e

m
is

s
io

n
s

in
 t

h
e

lo
c
a

l
a

u
th

o
ri
ty

a
re

a
(L

A
A

In
d

ic
a

to
r)

.
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
s
u

p
p

o
rt

s
 t

h
e

a
c
h

ie
ve

m
e
n

t
o
f 
th

e
 G

o
ve

rn
m

e
n

t’
s

c
lim

a
te

c
h

a
n

g
e

o
b

je
c
ti
ve

s
,

a
s
 t

h
e

p
u

b
lic

s
e
c
to

r
is

in
a

k
e
y

p
o
s
it
io

n
 t

o
le

a
d

o
n

c
a
rb

o
n

e
m

is
s
io

n
s

b
y

s
e
tt

in
g

a
b

e
h

a
vi

o
u

ra
l
a
n

d
s
tr

a
te

g
ic

e
xa

m
p

le
(H

IG
H

).

T
a

c
k
lin

g
 f

u
e

l
p

o
v
e

rt
y
:

P
e

o
p

le
re

c
e

iv
in

g
in

c
o

m
e

b
a

s
e

d
b

e
n

e
fi
ts

liv
in

g
in

h
o

m
e

s
w

it
h

a
lo

w
e

n
e

rg
y

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y

ra
ti
n

g
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
a
s
s
e
s
s
e
s

le
ve

ls
o
f
fu

e
l
p

o
ve

rt
y 

th
ro

u
g

h
a
n

a
n

n
u

a
l
s
u

rv
e
y

o
f
p

e
o
p

le
re

c
e
iv

in
g

in
c
o
m

e

b
a
s
e
d

b
e
n

e
fit

s
liv

in
g

in
h

o
m

e
s

w
it
h

lo
w

e
n

e
rg

y
e
ff
ic

ie
n

c
y

ra
ti
n

g
s

(L
O

W
).

P
la

n
n

in
g
 t

o
a

d
a

p
t 

to
c
lim

a
te

c
h

a
n

g
e

(L
A

A
In

d
ic

a
to

r)
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
e
n

s
u

re
s
 t

h
a
t

lo
c
a
l
a
u

th
o
ri
ti
e
s

a
re

p
re

p
a
re

d
 t

o
m

a
n

a
g

e
ri
s
k
s
 t

o
s
e
rv

ic
e

d
e
liv

e
ry

, 
th

e
p

u
b

lic
,

lo
c
a
l
c
o
m

m
u

n
it
ie

s
,

lo
c
a
l
in

fr
a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
,

b
u

s
in

e
s
s
e
s

a
n

d
 t

h
e

n
a
tu

ra
l
e
n

vi
ro

n
m

e
n

t,
fr

o
m

a
c
h

a
n

g
in

g
c
lim

a
te

(H
IG

H
).

R
e

s
id

u
a

l
h

o
u

s
e

h
o

ld
w

a
s
te

p
e

r
h

o
u

s
e

h
o

ld
(c

u
m

u
la

ti
v
e

K
g
)

(L
A

A
In

d
ic

a
to

r)
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
s
u

p
p

o
rt

s

G
o
ve

rn
m

e
n

t
w

is
h

e
s
 t

o
a
c
h

ie
ve

ye
a
r

o
n

ye
a
r

re
d

u
c
ti
o
n

s
in

 t
h

e
a
m

o
u

n
t

o
f
re

s
id

u
a
l
w

a
s
te

c
o
lle

c
te

d
, 

th
ro

u
g

h
a

c
o
m

b
in

a
ti
o
n

o
f
le

s
s

o
ve

ra
ll

w
a
s
te

a
n

d
m

o
re

re
u

s
e
,

re
c
yc

lin
g

a
n

d
c
o
m

p
o
s
ti
n

g
(L

O
W

).

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f

h
o

u
s
e

h
o

ld
w

a
s
te

s
e

n
t 

fo
r

re
u

s
e

,
re

c
y
c
lin

g
a

n
d

c
o

m
p

o
s
ti
n

g
(L

A
A

In
d

ic
a

to
r)

.
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r

s
u

p
p

o
rt

s
ye

a
r

o
n

ye
a
r

re
d

u
c
ti
o
n

s
in

 t
h

e
a
m

o
u

n
t

o
f
re

s
id

u
a
l
w

a
s
te

c
o
lle

c
te

d
,

a
n

d
m

e
a
s
u

re
s
 t

h
e

p
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e

o
f
h

o
u

s
e
h

o
ld

w
a
s
te

a
ri
s
in

g
s

s
e
n

t
fo

r
re

u
s
e
,

re
c
yc

lin
g

,
c
o
m

p
o
s
ti
n

g
o
r

a
n

a
e
ro

b
ic

d
ig

e
s
ti
o
n

,
w

h
ic

h
w

e
re

p
re

vi
o
u

s
ly

m
e
a
s
u

re
d

s
e
p

a
ra

te
ly

b
y

B
V

P
I

8
2

(a
)

a
n

d
B

V
P

I
8

2
(b

)
(H

IG
H

).

A
ir

q
u

a
lit

y
:

%
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
in

N
O

x
a

n
d

p
ri
m

a
ry

P
M

1
0

e
m

is
s
io

n
s
 t

h
ro

u
g
h

 t
h

e
lo

c
a

l
a

u
th

o
ri
ty

’s
e

s
ta

te
a

n
d

o
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
s
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
m

e
a
s
u

re
s
 t

h
e

p
e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
re

d
u

c
ti
o
n

in
N

O
x

a
n

d
p

ri
m

a
ry

P
M

1
0

e
m

is
s
io

n
s

th
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
e

C
o
u

n
c
il’

s
e
s
ta

te
a
n

d
o
p

e
ra

ti
o
n

s
, 

to
id

e
n

ti
fy

lo
c
a
l
a
u

th
o
ri
ti
e
s
 t

h
a
t

a
re

p
ro

a
c
ti
ve

in
m

in
im

is
in

g
a
ir

p
o
llu

ti
o
n

e
m

is
s
io

n
s

(H
IG

H
).

Im
p

ro
v
e

d
s
tr

e
e

t
a

n
d

e
n

v
ir
o

n
m

e
n

ta
l
c
le

a
n

lin
e

s
s

(L
it
te

r)
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
s
e
e
k
s
 t

o
re

d
u

c
e

u
n

a
c
c
e
p

ta
b

le
le

ve
ls

o
f
g

ra
ff
it
i,

lit
te

r,
d

e
tr

it
u

s
a
n

d
fly

-p
o
s
ti
n

g
(H

IG
H

).

Im
p

ro
v
e

d
s
tr

e
e

t
a

n
d

e
n

v
ir
o

n
m

e
n

ta
l
c
le

a
n

lin
e

s
s

(D
e

tr
it
u

s
).

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
s
e
e
k
s
 t

o
re

d
u

c
e

u
n

a
c
c
e
p

ta
b

le

le
ve

ls
o
f
g

ra
ff
it
i,

lit
te

r,
d

e
tr

it
u

s
a
n

d
fly

-p
o
s
ti
n

g
(H

IG
H

).

Im
p

ro
v
e

d
s
tr

e
e

t
a

n
d

e
n

v
ir
o

n
m

e
n

ta
l
c
le

a
n

lin
e

s
s

(G
ra

ff
it
i)
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
s
e
e
k
s
 t

o
re

d
u

c
e

u
n

a
c
c
e
p

ta
b

le

le
ve

ls
o
f
g

ra
ff
it
i,

lit
te

r,
d

e
tr

it
u

s
a
n

d
fly

-p
o
s
ti
n

g
(H

IG
H

).

Page 24



R
e

f:
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it

y
2

0
0

8
/0

9
T

a
rg

e
t

2
0

0
8

/0
9

Q
u

a
rt

e
r

3

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e

P
ro

p
o

s
e

d

2
0

0
9

/1
0

T
a

rg
e

t

S
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

C
o

m
m

e
n

ts
N

o
te

S
u

m
m

a
ry

D
e

fi
n

it
io

n
a

n
d

D
ir

e
c

ti
o

n
o

f 
Im

p
ro

v
in

g
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

(H
IG

H
/L

O
W

)

N
I

1
9

5
(d

)
J
o
h

n
 G

ilb
e
rt

5
.0

0
%

0
.0

0
%

3
.0

0
%

T
h

e
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 t
a
rg

e
t

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

is
a

2
%

re
d

u
c
ti
o
n

o
n

 t
h

a
t

fo
r

2
0

0
8

/0
9

, 
to

re
fle

c
t 

th
a
t 

th
e

a
c
tu

a
l
le

ve
ls

o
f
fly

-p
o
s
ti
n

g
fo

u
n

d
o
n

in
s
p

e
c
ti
o
n

a
re

lo
w

.
'Q

u
a
rt

e
r

3
'p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

re
fle

c
ts

 t
h

e
e
ig

h
t-

m
o
n

th
p

e
ri
o
d

 t
o

3
0

N
o
ve

m
b

e
r

2
0

0
8

,

F
o
u

r
M

o
n

th
ly

N
I

1
9

6
J
o
h

n
 G

ilb
e
rt

G
ra

d
e
 2

G
ra

d
e
 2

G
ra

d
e
 2

T
h

e
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 t
a
rg

e
t

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

re
m

a
in

s
 t

h
e

s
a
m

e
a
s
 t

h
a
t

fo
r

2
0

0
8

/0
9

.
T

h
is

re
fle

c
ts

 t
h

e
fa

c
t

th
a
t 

th
e

E
n

vi
ro

n
m

e
n

t
E

n
fo

rc
e
m

e
n

t 
te

a
m

is
n

o
t

fu
lly

o
p

e
ra

ti
o
n

a
l
a
n

d
 t

h
e
re

fo
re

e
n

fo
rc

e
m

e
n

t
a
c
ti
vi

ty

a
n

d
p

ro
s
e
c
u

ti
o
n

s
a
re

u
n

lik
e
ly

 t
o

ri
s
e
.

Q
u

a
rt

e
rl
y

N
I

1
9

7
J
o
h

n
P

re
s
to

n
N

/A
N

/A
N

o
lo

n
g

e
r

a
p

p
lic

a
b

le

S
p

a
ti
a
l
L

e
ve

l
c
h

a
n

g
e
d

 t
o

S
in

g
le

-T
ie

r
a
n

d
C

o
u

n
ty

C
o
u

n
c
ils

o
n

ly
in

re
c
e
n

t
D

e
p

a
rt

m
e
n

t
fo

r

C
o
m

m
u

n
it
ie

s
a
n

d
L

o
c
a
l 
G

o
ve

rn
m

e
n

t
u

p
d

a
te

o
f
N

I

D
e
fin

it
io

n
s

N
o

lo
n

g
e
r

a
p

p
lic

a
b

le

Im
p

ro
v
e

d
s
tr

e
e

t
a

n
d

e
n

v
ir
o

n
m

e
n

ta
l
c
le

a
n

lin
e

s
s

(F
ly

-T
ip

p
in

g
).

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
s
e
e
k
s
 t

o
a
c
h

ie
ve

re
d

u
c
ti
o
n

s
in

th
e
 t

o
ta

l
n

u
m

b
e
r

o
f
in

c
id

e
n

ts
a
n

d
a
n

in
c
re

a
s
e

in
e
n

fo
rc

e
m

e
n

t
a
c
ti
o
n

 t
a
k
e
n

 t
o

d
e
a
l
w

it
h

 t
h

e
ill

e
g

a
l
d

is
p

o
s
a
l
o
f

w
a
s
te

(H
IG

H
).

Im
p

ro
v
e

d
L

o
c
a

l
B

io
d

iv
e

rs
it
y
:

P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
o

f
lo

c
a

l
s
it
e

s
w

h
e

re
p

o
s
it
iv

e
c
o

n
s
e

rv
a

ti
o

n
m

a
n

a
g
e

m
e

n
t

h
a

s
b

e
e

n

o
r

is
b

e
in

g
im

p
le

m
e

n
te

d
(L

A
A

in
d

ic
a

to
r)

.
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
m

e
a
s
u

re
s
 t

h
e

p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n

o
f
lo

c
a
l
s
it
e
s

w
h

e
re

p
o
s
it
iv

e
c
o
n

s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n

m
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
h

a
s

b
e
e
n

o
r

is
b

e
in

g
im

p
le

m
e
n

te
d

(H
IG

H
).

Im
p

ro
v
e

d
s
tr

e
e

t
a

n
d

e
n

v
ir
o

n
m

e
n

ta
l
c
le

a
n

lin
e

s
s

(F
ly

-P
o

s
ti
n

g
).

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
s
e
e
k
s
 t

o
re

d
u

c
e

u
n

a
c
c
e
p

ta
b

le

le
ve

ls
o
f
g

ra
ff
it
i,

lit
te

r,
d

e
tr

it
u

s
a
n

d
fly

-p
o
s
ti
n

g
(H

IG
H

).

Page 25



Page 26

This page is intentionally left blank



C
U

R
R

E
N

T
L

P
I

R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

IB
IL

IT
Y

R
E

T
A

IN
A

S

L
P

I
2
0
0
8
/0

9
Q

u
a
rt

e
r 

3
P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

J
U

S
T

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

O
F

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

D
IR

E
C

T
O

R
F

O
R

R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
A

T
IO

N
O

F
L

P
I

Y
E

S
 /

 N
O

T
a
rg

e
t

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

T
a
rg

e
t

J
U

S
T

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

O
F

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

D
IR

E
C

T
O

R
F

O
R

R
E

M
O

V
A

L
O

F
L

P
I

L
P

I
0
1

D
e
re

k
M

a
c
n
a
b

T
h
e

le
v
e
l
o
f 

th
e
 E

q
u
a
lit

y
 S

ta
n
d
a
rd

 f
o
r

L
o
c
a
l

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t.

T
h
e
 E

q
u
a
lit

y
 S

ta
n
d
a
rd

p
ro

v
id

e
s

a

fr
a
m

e
w

o
rk

fo
r

d
e
liv

e
ri
n
g

c
o
n
ti
n
u
o
u
s

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t

in

re
la

ti
o
n
 t

o
fa

ir
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t

o
u
tc

o
m

e
s

a
n
d

e
q
u
a
l
a
c
c
e
s
s

to
s
e
rv

ic
e
s

(H
IG

H
).

Y
e
s

L
e
v
e
l 
2

Y
e
a
r 

E
n
d

L
e
v
e
l 
3

E
q
u
a
lit

y
a
n
d

d
iv

e
rs

it
y

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t

o
b
e

im
p
o
rt

a
n
t

a
re

a
s

a
g
a
in

s
t

w
h
ic

h
 t

h
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

is
a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
.

T
h
e
 E

q
u
a
lit

y

S
ta

n
d
a
rd

is
 t

h
e

b
e
s
t

m
e
a
s
u
re

o
f 
th

e
a
u
th

o
ri
ty

's
p
ro

g
re

s
s

o
n

e
q
u
a
lit

y
is

s
u
e
s

a
n
d
,

a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t

h
e
 S

ta
n
d
a
rd

is
 t

o
b
e

re
p
la

c
e
d

in
 t

h
e

n
e
a
r

fu
tu

re
,

it
is

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 t

h
a
t 

th
is

s
h
o
u
ld

re
m

a
in

a
n

L
P

I
fo

r
2
0
0
9
/1

0
.

L
P

I
2
4

D
e
re

k
M

a
c
n
a
b

T
h
e

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

v
is

it
s
 t

o
 t

h
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
w

e
b
s
it
e

(c
u
m

u
la

ti
v
e
).

T
h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
m

e
a
s
u
re

s
 t

h
e

e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s

o
f 
th

e
C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
w

e
b
s
it
e

fu
n
c
ti
o
n
. 

A
 w

e
b
s
it
e

v
is

it
is

d
e
fi
n
e
d

a
s

a
s
e
ri
e
s

o
f
o
n
e

o
r

m
o
re

p
a
g
e

v
ie

w
s
,

w
h
ic

h

s
ta

rt
s

w
it
h
 t

h
e

fi
rs

t
p
a
g
e

v
ie

w
a
n
d

e
n
d
s

w
h
e
n

n
o

a
c
ti
v
it
y

o
n
 t

h
e

p
a
rt

o
f 
th

e
v
is

it
o
r

is
re

g
is

te
re

d
fo

r 
th

ir
ty

m
in

u
te

s
. 

If

th
e

s
a
m

e
v
is

it
o
r

re
tu

rn
s
 t

o
 t

h
e

w
e
b

s
it
e

a
ft
e
r 

th
ir
ty

m
in

u
te

s
, 

th
is

is
re

g
is

te
re

d
a
s

a
n
e
w

v
is

it
(H

IG
H

).

Y
e
s

8
1
5
,0

0
0
.0

0
5
4
0
,1

0
3
.0

0
7
5
6
,0

0
0
.0

0

T
e
c
h
n
ic

a
l
p
ro

b
le

m
s

w
it
h
in

 t
h
e

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g

p
a
c
k
a
g
e

h
a
v
e

le
d
 t

o

a
n

h
is

to
ri
c
a
l
o
v
e
r

e
s
ti
m

a
te

o
f
v
is

it
s
 t

o
 t

h
e

w
e
b
s
it
e
.

T
h
is

h
a
s

n
o
w

b
e
e
n

re
d
re

s
s
e
d

w
it
h

a
re

v
is

e
d
 t

o
ta

l
fo

r
2
0
0
8
/0

9
e
xp

e
c
te

d

to
b
e

in
 t

h
e

re
g
io

n
o
f
7
2
0
,0

0
0

v
is

it
s
.

T
h
e
 t

a
rg

e
t

fo
r

2
0
0
9
/1

0

h
a
s
 t

h
e
re

fo
re

b
e
e
n

re
v
is

e
d
 t

o
re

fl
e
c
t 

th
e

m
o
re

a
c
c
u
ra

te

re
c
o
rd

in
g
.

T
h
e
 t

re
n
d

in
in

te
rn

e
t

u
s
a
g
e

is
b
e
lie

v
e
d
 t

o
b
e

in
c
re

a
s
in

g
a
n
d
 t

h
e
 t

a
rg

e
t

fo
r

2
0
0
9
/1

0
h
a
s
 t

h
e
re

fo
re

b
e
e
n

in
c
re

a
s
e
d

b
y

5
%

o
n
 t

h
e

re
v
is

e
d

fi
g
u
re

fo
r

2
0
0
8
/0

9
.

L
P

I
4
7

D
e
re

k
M

a
c
n
a
b

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

v
is

it
s
 t

o
C

o
u
n
c
il 

fu
n
d
e
d

o
r

p
a
rt

 f
u
n
d
e
d

m
u
s
e
u
m

s
a
n
d

g
a
lle

ri
e
s

in
 t

h
e

a
re

a
p
e
r

1
,0

0
0

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
.

T
h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
e
n
c
o
u
ra

g
e
s

lo
c
a
l
a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
 t

o
m

a
k
e

m
u
s
e
u
m

s
m

o
re

a
tt

ra
c
ti
v
e
 t

o
lo

c
a
l
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
a
n
d
 t

o

m
a
xi

m
is

e
 t

h
e
ir

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l
v
a
lu

e
(H

IG
H

).
N

o
5
6
6
.0

0
5
5
2
.4

7
N

/A

A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t

h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
p
ro

v
id

e
s

im
p
o
rt

a
n
t

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g

a
n
d

tr
e
n
d

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

in
re

la
ti
o
n
 t

o
 t

h
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
m

u
s
e
u
m

s
e
rv

ic
e
,

it
is

n
o
t

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
re

le
v
a
n
t

fo
r

re
te

n
ti
o
n

a
s

a
n

L
P

I.
T

h
e

in
d
ic

a
to

r
is

 t
o

b
e
 t

ra
n
s
fe

rr
e
d
 t

o
 t

h
e

D
e
p
u
ty

C
h
ie

f 
E

xe
c
u
ti
v
e
's

O
ff
ic

e
 B

u
s
in

e
s
s
 P

la
n
,

w
h
e
re

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

w
ill

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t

o
b
e

m
o
n
it
o
re

d
.

L
P

I
4
8

D
e
re

k
M

a
c
n
a
b

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

v
is

it
s
 t

o
C

o
u
n
c
il 

fu
n
d
e
d

o
r

p
a
rt

 f
u
n
d
e
d

m
u
s
e
u
m

s
a
n
d

g
a
lle

ri
e
s

in
 t

h
e

a
re

a
, 

th
a
t

w
e
re

in
p
e
rs

o
n

p
e
r

1
,0

0
0

p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

.
T

h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
e
n
c
o
u
ra

g
e
s

lo
c
a
l

a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
 t

o
m

a
k
e

m
u
s
e
u
m

s
m

o
re

a
tt

ra
c
ti
v
e
 t

o
lo

c
a
l

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
a
n
d
 t

o
m

a
xi

m
is

e
 t

h
e
ir

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l
v
a
lu

e

(H
IG

H
).

N
o

1
2
3
.0

0
9
7
.4

6
N

/A

A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t

h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
p
ro

v
id

e
s

im
p
o
rt

a
n
t

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g

a
n
d

tr
e
n
d

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

in
re

la
ti
o
n
 t

o
 t

h
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
m

u
s
e
u
m

s
e
rv

ic
e
,

it
is

n
o
t

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
re

le
v
a
n
t

fo
r

re
te

n
ti
o
n

a
s

a
n

L
P

I.
T

h
e

in
d
ic

a
to

r
is

 t
o

b
e
 t

ra
n
s
fe

rr
e
d
 t

o
 t

h
e

D
e
p
u
ty

C
h
ie

f 
E

xe
c
u
ti
v
e
's

O
ff
ic

e
 B

u
s
in

e
s
s
 P

la
n
,

w
h
e
re

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

w
ill

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t

o
b
e

m
o
n
it
o
re

d
.

O
ff

ic
e

 o
f 

T
h

e
 D

e
p

u
ty

 C
h

ie
f 

E
x

e
c

u
ti

v
e

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
D

E
F

IN
IT

IO
N

A
N

D
D

IR
E

C
T

IO
N

O
F

IM
P

R
O

V
IN

G
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

(H
IG

H
/L

O
W

)

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

L
O

C
A

L
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

S
2

0
0

9
/1

0

Page 27



L
P

I
4
9

D
e
re

k
M

a
c
n
a
b

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

p
u
p
ils

v
is

it
in

g
m

u
s
e
u
m

s
a
n
d

g
a
lle

ri
e
s

in

o
rg

a
n
is

e
d

s
c
h
o
o
l
g
ro

u
p
s
.

T
h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
e
n
c
o
u
ra

g
e
s

lo
c
a
l
a
u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
 t

o
m

a
k
e

m
u
s
e
u
m

s
m

o
re

a
tt

ra
c
ti
v
e
 t

o

lo
c
a
l
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
a
n
d
 t

o
m

a
xi

m
is

e
 t

h
e
ir

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
a
l

v
a
lu

e
(H

IG
H

).
Y

e
s

4
1
0
0
.0

0
3
1
3
3
.0

0
4
1
0
0
.0

0

T
h
is

L
P

I
w

ill
re

m
a
in

w
it
h
 t

h
e

s
a
m

e
 t

a
rg

e
t

a
s

2
0
0
8
/0

9
.

T
h
is

is

d
u
e
 t

o
 t

h
e

a
v
a
ila

b
ili

ty
o
f 
th

e
n
e
w

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n

w
e
b
s
it
e

a
n
d

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f
s
c
h
o
o
ls

p
re

fe
rr

in
g
 t

o
a
c
c
e
s
s
 t

h
is

re
s
o
u
rc

e
,

ra
th

e
r

th
a
n

v
is

it
in

p
e
rs

o
n
.

N
E

W
D

e
re

k
M

a
c
n
a
b

N
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

e
ld

e
rl
y

p
e
o
p
le

p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
n
g

in
p
h
y
s
ic

a
l

a
c
ti
v
it
y

a
s

p
a
rt

o
f 

th
e

'A
c
ti
v
e

H
e
a
lt
h
'
a
n
d

'N
e
w

H
o
ri
z
o
n
s
'

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
s
 t

o
a
d
d
re

s
s
 t

h
e

a
g
e
in

g
p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n

(H
IG

H
).

N
e
w

N
e
w

N
e
w

9
0
0
.0

0

T
h
e

p
u
rp

o
s
e

o
f 
th

is
p
ro

p
o
s
e
d

n
e
w

L
P

I
is

 t
o

m
o
n
it
o
r 

th
e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
c
o
n
tr

ib
u
ti
o
n
 t

o
w

a
rd

s
m

e
e
ti
n
g
 t

h
e

h
e
a
lt
h

a
n
d

w
e
ll

b
e
in

g
n
e
e
d
s

o
f 
th

e
a
g
e
in

g
p
o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
.

Page 28



C
U

R
R

E
N

T
L

P
I

R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

IB
IL

IT
Y

R
E

T
A

IN
A

S

L
P

I
2

0
0

8
/0

9
Q

u
a

rt
e

r 
3

P
ro

p
o

s
e

d
J

U
S

T
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
O

F
 R

E
S

P
O

N
S

IB
L

E
 D

IR
E

C
T

O
R

F
O

R
 R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
F

L
P

I

Y
E

S
 /

 N
O

T
a

rg
e

t
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

T
a

rg
e

t
J

U
S

T
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
O

F
 R

E
S

P
O

N
S

IB
L

E
 D

IR
E

C
T

O
R

F
O

R
 R

E
M

O
V

A
L

O
F

L
P

I

L
P

I
0

2
C

o
ll
e

e
n

O
'B

o
y
le

T
h

e
p

e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
o

f
li
c
e

n
c
e

a
p

p
li
c
a

ti
o

n
s

p
ro

c
e

s
s
e

d

w
it
h

in
s
e

t
p

e
ri

o
d

s
(a

)
p

re
m

is
e

s
:

3
0

d
a

y
s
,

(b
) 

te
m

p
o

ra
ry

e
v
e

n
t:

5
d

a
y
s

a
n

d
(c

)
h

a
c
k
n

e
y

c
a

rr
ia

g
e

/p
ri

v
a

te
h

ir
e

:
5

d
a

y
s
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
m

o
n

it
o

rs
 t

h
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il
's

e
ff

e
c
ti
ve

n
e

s
s

in
 t

h
e

d
e

te
rm

in
a

ti
o

n
o

f
s
ta

tu
to

ry
li
c
e

n
c
e

s

(H
IG

H
).

Y
e

s

(a
)

1
0

0
.0

0
(b

)

1
0

0
.0

0
(c

)

1
0

0
.0

0

(a
)

1
0

0
.0

0
(b

)

1
0

0
.0

0
(c

)
1

0
0

.0
0

(a
)

1
0

0
.0

0
(b

)

1
0

0
.0

0
(c

)

1
0

0
.0

0

T
h

e
s
e

L
P

Is
w

e
re

o
n

ly
a

d
o

p
te

d
b

y
 t

h
e

F
in

a
n

c
e

a
n

d
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

M
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

S
c
ru

ti
n

y

P
a

n
e

l
in

O
c
to

b
e

r
2

0
0

8
.

T
h

e
 t

a
rg

e
ts

s
e

t
in

O
c
to

b
e

r
2

0
0

8
h

a
ve

b
e

e
n

 t
a

k
e

n
 f

o
rw

a
rd

in
to

2
0

0
9

/1
0

a
s
 t

h
e

y
a

re
s
ti
ll

c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
s
ti
ll

a
p

p
ro

p
ri

a
te

.

L
P

I
2

5
C

o
ll
e

e
n

O
'B

o
y
le

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f 

to
p

-p
a

id
5

%
o

f
s
ta

ff
 w

h
o

a
re

 w
o

m
e

n
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
m

e
a

s
u

re
s

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 t

o
w

a
rd

s
 t

h
e

a
c
h

ie
ve

m
e

n
t

o
f

e
q

u
a

l
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
in

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t

(H
IG

H
).

N
o

2
9

.0
0

%
3

0
.4

1
%

N
/A

A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
p

ro
vi

d
e

s
im

p
o

rt
a

n
t

w
o

rk
fo

rc
e

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
a

n
d

 t
re

n
d

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 t

o

s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il
's

e
q

u
a

l
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
p

o
li
c
ie

s
,

it
is

n
o

t
c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
re

le
va

n
t 

fo
r

re
te

n
ti
o

n

a
s

a
n

L
P

I
a

n
d

w
il
l
b

e
 t

ra
n

s
fe

rr
e

d
 t

o
 t

h
e

 H
u

m
a

n
 R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 U

n
it

B
u

s
in

e
s
s

P
la

n
 f

o
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

,

w
h

e
re

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

w
il
l
c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o

b
e

m
o

n
it
o

re
d

.

L
P

I
2

6
C

o
ll
e

e
n

O
'B

o
y
le

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f 

to
p

5
%

o
f

s
ta

ff
 f

ro
m

a
n

e
th

n
ic

m
in

o
ri

ty
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
m

e
a

s
u

re
s

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 t

o
w

a
rd

s
 t

h
e

a
c
h

ie
ve

m
e

n
t

o
f

e
q

u
a

l
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
in

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t

(H
IG

H
).

N
o

3
.2

0
%

2
.8

9
%

N
/A

A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
p

ro
vi

d
e

s
im

p
o

rt
a

n
t

w
o

rk
fo

rc
e

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
a

n
d

 t
re

n
d

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 t

o

s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il
's

e
q

u
a

l
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
p

o
li
c
ie

s
,

it
is

n
o

t
c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
re

le
va

n
t 

fo
r

re
te

n
ti
o

n

a
s

a
n

L
P

I
a

n
d

w
il
l
b

e
 t

ra
n

s
fe

rr
e

d
 t

o
 t

h
e

 H
u

m
a

n
 R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 U

n
it

B
u

s
in

e
s
s

P
la

n
 f

o
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

,

w
h

e
re

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

w
il
l
c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o

b
e

m
o

n
it
o

re
d

.

L
P

I
2

7
C

o
ll
e

e
n

O
'B

o
y
le

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f 

to
p

5
%

o
f

s
ta

ff
 w

h
o

h
a

v
e

a
d

is
a

b
il
it
y
.

T
h

is

in
d

ic
a

to
r

m
e

a
s
u

re
s

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 t

o
w

a
rd

s
 t

h
e

a
c
h

ie
ve

m
e

n
t

o
f

e
q

u
a

l
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
in

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t
(H

IG
H

).

N
o

6
.2

5
%

5
.8

0
%

N
/A

A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
p

ro
vi

d
e

s
im

p
o

rt
a

n
t

w
o

rk
fo

rc
e

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
a

n
d

 t
re

n
d

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 t

o

s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il
's

e
q

u
a

l
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
p

o
li
c
ie

s
,

it
is

n
o

t
c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
re

le
va

n
t 

fo
r

re
te

n
ti
o

n

a
s

a
n

L
P

I
a

n
d

w
il
l
b

e
 t

ra
n

s
fe

rr
e

d
 t

o
 t

h
e

 H
u

m
a

n
 R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 U

n
it

B
u

s
in

e
s
s

P
la

n
 f

o
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

,

w
h

e
re

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

w
il
l
c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o

b
e

m
o

n
it
o

re
d

.

L
P

I
2

8
C

o
ll
e

e
n

O
'B

o
y
le

N
u

m
b

e
r

o
f 

w
o

rk
in

g
d

a
y
s

lo
s
t

d
u

e
 t

o
s
ic

k
n

e
s
s

a
b

s
e

n
c
e

(c
u

m
u

la
ti
v
e

).
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a

to
r

m
o

n
it
o

rs
 t

h
e

le
ve

l
o

f
s
ta

ff

s
ic

k
n

e
s
s

a
b

s
e

n
c
e

a
c
ro

s
s
 t

h
e

a
u

th
o

ri
ty

,
a

n
d

s
u

p
p

o
rt

s
 t

h
e

im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti
o

n
o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il
's

M
a

n
a

g
in

g
A

b
s
e

n
c
e

P
o

li
c
y

(L
O

W
).

Y
e

s
8

.0
0

7
.7

6
8

.0
0

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
is

re
q

u
ir

e
d

a
s
 t

h
e

u
p

w
a

rd
 t

re
n

d
in

 t
h

e
a

b
s
e

n
c
e

 f
ig

u
re

s
 f

o
r

2
0

0
8

/0
9

is
a

c
o

n
c
e

rn
 f

o
r

m
e

m
b

e
rs

a
n

d
o

ff
ic

e
rs

.
T

h
e

2
0

0
8

/0
9

 t
a

rg
e

t
s
h

o
u

ld
b

e
re

ta
in

e
d

in
o

rd
e

r 
to

re
fl
e

c
t

th
e

c
o

n
ti
n

u
in

g
 t

ri
g

g
e

r
le

ve
l
o

f
8

d
a

y
s

a
s

c
o

n
ta

in
e

d
w

it
h

in
 t

h
e

M
a

n
a

g
in

g
A

b
s
e

n
c
e

P
o

li
c
y
.

L
P

I
2

9
C

o
ll
e

e
n

O
'B

o
y
le

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f

e
m

p
lo

y
e

e
s

re
ti
ri

n
g

e
a

rl
y

(e
x
c
lu

d
in

g
il
l-

h
e

a
lt
h

)
a

s
a

p
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f 

th
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il
's

 w
o

rk
fo

rc
e

.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
m

o
n

it
o

rs
 t

h
e

le
ve

l
o

f
s
ta

ff
e

a
rl

y
re

ti
re

m
e

n
t

in
lo

c
a

l
a

u
th

o
ri

ti
e

s
(L

O
W

).
N

o
0

.0
0

%
0

.0
0

%
N

/A

A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
re

c
o

rd
s
 t

h
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il
's

p
ru

d
e

n
c
e

w
h

e
n

d
e

a
li
n

g
w

it
h

e
a

rl
y

re
ti
re

m
e

n
ts

,
it

is
n

o
t

c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
re

le
va

n
t 

fo
r

re
te

n
ti
o

n
a

s
a

n
L

P
I
a

n
d

w
il
l
b

e
 t

ra
n

s
fe

rr
e

d
 t

o

th
e

 H
u

m
a

n
 R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 U

n
it

B
u

s
in

e
s
s

P
la

n
 f

o
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

,
w

h
e

re
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

w
il
l
c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o

b
e

m
o

n
it
o

re
d

.

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

L
O

C
A

L
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

IN
D

IC
A

T
O

R
S

2
0

0
9

/1
0

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

S
u

p
p

o
rt

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 D

E
F

IN
IT

IO
N

A
N

D
 D

IR
E

C
T

IO
N

O
F

IM
P

R
O

V
IN

G
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

(H
IG

H
/L

O
W

)

Page 29



C
U

R
R

E
N

T
L

P
I

R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

IB
IL

IT
Y

R
E

T
A

IN
A

S

L
P

I
2

0
0

8
/0

9
Q

u
a

rt
e

r 
3

P
ro

p
o

s
e

d
J

U
S

T
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
O

F
 R

E
S

P
O

N
S

IB
L

E
 D

IR
E

C
T

O
R

F
O

R
 R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
F

L
P

I

Y
E

S
 /

 N
O

T
a

rg
e

t
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

T
a

rg
e

t
J

U
S

T
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
O

F
 R

E
S

P
O

N
S

IB
L

E
 D

IR
E

C
T

O
R

F
O

R
 R

E
M

O
V

A
L

O
F

L
P

I

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

L
O

C
A

L
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

IN
D

IC
A

T
O

R
S

2
0

0
9

/1
0

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

S
u

p
p

o
rt

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 D

E
F

IN
IT

IO
N

A
N

D
 D

IR
E

C
T

IO
N

O
F

IM
P

R
O

V
IN

G
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

(H
IG

H
/L

O
W

)

L
P

I
3

0
C

o
ll
e

e
n

O
'B

o
y
le

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f

e
m

p
lo

y
e

e
s

re
ti
ri

n
g

o
n

g
ro

u
n

d
s

o
f
il
l-

h
e

a
lt
h

,
a

s
a

p
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f 

th
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il
's

 w
o

rk
fo

rc
e

.
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a

to
r

m
o

n
it
o

rs
 t

h
e

le
ve

l
o

f
s
ta

ff
e

a
rl

y
re

ti
re

m
e

n
t

in

lo
c
a

l
a

u
th

o
ri

ti
e

s
(L

O
W

).
N

o
0

.0
0

0
.0

0
N

/A

A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
is

s
ti
ll

re
le

va
n

t
a

s
it

s
h

o
w

s
 t

h
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il

u
s
in

g
b

e
s
t

p
ra

c
ti
c
e

a
n

d

in
d

e
p

e
n

d
e

n
t

O
c
c
u

p
a

ti
o

n
a

l 
H

e
a

lt
h

a
d

vi
c
e

in
m

a
n

a
g

in
g

s
ta

ff
a

b
s
e

n
c
e

,
it

is
n

o
t

c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d

re
le

va
n

t 
fo

r
re

te
n

ti
o

n
a

s
a

n
L

P
I
a

n
d

w
il
l
b

e
 t

ra
n

s
fe

rr
e

d
 t

o
 t

h
e

 H
u

m
a

n
 R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 U

n
it

B
u

s
in

e
s
s

P
la

n
 f

o
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

,
w

h
e

re
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

w
il
l
c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o

b
e

m
o

n
it
o

re
d

.

L
P

I
3

1
C

o
ll
e

e
n

O
'B

o
y
le

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f 

th
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il
's

e
m

p
lo

y
e

e
s
 w

h
o

a
re

w
o

m
e

n
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
m

e
a

s
u

re
s

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 t

o
w

a
rd

s
 t

h
e

a
c
h

ie
v
e

m
e

n
t

o
f

e
q
u

a
l
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
in

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t

(H
IG

H
).

N
o

5
5

.0
0

%
5

5
.6

9
%

N
/A

A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
p

ro
vi

d
e

s
im

p
o

rt
a

n
t

w
o

rk
fo

rc
e

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
a

n
d

 t
re

n
d

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 t

o

s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il
's

e
q

u
a

l
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
p

o
li
c
ie

s
,

it
is

n
o

t
c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
re

le
va

n
t 

fo
r

re
te

n
ti
o

n

a
s

a
n

L
P

I
a

n
d

w
il
l
b

e
 t

ra
n

s
fe

rr
e

d
 t

o
 t

h
e

 H
u

m
a

n
 R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 U

n
it

B
u

s
in

e
s
s

P
la

n
 f

o
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

,

w
h

e
re

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

w
il
l
c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o

b
e

m
o

n
it
o

re
d

.

L
P

I
3

2
C

o
ll
e

e
n

O
'B

o
y
le

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f 

th
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il
's

e
m

p
lo

y
e

e
s
 w

it
h

a
d

is
a

b
il
it
y

.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
m

e
a

s
u

re
s

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 t

o
w

a
rd

s
 t

h
e

a
c
h

ie
ve

m
e

n
t

o
f

e
q

u
a

l
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
in

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t

(H
IG

H
).

N
o

8
.0

0
%

7
.7

4
%

N
/A

A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
p

ro
vi

d
e

s
im

p
o

rt
a

n
t

w
o

rk
fo

rc
e

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
a

n
d

 t
re

n
d

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 t

o

s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il
's

e
q

u
a

l
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
p

o
li
c
ie

s
,

it
is

n
o

t
c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
re

le
va

n
t 

fo
r

re
te

n
ti
o

n

a
s

a
n

L
P

I
a

n
d

w
il
l
b

e
 t

ra
n

s
fe

rr
e

d
 t

o
 t

h
e

 H
u

m
a

n
 R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 U

n
it

B
u

s
in

e
s
s

P
la

n
 f

o
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

,

w
h

e
re

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

w
il
l
c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o

b
e

m
o

n
it
o

re
d

.

L
P

I
3

3
C

o
ll
e

e
n

O
'B

o
y
le

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f 

th
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il
's

e
m

p
lo

y
e

e
s
 f

ro
m

e
th

n
ic

m
in

o
ri

ty
c
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
m

e
a

s
u

re
s

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 t

o
w

a
rd

s
 t

h
e

a
c
h

ie
ve

m
e

n
t

o
f

e
q

u
a

l

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it
ie

s
in

e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n

t
(H

IG
H

).
N

o
3

.1
0

%
3

.3
4

%
N

/A

A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
p

ro
vi

d
e

s
im

p
o

rt
a

n
t

w
o

rk
fo

rc
e

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
a

n
d

 t
re

n
d

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 t

o

s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il
's

e
q

u
a

l
o

p
p

o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
p

o
li
c
ie

s
,

it
is

n
o

t
c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
re

le
va

n
t 

fo
r

re
te

n
ti
o

n

a
s

a
n

L
P

I
a

n
d

w
il
l
b

e
 t

ra
n

s
fe

rr
e

d
 t

o
 t

h
e

 H
u

m
a

n
 R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 U

n
it

B
u

s
in

e
s
s

P
la

n
 f

o
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

,

w
h

e
re

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

w
il
l
c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o

b
e

m
o

n
it
o

re
d

.

L
P

I
3

4
(a

-d
)

C
o

ll
e

e
n

O
'B

o
y
le

P
ro

p
e

rt
y

c
o

n
d

it
io

n
(e

x
c
lu

d
in

g
h

o
u

s
in

g
p

ro
p

e
rt

y
):

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

g
ro

s
s

in
te

rn
a

l 
fl
o

o
r

s
p

a
c
e

in
c
o

n
d

it
io

n

c
a

te
g

o
ri

e
s

(a
)

G
o

o
d

,
(b

)
S

a
ti
s
fa

c
to

ry
,

(c
)

P
o

o
r

a
n

d
(d

)

B
a

d
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
m

e
a

s
u

re
s
 t

h
e

c
o

n
d

it
io

n
o

f
p

ro
p

e
rt

y

a
s
s
e

ts
 f

o
r 

th
e

ir
c
u

rr
e

n
t

u
s
e

a
n

d
p

ro
vi

d
e

s
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
o

n

th
e

o
ve

ra
ll

c
o

n
d

it
io

n
o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il
's

e
s
ta

te
(H

IG
H

).
N

o

a
)2

8
.0

0
%

b
)7

2
.0

0
%

c
)0

.0
0

%

d
)0

.0
0

%

Y
e

a
r

E
n

d
N

/A

A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
p

ro
vi

d
e

s
im

p
o

rt
a

n
t

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
a

n
d

 t
re

n
d

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 t

o
s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
h

e

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

o
f 

th
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il
's

p
ro

p
e

rt
y

a
s
s
e

ts
,

it
is

n
o

t
c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
re

le
va

n
t 

fo
r

re
te

n
ti
o

n
a

s

a
n

L
P

I.
T

h
e

in
d

ic
a

to
r

is
re

ta
in

e
d

in
 t

h
e

c
u

rr
e

n
t

A
s
s
e

t
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
P

la
n

,
w

h
e

re

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

w
il
l
c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o

b
e

m
o

n
it
o

re
d

.

Page 30



C
U

R
R

E
N

T
L

P
I

R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

IB
IL

IT
Y

R
E

T
A

IN
A

S

L
P

I
2

0
0

8
/0

9
Q

u
a

rt
e

r 
3

P
ro

p
o

s
e

d
J

U
S

T
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
O

F
 R

E
S

P
O

N
S

IB
L

E
 D

IR
E

C
T

O
R

F
O

R
 R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
F

L
P

I

Y
E

S
 /

 N
O

T
a

rg
e

t
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

T
a

rg
e

t
J

U
S

T
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
O

F
 R

E
S

P
O

N
S

IB
L

E
 D

IR
E

C
T

O
R

F
O

R
 R

E
M

O
V

A
L

O
F

L
P

I

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

L
O

C
A

L
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

IN
D

IC
A

T
O

R
S

2
0

0
9

/1
0

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

S
u

p
p

o
rt

S
e
rv

ic
e
s

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 D

E
F

IN
IT

IO
N

A
N

D
 D

IR
E

C
T

IO
N

O
F

IM
P

R
O

V
IN

G
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

(H
IG

H
/L

O
W

)

L
P

I
3

5
(a

-c
)

C
o

ll
e

e
n

O
'B

o
y
le

P
ro

p
e

rt
y

c
o

n
d

it
io

n
(e

x
c
lu

d
in

g
h

o
u

s
in

g
p

ro
p

e
rt

y
):

B
a

c
k
lo

g
o

f
m

a
in

te
n

a
n

c
e

b
y

c
o

s
t

in
p

ri
o

ri
ty

le
v
e

ls
(a

)

U
rg

e
n

t,
(b

)
E

s
s
e

n
ti
a

l
a

n
d

(c
) 

D
e

s
ir

a
b

le
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r

m
e

a
s
u

re
s
 t

h
e

c
o

n
d

it
io

n
o

f
p

ro
p

e
rt

y
a

s
s
e

ts
 f

o
r 

th
e

ir

c
u

rr
e

n
t

u
s
e

a
n

d
p

ro
vi

d
e

s
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
o

n
 t

h
e

o
ve

ra
ll

c
o

n
d

it
io

n
o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il
's

e
s
ta

te
(N

/A
).

N
o

a
)0

.0
0

%

b
)5

.0
0

%

c
)9

5
.0

0
%

Y
e

a
r

E
n

d
N

/A

A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
p

ro
vi

d
e

s
im

p
o

rt
a

n
t

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
a

n
d

 t
re

n
d

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 t

o
s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
h

e

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

o
f 

th
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il
's

p
ro

p
e

rt
y

a
s
s
e

ts
,

it
is

n
o

t
c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
re

le
va

n
t 

fo
r

re
te

n
ti
o

n
a

s

a
n

L
P

I.
T

h
e

in
d

ic
a

to
r

is
re

ta
in

e
d

in
 t

h
e

c
u

rr
e

n
t

A
s
s
e

t
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
P

la
n

,
w

h
e

re

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

w
il
l
c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o

b
e

m
o

n
it
o

re
d

.

L
P

I
3

6
(a

-c
)

C
o

ll
e

e
n

O
'B

o
y
le

In
te

rn
a

l
ra

te
o

f
re

tu
rn

 f
ro

m
n

o
n

-o
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
a

l
p

o
rt

fo
li
o

in

p
ro

p
e

rt
y

c
a

te
g

o
ri

e
s

(a
)

In
d

u
s
tr

ia
l,

(b
) 

R
e

ta
il

a
n

d
(c

)

A
g

ri
c
u

lt
u

ra
l.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
d

e
m

o
n

s
tr

a
te

s
 t

h
e

ju
s
ti
fi
c
a

ti
o

n
,

in
 f

in
a

n
c
ia

l 
te

rm
s
, 

fo
r

re
ta

in
in

g
a

n
o

n
-

o
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
a

l
in

ve
s
tm

e
n

t
p

o
rt

fo
li
o

(N
/A

).
N

o

a
)9

.0
0

%
b

)

1
1

.0
0

%
c
)

N
/A

Y
e

a
r

E
n

d
N

/A

A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
p

ro
vi

d
e

s
im

p
o

rt
a

n
t

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
a

n
d

 t
re

n
d

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 t

o
s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
h

e

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

o
f 

th
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il
's

p
ro

p
e

rt
y

a
s
s
e

ts
,

it
is

n
o

t
c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
re

le
va

n
t 

fo
r

re
te

n
ti
o

n
a

s

a
n

L
P

I.
T

h
e

in
d

ic
a

to
r

is
re

ta
in

e
d

in
 t

h
e

c
u

rr
e

n
t

A
s
s
e

t
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
P

la
n

,
w

h
e

re

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

w
il
l
c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o

b
e

m
o

n
it
o

re
d

.

L
P

I
3

7
(a

-c
)

C
o

ll
e

e
n

O
'B

o
y
le

T
o

ta
l
a

n
n

u
a

l
m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
c
o

s
ts

p
e

r
s
q
u

a
re

m
e

tr
e

 f
o

r

th
e

p
ro

p
e

rt
y

p
o

rt
fo

li
o

in
p

ro
p

e
rt

y
c
a

te
g

o
ri

e
s

(a
)

O
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
a

l,
(b

) 
N

o
n

-O
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
a

l
a

n
d

(c
)

O
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
a

l

a
n

d
 N

o
n

-O
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
a

l 
C

o
m

b
in

e
d

.
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a

to
r

m
e

a
s
u

re
s
 t

h
e

c
o

s
t

a
n

d
e

ff
ic

ie
n

c
y

o
f

p
ro

p
e

rt
y

s
e

rv
ic

e
s

p
ro

vi
s
io

n
(N

/A
).

N
o

a
)

£
4

.0
0

b
)

£
1

.5
0

c
)

£
5

.5
0

Y
e

a
r

E
n

d
N

/A

A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
p

ro
vi

d
e

s
im

p
o

rt
a

n
t

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
a

n
d

 t
re

n
d

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 t

o
s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
h

e

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

o
f 

th
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il
's

p
ro

p
e

rt
y

a
s
s
e

ts
,

it
is

n
o

t
c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
re

le
va

n
t 

fo
r

re
te

n
ti
o

n
a

s

a
n

L
P

I.
T

h
e

in
d

ic
a

to
r

is
re

ta
in

e
d

in
 t

h
e

c
u

rr
e

n
t

A
s
s
e

t
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
P

la
n

,
w

h
e

re

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

w
il
l
c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o

b
e

m
o

n
it
o

re
d

.

L
P

I
3

8
C

o
ll
e

e
n

O
'B

o
y
le

R
u

n
n

in
g

c
o

s
ts

a
n

d
c
a

rb
o

n
d

io
x
id

e
e

m
is

s
io

n
s

p
e

r

s
q
u

a
re

m
e

tr
e

g
ro

s
s

in
te

rn
a

l
a

re
a

:
(a

) 
R

e
p

a
ir

a
n

d

m
a

in
te

n
a

n
c
e

c
o

s
ts

,
(b

)
e

n
e

rg
y

c
o

s
ts

,
(c

) 
w

a
te

r
c
o

s
ts

a
n

d
(d

) 
C

O
²

e
m

is
s
io

n
s
 f

o
r

o
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
a

l
p

ro
p

e
rt

y
.

T
h

is

in
d

ic
a

to
r

m
e

a
s
u

re
s
 t

h
e

ru
n

n
in

g
c
o

s
ts

o
f 

th
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il
's

o
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
a

l
p

ro
p

e
rt

y
(L

O
W

).

N
o

N
o

t
S

e
t

Y
e

a
r

E
n

d
N

/A

A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
p

ro
vi

d
e

s
im

p
o

rt
a

n
t

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
a

n
d

 t
re

n
d

in
fo

rm
a

ti
o

n
 t

o
s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
h

e

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

o
f 

th
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il
's

p
ro

p
e

rt
y

a
s
s
e

ts
,

it
is

n
o

t
c
o

n
s
id

e
re

d
re

le
va

n
t 

fo
r

re
te

n
ti
o

n
a

s

a
n

L
P

I.
T

h
e

in
d

ic
a

to
r

is
re

ta
in

e
d

in
 t

h
e

c
u

rr
e

n
t

A
s
s
e

t
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
P

la
n

,
w

h
e

re

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

w
il
l
c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

 t
o

b
e

m
o

n
it
o

re
d

.

L
P

I
3

9
C

o
ll
e

e
n

O
'B

o
y
le

R
e

n
t

a
rr

e
a

rs
a

s
a

p
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f

re
n

ta
l
in

c
o

m
e

(e
x
c
lu

d
in

g
h

o
u

s
in

g
p

ro
p

e
rt

y
).

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
is

a

m
e

a
s
u

re
o

f
a

lo
c
a

l
a

u
th

o
ri

ty
's

re
n

t
c
o

ll
e

c
ti
o

n
a

n
d

a
rr

e
a

rs

re
c
o

ve
ry

s
e

rv
ic

e
 f

o
r

it
s

p
ro

p
e

rt
y

p
o

rt
fo

li
o

(L
O

W
).

Y
e

s
3

.5
0

%
Y

e
a

r
E

n
d

T
o

b
e

d
e

te
rm

in
e

d

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
a

s
s
is

ts
in

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
 t

h
e

c
o

ll
e

c
ti
o

n
o

f
im

p
o

rt
a

n
t

in
c
o

m
e

 t
o

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il
.

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

a
g

a
in

s
t 

th
is

in
d

ic
a

to
r

is
c
a

lc
u

la
te

d
a

t
y
e

a
r-

e
n

d
a

n
d

it
is

n
o

t
y
e

t
p

o
s
s
ib

le
 t

o

e
s
ta

b
li
s
h

a
 t

a
rg

e
t 

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

.
B

a
s
e

d
o

n
o

u
tt

u
rn

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 f
o

r
2

0
0

8
/0

9
, 

th
e

p
ro

p
o

s
e

d

ta
rg

e
t 

fo
r 

th
e

in
d

ic
a

to
r 

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

w
il
l
b

e
re

p
o

rt
e

d
in

 t
h

e
n

e
w

 f
in

a
n

c
ia

l
y
e

a
r.

L
P

I
4

0
C

o
ll
e

e
n

O
'B

o
y
le

T
h

e
o

c
c
u

p
a

ti
o

n
ra

te
o

f
c
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l
a

n
d

in
d

u
s
tr

ia
l

p
ro

p
e

rt
y
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
m

o
n

it
o

rs
 t

h
e

e
ff

e
c
ti
ve

n
e

s
s

o
f 

th
e

lo
c
a

l
a

u
th

o
ri

ty
's

a
s
s
e

t
m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
fu

n
c
ti
o

n
(H

IG
H

).

Y
e

s
0

.9
7

Y
e

a
r

E
n

d
T

o
b

e

d
e

te
rm

in
e

d

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
h

e
lp

s
 t

o
m

o
n

it
o

r 
th

e
vi

ta
li
ty

o
f 

th
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il
's

c
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l
a

n
d

in
d

u
s
tr

ia
l

p
o

rt
fo

li
o

.
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

a
g

a
in

s
t 

th
is

in
d

ic
a

to
r

is
c
a

lc
u

la
te

d
a

t
y
e

a
r-

e
n

d
a

n
d

it
is

n
o

t
y
e

t

p
o

s
s
ib

le
 t

o
e

s
ta

b
li
s
h

a
 t

a
rg

e
t 

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

.
B

a
s
e

d
o

n
o

u
tt

u
rn

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 f
o

r
2

0
0

8
/0

9
, 

th
e

p
ro

p
o

s
e

d
 t

a
rg

e
t 

fo
r 

th
e

in
d

ic
a

to
r 

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

w
il
l
b

e
re

p
o

rt
e

d
in

 t
h

e
n

e
w

 f
in

a
n

c
ia

l
y
e

a
r.

L
P

I
4

1
C

o
ll
e

e
n

O
'B

o
y
le

R
e

n
ta

l
v
a

lu
e

a
s

a
p

e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
y
ie

ld
o

f 
th

e
c
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l

a
n

d
in

d
u

s
tr

ia
l
p

o
rt

fo
li
o

a
s
s
e

t
v
a

lu
e

.
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a

to
r

m
o

n
it
o

rs
 t

h
e

e
ff

e
c
ti
ve

n
e

s
s

o
f 

th
e

lo
c
a

l
a

u
th

o
ri

ty
's

a
s
s
e

t

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t 

fu
n

c
ti
o

n
(H

IG
H

).
Y

e
s

9
.5

0
%

Y
e

a
r

E
n

d
T

o
b

e

d
e

te
rm

in
e

d

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
p

ro
vi

d
e

s
a

m
e

a
s
u

re
o

f 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il
's

a
b

il
it
y
 t

o
g

e
n

e
ra

te
in

c
o

m
e

 f
ro

m
it
s

c
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l
a

n
d

in
d

u
s
tr

ia
l
p

o
rt

fo
li
o

.
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

a
g

a
in

s
t 

th
is

in
d

ic
a

to
r

is
c
a

lc
u

la
te

d
a

t

y
e

a
r-

e
n

d
a

n
d

it
is

n
o

t
y
e

t
p

o
s
s
ib

le
 t

o
e

s
ta

b
li
s
h

a
 t

a
rg

e
t 

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

.
B

a
s
e

d
o

n
o

u
tt

u
rn

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 f
o

r
2

0
0

8
/0

9
, 

th
e

p
ro

p
o

s
e

d
 t

a
rg

e
t 

fo
r 

th
e

in
d

ic
a

to
r 

fo
r

2
0

0
9

/1
0

w
il
l
b

e
re

p
o

rt
e

d

in
 t

h
e

n
e

w
 f

in
a

n
c
ia

l
y
e

a
r.

Page 31



Page 32

This page is intentionally left blank



C
U

R
R

E
N

T
L

P
I

R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

IB
IL

IT
Y

R
E

T
A

IN
A

S

L
P

I
2

0
0

8
/0

9
Q

u
a

rt
e

r 
3

P
ro

p
o

s
e

d
J

U
S

T
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
O

F
 R

E
S

P
O

N
S

IB
L

E
 D

IR
E

C
T

O
R

F
O

R
 R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

A
T

IO
N

O
F

L
P

I

Y
E

S
 /

 N
O

T
a

rg
e

t
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

T
a

rg
e

t
J

U
S

T
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
O

F
 R

E
S

P
O

N
S

IB
L

E
 D

IR
E

C
T

O
R

F
O

R
 R

E
M

O
V

A
L

O
F

L
P

I

L
P

I
0

3
L

o
c
a

l
S

tr
a

te
g

ic

P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

/C
ri

m
e

a
n

d

D
is

o
rd

e
r 

R
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n

P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

P
e

o
p

le
 f

e
e

li
n

g
s
a

fe
o

u
ts

id
e

a
ft

e
r

d
a

rk
(L

A
A

In
d

ic
a

to
r)

.

T
h

e
d

e
ve

lo
p

m
e

n
t

o
f 

th
e

n
e

w
L

o
c
a

l
A

re
a

A
g

re
e

m
e

n
t

h
a

s

re
ve

a
le

d
 t

h
a

t
E

s
s
e

x
re

s
id

e
n

ts
d

is
p

la
y

d
is

p
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
a

te

le
ve

ls
o

f 
fe

a
r

o
f

c
ri

m
e

c
o

m
p

a
re

d
 t

o
a

c
tu

a
l
c
ri

m
e

s
ta

ti
s
ti
c
s
,
a

n
d

 t
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
m

e
a

s
u

re
s
 t

h
e

p
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f

p
e

o
p

le
s
a

y
in

g
 t

h
e

y
 f

e
e

l
s
a

fe
o

u
ts

id
e

a
ft

e
r

d
a

rk
(H

IG
H

).

N
o

5
3

.9
0

%
Y

e
a

r
E

n
d

(P
la

c
e

S
u

rv
e

y
)

N
/A

T
h

e
b

i-
a

n
n

u
a

l
P

la
c
e

S
u

rv
e

y
is

le
a

d
b

y
 t

h
e

E
p

p
in

g
F

o
re

s
t

L
o

c
a

l
S

tr
a

te
g

ic

P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

(L
S

P
).

Im
p

ro
ve

m
e

n
t

a
g

a
in

s
t 

th
e

re
s
u

lt
s

o
f 

th
e

 f
ir

s
t

s
u

rv
e

y

(2
0

0
8

/0
9

)
w

il
l
b

e
c
o

o
rd

in
a

te
d

b
y
 t

h
e

L
S

P
a

n
d

,
in

re
s
p

e
c
t

o
f 

th
is

in
d

ic
a

to
r,

b
y

th
e

E
p

p
in

g
F

o
re

s
t 

C
ri

m
e

a
n

d
 D

is
o

rd
e

r 
R

e
d

u
c
ti
o

n
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
.

L
P

I
4

2
J
o

h
n

G
il
b

e
rt

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f

h
o

u
s
e

h
o

ld
s

s
e

rv
e

d
b

y
a

k
e

rb
s
id

e

c
o

ll
e

c
ti
o

n
o

f
re

c
y
c
la

b
le

s
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
m

e
a

s
u

re
s
 t

h
e

e
a

s
e

w
it
h

w
h

ic
h

h
o

u
s
e

h
o

ld
e

rs
a

re
a

b
le

 t
o

re
c
y
c
le

(H
IG

H
).

N
o

9
5

.0
0

%
9

1
.3

5
N

/A

T
h

is
 f

o
rm

e
r

B
e

s
t

V
a

lu
e

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

In
d

ic
a

to
r

is
c
u

rr
e

n
tl
y

re
ta

in
e

d
a

s
a

n
L

P
I.

A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

it
re

m
a

in
s

im
p

o
rt

a
n

t 
th

a
t 

th
e

 C
o

u
n

c
il

s
tr

iv
e

s
 t

o
e

xp
a

n
d

 t
h

e
d

e
li
ve

ry

o
f 

th
e

re
c
y
c
li
n

g
s
e

rv
ic

e
 t

o
a

s
m

a
n

y
re

s
id

e
n

ts
'
h

o
u

s
e

h
o

ld
s

a
s

p
o

s
s
ib

le
, 

th
is

a
s
p

ir
a

ti
o

n
h

a
s

g
e

n
e

ra
ll
y

b
e

e
n

a
c
h

ie
ve

d
.

S
e

e
p

ro
p

o
s
e

d
n

e
w

L
P

I
b

e
lo

w
.

N
E

W
J
o

h
n

G
il
b

e
rt

Is
s
u

e
s

ra
is

e
d

a
n

d
c
o

m
p

la
in

ts
re

c
e

iv
e

d
b

y
 t

h
e

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

a
n

d
 N

e
ig

h
b

o
u

rh
o

o
d

s
T

e
a

m
(E

n
v
ir

o
 C

ri
m

e

a
n

d
 R

a
p

id
 R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e

) 
th

a
t

a
re

re
s
p

o
n

d
e

d
 t

o
 w

it
h

in
 t

h
re

e

w
o

rk
in

g
d

a
y
s

(H
IG

H
).

N
e

w
N

e
w

N
e

w
9

0
.0

0
%

D
e

a
li
n

g
w

it
h

'e
n

vi
ro

-c
ri

m
e

'
is

a
k
e

y
e

le
m

e
n

t
o

f 
th

e
c
o

rp
o

ra
te

'S
a

fe
r,

 C
le

a
n

e
r,

G
re

e
n

e
r'

(S
C

G
)

in
it
ia

ti
ve

.
T

h
e

 R
e

s
p

o
n

s
e

V
e

h
ic

le
is

a
k
e

y
c
o

m
p

o
n

e
n

t
o

f 
th

e

S
C

G
in

it
ia

ti
ve

a
n

d
,

a
s

s
u

c
h

, 
th

e
 t

im
e

 t
a

k
e

n
 t

o
re

s
p

o
n

d
 t

o
a

n
d

d
e

a
l
w

it
h

c
o

m
p

la
in

ts
a

n
d

is
s
u

e
s

is
o

f 
fu

n
d

a
m

e
n

ta
l
im

p
o

rt
a

n
c
e

.

N
E

W
J
o

h
n

G
il
b

e
rt

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti
o

n
o

f 
fo

rm
a

l
c
o

n
ta

in
e

ri
s
e

d
re

c
y
c
li
n

g

fa
c
il
it
ie

s
in

 f
la

ts
a

n
d

c
o

m
m

u
n

a
l
b

u
il
d

in
g

s
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r

is
in

te
n

d
e

d
 t

o
re

p
la

c
e

L
P

I
4

2
a

b
o

ve
(H

IG
H

).

N
e

w
N

/A
N

e
w

9
5

.0
0

%

T
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il

h
a

s
m

e
t 

th
e

 f
o

rm
e

r
B

e
s
t

V
a

lu
e

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

In
d

ic
a

to
r

(c
u

rr
e

n
tl
y

re
ta

in
e

d
a

s
L

P
I
4

2
) 

th
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
e

p
ro

vi
s
io

n
o

f
s
a

c
k
-b

a
s
e

d
 f

a
c
il
it
ie

s
 f

o
r

a
n

y

re
s
id

e
n

t
w

h
o

w
is

h
e

s
 t

o
p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
te

in
re

c
y
c
li
n

g
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r 
ta

k
e

s
 t

h
is

p
ro

c
e

s
s
 f

u
rt

h
e

r 
th

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

e
p

ro
vi

s
io

n
o

f 
fo

rm
a

li
s
e

d
c
o

n
ta

in
e

ri
s
e

d
s
o

lu
ti
o

n
s

o
n

a
s
it
e

b
a

s
is

.

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

L
O

C
A

L
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

IN
D

IC
A

T
O

R
S

2
0

0
9

/1
0

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

t
a
n

d
S

tr
e
e
t

S
c
e
n

e

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 D

E
F

IN
IT

IO
N

A
N

D
 D

IR
E

C
T

IO
N

O
F

IM
P

R
O

V
IN

G
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

(H
IG

H
/L

O
W

)

Page 33



Page 34

This page is intentionally left blank



C
U

R
R

E
N

T
L

P
I

R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

IB
IL

IT
Y

R
E

T
A

IN
A

S

L
P

I
2

0
0

8
/0

9
Q

u
a

rt
e

r 
3

P
ro

p
o

s
e

d
J
U

S
T

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

O
F

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

D
IR

E
C

T
O

R
F

O
R

R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
A

T
IO

N
O

F
L

P
I

Y
E

S
 /

 N
O

T
a

rg
e

t
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

T
a

rg
e

t
J
U

S
T

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

O
F

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

D
IR

E
C

T
O

R
F

O
R

R
E

M
O

V
A

L
O

F
L

P
I

L
P

I
1

3
B

o
b

P
a
lm

e
r

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f

in
v
o

ic
e

s
p

a
id

w
it
h

in
3

0
d

a
y
s

o
f

re
c
e

ip
t.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
e
n

c
o
u

ra
g

e
s
 t

h
e

p
ro

m
p

t
p

a
ym

e
n

t
o
f

u
n

d
is

p
u

te
d

in
vo

ic
e
s

fo
r

c
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l
g

o
o
d

s
a
n

d
s
e
rv

ic
e
s

(H
IG

H
).

Y
e
s

9
7

.0
0

%
9

8
.0

0
9

7
.0

0
%

It
is

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d

 t
o

k
e
e
p

 t
h

e
o
ve

ra
ll 

ta
rg

e
t

fo
r

3
0

d
a
ys

a
t

9
7

%
a
s

a
d

d
it
io

n
a
l
re

s
o
u

rc
e

h
a
s

b
e
e
n

a
llo

c
a
te

d
 t

o
e
n

s
u

re
lo

c
a
l
s
u

p
p

lie
rs

a
re

p
a
id

w
it
h

in
2

0
d

a
ys

.
A

h
ig

h
e
r 

ta
rg

e
t

c
o
u

ld

b
e

s
e
t

fo
r

a
ll

s
u

p
p

lie
rs

b
u

t 
th

is
c
o
u

ld
o
b

s
tr

u
c
t 

th
e

e
a
rl
ie

r
p

a
ym

e
n

t
o
f
lo

c
a
l
s
u

p
p

lie
rs

.

L
P

I
1

4
B

o
b

P
a
lm

e
r

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f

C
o

u
n

c
il

T
a

x
c
o

lle
c
te

d
(c

u
m

u
la

ti
v
e

).
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
m

o
n

it
o
rs

 t
h

e
ra

te
o
f
c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n

o
f
C

o
u

n
c
il

T
a
x

(H
IG

H
).

Y
e
s

9
8

.5
0

%
0

.8
0

9
8

.0
0

%

T
h

e
p

ro
p

o
s
e
d

 t
a
rg

e
t

fo
r 

th
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
fo

r
2

0
0

9
/1

0
h

a
s

b
e
e
n

re
vi

s
e
d

 t
o
 t

a
k
e

a
c
c
o
u

n
t

o
f

th
e

la
g

in
c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n

d
u

e
 t

o
 t

h
e
 I

T
s
ys

te
m

c
o
n

ve
rs

io
n

.
T

h
e

c
o
n

ve
rs

io
n

p
ro

c
e
s
s

d
e
la

ye
d

th
e

re
c
o
ve

ry
c
yc

le
fo

r 
th

e
fo

u
rt

h
q

u
a
rt

e
r

o
f
2

0
0

8
/0

9
a
n

d
 t

h
is

w
ill

h
a
ve

a
n

im
p

a
c
t

o
n

in
-

ye
a
r

c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n

a
s
 t

h
e
s
e

a
c
c
o
u

n
ts

a
re

m
a
n

a
g

e
d

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

e
p

ro
c
e
s
s
.

T
h

e
re

is
a
ls

o

c
o
n

c
e
rn

a
b

o
u

t
m

o
re

p
e
o
p

le
b

e
in

g
u

n
a
b

le
 t

o
p

a
y

in
 t

h
e

c
u

rr
e
n

t
e
c
o
n

o
m

ic
c
lim

a
te

.

L
P

I
1

5
B

o
b

P
a
lm

e
r

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f

n
o

n
-d

o
m

e
s
ti
c

ra
te

s
c
o

lle
c
te

d

(C
u

m
u

la
ti
v
e

).
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
m

o
n

it
o
rs

 t
h

e
ra

te
o
f
c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n

o
f
N

N
D

R
(H

IG
H

).

Y
e
s

9
9

.3
0

%
0

.8
2

9
8

.2
0

%

T
h

e
lo

w
e
r 

ta
rg

e
t

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d

fo
r 

th
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
fo

r
2

0
0

9
/1

0
fo

llo
w

s
 t

h
e

c
h

a
n

g
e

in

le
g

is
la

ti
o
n

o
n

e
m

p
ty

p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
,

w
h

ic
h

a
re

n
o
w

s
u

b
je

c
t 

to
a

fu
ll

c
h

a
rg

e
in

s
te

a
d

o
f
a

5
0

%
o
r

1
0

0
%

re
d

u
c
ti
o
n

.
T

h
is

w
a
s

in
te

n
d

e
d

 t
o

e
n

c
o
u

ra
g

e
o
w

n
e
rs

 t
o

b
ri
n

g
e
m

p
ty

p
re

m
is

e
s

b
a
c
k

in
to

u
s
e
,

b
u

t
is

u
n

lik
e
ly

 t
o

s
u

c
c
e
e
d

in
a

re
c
e
s
s
io

n
.

T
h

e
s
ta

te
o
f 
th

e

e
c
o
n

o
m

y
h

a
s

a
ls

o
m

a
d

e
it

m
o
re

d
iff

ic
u

lt
 t

o
c
o
lle

c
t

ra
te

s
g

e
n

e
ra

lly
.

L
P

I
1

6
B

o
b

P
a
lm

e
r

A
v
e

ra
g
e

 t
im

e
(d

a
y
s
) 

fo
r

p
ro

c
e

s
s
in

g
n

e
w

b
e

n
e

fi
t

c
la

im
s
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
m

o
n

it
o
rs

 t
h

e
a
d

m
in

is
tr

a
ti
o
n

o
f
H

o
u

s
in

g
a
n

d

C
o
u

n
c
il

T
a
x

B
e
n

e
fit

(L
O

W
).

Y
e
s

3
0

.0
0

4
1

.7
2

2
5

.0
0

T
h

e
a
m

b
it
io

u
s
 t

a
rg

e
t

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d

fo
r 

th
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
fo

r
2

0
0

9
/1

0
re

fle
c
ts

 t
h

e
d

e
te

rm
in

a
ti
o
n

o
f
s
e
rv

ic
e

m
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
to

o
ve

rc
o
m

e
 t

h
e

d
iff

ic
u

lt
ie

s
e
xp

e
ri
e
n

c
e
d

d
u

ri
n

g
2

0
0

8
/0

9
.

L
P

I
1

7
B

o
b

P
a
lm

e
r

A
v
e

ra
g
e

 t
im

e
(d

a
y
s
) 

fo
r

p
ro

c
e

s
s
in

g
n

o
ti
fi
c
a

ti
o

n
o

f

c
h

a
n

g
e

s
o

f
c
ir
c
u

m
s
ta

n
c
e

 f
o

r
b

e
n

e
fi
t

c
la

im
s
.

T
h

is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
m

o
n

it
o
rs

 t
h

e
a
d

m
in

is
tr

a
ti
o
n

o
f
H

o
u

s
in

g
a
n

d

C
o
u

n
c
il

T
a
x

B
e
n

e
fit

(L
O

W
).

Y
e
s

1
1

.0
0

1
2

.3
2

1
0

.0
0

T
h

e
a
m

b
it
io

u
s
 t

a
rg

e
t

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d

fo
r 

th
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
fo

r
2

0
0

9
/1

0
re

fle
c
ts

 t
h

e
d

e
te

rm
in

a
ti
o
n

o
f
s
e
rv

ic
e

m
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
to

o
ve

rc
o
m

e
 t

h
e

d
iff

ic
u

lt
ie

s
e
xp

e
ri
e
n

c
e
d

d
u

ri
n

g
2

0
0

8
/0

9
.

L
P

I
1

8
B

o
b

P
a
lm

e
r

A
c
c
u

ra
c
y

o
f

p
ro

c
e

s
s
in

g
b

e
n

e
fi
t

c
la

im
s
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r

m
o
n

it
o
rs

 t
h

e
a
d

m
in

is
tr

a
ti
o
n

o
f
H

o
u

s
in

g
a
n

d
C

o
u

n
c
il

T
a
x

B
e
n

e
fit

(H
IG

H
).

N
o

N
/A

N
/A

N
/A

T
h

e
F

in
a
n

c
e

a
n

d
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
S

c
ru

ti
n

y
P

a
n

e
l
h

a
s

p
re

vi
o
u

s
ly

a
g

re
e
d

 t
h

e

d
e
le

ti
o
n

o
f 
th

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r.

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 L
O

C
A

L
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

S
2

0
0

9
/1

0

F
in

a
n

c
e

a
n

d
 I

C
T

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
D

E
F

IN
IT

IO
N

A
N

D
D

IR
E

C
T

IO
N

O
F

IM
P

R
O

V
IN

G
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

(H
IG

H
/L

O
W

)

Page 35



P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 L
O

C
A

L
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

S
2

0
0

9
/1

0

F
in

a
n

c
e

a
n

d
 I

C
T

L
P

I
2

3
a

B
o
b

P
a
lm

e
r

C
a

p
it
a

l
P

ro
je

c
ts

'C
o

s
t'.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
m

e
a
s
u

re
s
 t

h
e

d
e
liv

e
ry

o
f
c
a
p

it
a
l
p

ro
je

c
ts

(L
O

W
).

N
o

7
5

.0
0

%
Y

e
a
r

E
n

d
N

/A

A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
p

ro
vi

d
e
s

im
p

o
rt

a
n

t
m

o
n

it
o
ri
n

g
a
n

d
 t

re
n

d
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

 t
o

s
u

p
p

o
rt

th
e

m
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
o
f 
th

e
C

o
u

n
c
il'

s
p

ro
p

e
rt

y
a
s
s
e
ts

,
it

is
n

o
t

c
o
n

s
id

e
re

d
re

le
va

n
t

fo
r

re
te

n
ti
o
n

a
s

a
n

L
P

I.
T

h
e

in
d

ic
a
to

r
is

re
ta

in
e
d

in
 t

h
e

c
u

rr
e
n

t
A

s
s
e
t

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
P

la
n

,

w
h

e
re

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

w
ill

c
o
n

ti
n

u
e
 t

o
b

e
m

o
n

it
o
re

d
.

L
P

I
2

3
b

B
o
b

P
a
lm

e
r

C
a

p
it
a

l
P

ro
je

c
ts

'T
im

e
p

re
d

ic
ta

b
ili

ty
'.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r

m
e
a
s
u

re
s
 t

h
e

d
e
liv

e
ry

o
f
c
a
p

it
a
l
p

ro
je

c
ts

(H
IG

H
).

N
o

5
0

.0
0

%
Y

e
a
r

E
n

d
N

/A

A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
p

ro
vi

d
e
s

im
p

o
rt

a
n

t
m

o
n

it
o
ri
n

g
a
n

d
 t

re
n

d
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

 t
o

s
u

p
p

o
rt

th
e

m
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
o
f 
th

e
C

o
u

n
c
il'

s
p

ro
p

e
rt

y
a
s
s
e
ts

,
it

is
n

o
t

c
o
n

s
id

e
re

d
re

le
va

n
t

fo
r

re
te

n
ti
o
n

a
s

a
n

L
P

I.
T

h
e

in
d

ic
a
to

r
is

re
ta

in
e
d

in
 t

h
e

c
u

rr
e
n

t
A

s
s
e
t

M
a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
P

la
n

,

w
h

e
re

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

w
ill

c
o
n

ti
n

u
e
 t

o
b

e
m

o
n

it
o
re

d
.

Page 36



C
U

R
R

E
N

T
 L

P
I

R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

IB
IL

IT
Y

R
E

T
A

IN
A

S

L
P

I
2
0
0
8
/0

9
Q

u
a
rt

e
r 

3
P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

J
U

S
T

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

O
F

 R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 D
IR

E
C

T
O

R
 F

O
R

 R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
A

T
IO

N
O

F

L
P

I

Y
E

S
 /

 N
O

T
a
rg

e
t

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

T
a
rg

e
t

J
U

S
T

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

O
F

 R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 D
IR

E
C

T
O

R
 F

O
R

 R
E

M
O

V
A

L
O

F
 L

P
I

L
P

I
0
4

A
la

n
H

a
ll

R
e
n
t 

c
o
lle

c
te

d
a
s

a
p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n

o
f

re
n
ts

o
w

e
d

o
n

h
o
u
s
in

g
re

v
e
n
u
e

a
c
c
o
u
n
t

d
w

e
lli

n
g
s
.

T
h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
is

a

m
e
a
s
u
re

o
f
a

lo
c
a
l
a
u
th

o
ri
ty

's
re

n
t 

c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n

a
n
d

a
rr

e
a
rs

re
c
o
v
e
ry

 s
e
rv

ic
e

(H
IG

H
).

Y
e
s

9
8
.8

1
%

9
8
.1

2
%

9
8
.8

0
%

T
h
is

is
a
n

im
p
o
rt

a
n
t

h
o
u
s
in

g
m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

in
d
ic

a
to

r

L
P

I
0
5

A
la

n
H

a
ll

A
v
e
ra

g
e

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

d
a
y
s
 t

o
re

-l
e
t 

C
o
u
n
c
il

d
w

e
lli

n
g
s
.

T
h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
m

e
a
s
u
re

s
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il'

s
h
o
u
s
in

g

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
,

a
s

it
is

im
p
o
rt

a
n
t 

th
a
t

p
ro

p
e
rt

y
re

-l
e
t 

ti
m

e
s

a
re

 k
e
p
t 

to
a

m
in

im
u
m

in
v
ie

w
o
f

c
u
rr

e
n
t

p
re

s
s
u
re

s
o
n
 s

o
c
ia

l
h
o
u
s
in

g
(L

O
W

).
Y

e
s

4
9
.0

0
4
7
.0

0
4
5
.0

0

T
h
is

is
a
n

im
p
o
rt

a
n
t

a
re

a
o
n

w
h
ic

h
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il

n
e
e
d
s
 t

o
im

p
ro

v
e
,

a
n
d

w
ill

b
e

a
 k

e
y

fo
c
u
s

fo
r 

th
e

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d

a
p
p
o
in

tm
e
n
t

o
f
a

p
ri
v
a
te

re
p
a
ir
s

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

c
o
n
tr

a
c
to

r

L
P

I
0
6

A
la

n
H

a
ll

C
u
rr

e
n
t

re
n
t

a
rr

e
a
rs

a
s

p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n

o
f
re

n
t

ro
ll.

T
h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
is

a
m

e
a
s
u
re

o
f 
th

e
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

o
f 
th

e

C
o
u
n
c
il'

s
h
o
u
s
in

g
re

n
t 

c
o
lle

c
ti
o
n

a
n
d

a
rr

e
a
rs

re
c
o
v
e
ry

s
e
rv

ic
e

(L
O

W
).

N
o

1
.6

0
%

2
.1

4
%

N
/A

T
h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
m

e
a
s
u
re

s
 s

im
ila

r
a
c
ti
v
it
y
 t

o
L
P

I
0
4

a
n
d
,

in
o
rd

e
r 

to
a
v
o
id

d
u
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
,

c
a
n
 t

h
e
re

fo
re

b
e

d
e
le

te
d
.

L
P

I
0
7

A
la

n
H

a
ll

E
m

e
rg

e
n
c
y

re
p
a
ir
s

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n

w
it
h
in

 t
a
rg

e
t 

ti
m

e

(w
it
h
in

2
4

h
o
u
rs

).
T

h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
is

a
m

e
a
s
u
re

o
f

h
o
u
s
in

g
m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
,

a
s

it
is

in
c
u
m

b
e
n
t

u
p
o
n
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il

a
s

la
n
d
lo

rd
 t

o
e
n
s
u
re

 t
h
e

u
p
k
e
e
p

o
f

it
s

d
w

e
lli

n
g
s

a
n
d
 t

h
a
t

re
p
a
ir
s

a
re

 c
o
m

p
le

te
d

o
n
 t

im
e

(H
IG

H
).

Y
e
s

9
9
.0

0
%

9
9
.0

0
%

9
9
.0

0
%

A
lt
h
o
u
g
h

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

a
g
a
in

s
t 

th
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
is

g
o
o
d
, 

th
is

w
ill

b
e

o
n
e

o
f 
th

e
 k

e
y

m
e
a
s
u
re

s
 t

h
a
t

w
ill

b
e

m
o
n
it
o
re

d
fo

r 
th

e
p
ro

p
o
s
e
d

a
p
p
o
in

tm
e
n
t

o
f
a

p
ri
v
a
te

re
p
a
ir
s

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

c
o
n
tr

a
c
to

r

L
P

I
0
8

A
la

n
H

a
ll

U
rg

e
n
t

re
p
a
ir
s

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n

w
it
h
in

 t
a
rg

e
t 

ti
m

e
(w

it
h
in

5

w
o
rk

in
g

d
a
y
s
).

T
h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
is

a
m

e
a
s
u
re

o
f
h
o
u
s
in

g

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
,

a
s

it
is

in
c
u
m

b
e
n
t

u
p
o
n
 t

h
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

a
s

la
n
d
lo

rd
 t

o
e
n
s
u
re

 t
h
e

u
p
k
e
e
p

o
f
it
s

d
w

e
lli

n
g
s

a
n
d
 t

h
a
t

re
p
a
ir
s

a
re

 c
o
m

p
le

te
d

o
n
 t

im
e

(H
IG

H
).

Y
e
s

9
5
.0

0
%

8
7
.0

0
%

9
5
.0

0
%

T
h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
m

e
a
s
u
re

s
a
n

im
p
o
rt

a
n
t

a
re

a
in

w
h
ic

h
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il

n
e
e
d
s
 t

o
im

p
ro

v
e
,

a
n
d

w
ill

b
e

a
 k

e
y

fo
c
u
s

fo
r 

th
e

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d

a
p
p
o
in

tm
e
n
t

o
f
a

p
ri
v
a
te

re
p
a
ir
s

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

c
o
n
tr

a
c
to

r

L
P

I
0
9

A
la

n
H

a
ll

R
o
u
ti
n
e

re
p
a
ir
s

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n

w
it
h
in

 t
a
rg

e
t 

ti
m

e
(w

it
h
in

6

w
e
e
k
s
).

T
h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
is

a
m

e
a
s
u
re

o
f
h
o
u
s
in

g

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
,

a
s

it
is

in
c
u
m

b
e
n
t

u
p
o
n
 t

h
e

C
o
u
n
c
il

a
s

la
n
d
lo

rd
 t

o
e
n
s
u
re

 t
h
e

u
p
k
e
e
p

o
f
it
s

d
w

e
lli

n
g
s

a
n
d
 t

h
a
t

re
p
a
ir
s

a
re

 c
o
m

p
le

te
d

o
n
 t

im
e

(H
IG

H
).

Y
e
s

9
5
%

(o
f
8

w
e
e
k

ta
rg

e
t)

8
5
%

(o
f
8

w
e
e
k

ta
rg

e
t)

9
0
%

(o
f
6

w
e
e
k

ta
rg

e
t)

T
h
is

is
a
n

im
p
o
rt

a
n
t

a
re

a
o
n

w
h
ic

h
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il

n
e
e
d
s
 t

o
im

p
ro

v
e
,

a
n
d

w
ill

b
e

a
 k

e
y

fo
c
u
s

fo
r 

th
e

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d

a
p
p
o
in

tm
e
n
t

o
f
a

p
ri
v
a
te

re
p
a
ir
s

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

c
o
n
tr

a
c
to

r.
T

h
e

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 t

a
rg

e
t

fo
r

2
0
0
9
/1

0
is

9
0
%

o
f
a

6
w

e
e
k
 t

a
rg

e
t

re
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t

im
e
, 

c
o
m

p
a
re

d
w

it
h

9
5
%

o
f
a
n

8
w

e
e
k

re
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t

im
e

in
2
0
0
8
/0

9
.

L
P

I
1
0

A
la

n
H

a
ll

S
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

w
it
h

re
p
a
ir
s
.

T
h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
is

a
m

e
a
s
u
re

o
f

h
o
u
s
in

g
m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
,

a
s

it
is

in
c
u
m

b
e
n
t

u
p
o
n
 t

h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il

a
s

la
n
d
lo

rd
 t

o
e
n
s
u
re

 t
h
e

u
p
k
e
e
p

o
f

it
s

d
w

e
lli

n
g
s

a
n
d
 t

h
a
t

re
p
a
ir
s

a
re

 c
o
m

p
le

te
d

o
n
 t

im
e

a
n
d
 t

o
 t

h
e
 s

a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n

o
f 
te

n
a
n
ts

(H
IG

H
).

Y
e
s

9
8
.0

0
%

9
8
.0

0
%

9
8
.0

0
%

A
lt
h
o
u
g
h

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

a
g
a
in

s
t 

th
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
is

g
o
o
d
, 

th
is

w
ill

b
e

o
n
e

o
f 
th

e
 k

e
y

m
e
a
s
u
re

s
 t

h
a
t

w
ill

b
e

m
o
n
it
o
re

d
fo

r 
th

e
p
ro

p
o
s
e
d

a
p
p
o
in

tm
e
n
t

o
f
a

p
ri
v
a
te

re
p
a
ir
s

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

c
o
n
tr

a
c
to

r

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

L
O

C
A

L
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

S
2
0
0
9
/1

0

H
o

u
s
in

g

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 D

E
F

IN
IT

IO
N

A
N

D
 D

IR
E

C
T

IO
N

O
F

IM
P

R
O

V
IN

G
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

(H
IG

H
/L

O
W

)

Page 37



C
U

R
R

E
N

T
 L

P
I

R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

IB
IL

IT
Y

R
E

T
A

IN
A

S

L
P

I
2
0
0
8
/0

9
Q

u
a
rt

e
r 

3
P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

J
U

S
T

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

O
F

 R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 D
IR

E
C

T
O

R
 F

O
R

 R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
A

T
IO

N
O

F

L
P

I

Y
E

S
 /

 N
O

T
a
rg

e
t

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

T
a
rg

e
t

J
U

S
T

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

O
F

 R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 D
IR

E
C

T
O

R
 F

O
R

 R
E

M
O

V
A

L
O

F
 L

P
I

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

L
O

C
A

L
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

S
2
0
0
9
/1

0

H
o

u
s
in

g

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 D

E
F

IN
IT

IO
N

A
N

D
 D

IR
E

C
T

IO
N

O
F

IM
P

R
O

V
IN

G
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

(H
IG

H
/L

O
W

)

L
P

I
1
1

A
la

n
H

a
ll

A
v
e
ra

g
e

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f 

s
in

g
le

h
o
m

e
le

s
s

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
p
la

c
e
d

in
b
e
d

a
n
d

b
re

a
k
fa

s
t

a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
.

T
h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r

m
o
n
it
o
rs

p
ro

g
re

s
s
 t

o
w

a
rd

s
re

d
u
c
in

g
 t

h
e

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
in

 t
e
m

p
o
ra

ry
a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

p
ro

v
id

e
d

u
n
d
e
r

h
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s

le
g
is

la
ti
o
n

(L
O

W
).

N
o

3
.5

0
2
.3

0
N

/A

D
u
e
 t

o
g
o
o
d

h
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s

p
re

v
e
n
ti
o
n

w
o
rk

, 
th

e
n
u
m

b
e
rs

fo
r 

th
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
a
re

n
o
w

q
u
it
e

lo
w

,
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t

h
e
re

w
ill

a
lw

a
y
s

b
e
 s

o
m

e
h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld

s
p
la

c
e
d

in
b
e
d

a
n
d

b
re

a
k
fa

s
t

a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

N
I

1
5
6

m
e
a
s
u
re

s
n
o
s
.

in
a
ll 

te
m

p
a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

L
P

I
1
2

A
la

n
H

a
ll

A
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

h
o
m

e
s

b
u
ilt

a
n
d

a
c
q
u
ir
e
d

(L
A

A
In

d
ic

a
to

r)
.

T
h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
p
ro

m
o
te

s
a
n

in
c
re

a
s
e

in
 t

h
e
 s

u
p
p
ly

o
f

a
ff
o
rd

a
b
le

h
o
u
s
in

g
 t

h
ro

u
g
h
 t

h
e

n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f
n
e
w

-b
u
ild

a
ff
o
rd

a
b
le

h
o
u
s
e
s

d
e
liv

e
re

d
.

(H
IG

H
).

N
o

4
5
.0

0
1
4
.0

0
N

/A

A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t

h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
is

 c
o
n
ta

in
e
d

in
 t

h
e

E
s
s
e
x

L
o
c
a
l
A

re
a

A
g
re

e
m

e
n
t

fo
r

2
0
0
8
-

2
0
1
1
,

it
d
u
p
lic

a
te

s
 t

h
e

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n

p
ro

v
id

e
d

b
y

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
In

d
ic

a
to

r
1
5
5

a
n
d
 c

a
n

th
e
re

fo
re

b
e

d
e
le

te
d
.

Page 38



C
U

R
R

E
N

T
L

P
I

R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

IB
IL

IT
Y

R
E

T
A

IN
A

S

L
P

I
2
0
0
8
/0

9
Q

u
a
rt

e
r 

3
P

ro
p

o
s
e
d

J
U

S
T

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

O
F

 R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 D
IR

E
C

T
O

R
F

O
R

R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
A

T
IO

N
O

F
L

P
I

Y
E

S
 /

 N
O

T
a
rg

e
t

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

T
a
rg

e
t

J
U

S
T

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

O
F

 R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

 D
IR

E
C

T
O

R
F

O
R

 R
E

M
O

V
A

L
O

F
L

P
I

L
P

I
4
3

J
o
h
n

P
re

s
to

n
C

o
m

p
le

ti
o
n

o
f

L
o
c
a
l 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

S
c
h
e
m

e
.

T
h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
e
n
s
u
re

s
 t
h
a
t

lo
c
a
l
p
la

n
n
in

g
a
u
th

o
ri

ti
e
s

p
la

n

e
ff
e
c
ti
ve

ly
 f
o
r 

th
e
ir

a
re

a
s

(N
/A

).

N
o

Y
e
s

Y
e
a
r

E
n
d

N
/A

T
h
is

 f
o
rm

e
r

B
e
s
t

V
a
lu

e
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

In
d
ic

a
to

r
re

la
te

d
 t
o
 t
h
e

o
ri

g
in

a
l

s
u
b
m

is
s
io

n
o
f

a
L
o
c
a
l
d
e
ve

lo
p
m

e
n
t

S
c
h
e
m

e
a
n
d

is
n
o
t 

th
e
re

fo
re

n
o
w

a
p
p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 f
o
r

re
te

n
ti
o
n

a
s

a
n

L
P

I.

K
P

I
L
P

I
4
4

J
o
h
n

P
re

s
to

n
A

c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
t

o
f

m
il
e
s
to

n
e
s

w
it
h
in

L
o
c
a
l 
D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t

S
c
h
e
m

e
.

T
h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
e
n
s
u
re

s
 t
h
a
t

lo
c
a
l
p
la

n
n
in

g

a
u
th

o
ri

ti
e
s

p
la

n
e
ff
e
c
ti
ve

ly
 f
o
r 

th
e
ir

a
re

a
s

(N
/A

).

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

N
o

Y
e
s

G
iv

e
n
 t
h
e

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
im

p
o
rt

a
n
c
e

o
f 
th

e
L
o
c
a
l 
D

e
ve

lo
p
m

e
n
t

F
ra

m
e
w

o
rk

, 
th

e

L
o
c
a
l 
D

e
ve

lo
p
m

e
n
t

S
c
h
e
m

e
m

il
e
s
to

n
e
s

c
o
n
tr

ib
u
te

 t
o
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il
's

c
o
rp

o
ra

te
p
ri

o
ri

ti
e
s
.

In
d
ic

a
to

r
d
e
fi
n
it
io

n
 t
o

re
fl
e
c
t

L
o
c
a
l 
D

e
ve

lo
p
m

e
n
t

S
c
h
e
m

e
m

il
e
s
to

n
e
s
 t
o

b
e

d
e
ve

lo
p
e
d

b
y 

th
e
 D

ir
e
c
to

r
o
f

P
la

n
n
in

g
a
n
d

E
c
o
n
o
m

ic
 D

e
ve

lo
p
m

e
n
t.

L
P

I
4
5

J
o
h
n

P
re

s
to

n
N

u
m

b
e
r

o
f

a
p
p
e
a
ls

a
ll
o
w

e
d

a
g
a
in

s
t

re
fu

s
a
l
o
f

p
la

n
n
in

g

a
p
p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
s
,

a
s

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 

th
e
 t

o
ta

l
n
u
m

b
e
r

o
f

a
p
p
e
a
ls

a
g
a
in

s
t

re
fu

s
a
ls

.
T

h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
s
e
e
k
s
 t

o
a
s
s
e
s
s

th
e

le
ve

ls
o
f

a
p
p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 t

h
a
t

m
a
y

b
e

re
fu

s
e
d

in
o
rd

e
r 

to

m
e
e
t

d
e
ve

lo
p
m

e
n
t

c
o
n
tr

o
l
p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 t
a
rg

e
ts

(L
O

W
).

Y
e
s

2
5
.0

0
%

3
6
.9

2
%

2
5
.0

9
%

T
h
e

p
ro

p
o
s
e
d
 t
a
rg

e
t 
fo

r 
th

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r 
fo

r
2
0
0
9
/1

0
re

p
re

s
e
n
ts

 t
h
e

m
o
s
t

u
p
 t
o

d
a
te

d
is

tr
ic

t 
to

p
q
u
a
rt

il
e

p
o
s
it
io

n
(2

0
0
7
/0

8
) 

fo
r 

th
is

 f
o
rm

e
r

B
e
s
t

V
a
lu

e

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

In
d
ic

a
to

r.

L
P

I
4
6

J
o
h
n

P
re

s
to

n
P

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

o
f 
C

o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n

A
re

a
s

w
it
h

u
p
 t
o

d
a
te

c
h
a
ra

c
te

r
a
p
p
ra

is
a
ls

.
T

h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
e
n
s
u
re

s
 t
h
a
t

p
la

n
n
in

g
d
e
c
is

io
n
s

a
re

b
a
s
e
d

o
n

in
fo

rm
e
d

u
n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
in

g

o
f 
th

e
s
p
e
c
ia

l
c
h
a
ra

c
te

r
a
n
d

n
e
e
d
s

o
f

lo
c
a
l
a
re

a
s

(H
IG

H
).

N
o

1
6
.0

0
%

1
6
.0

0
%

N
/A

A
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
is

in
d
ic

a
to

r
re

c
o
rd

s
 t
h
e
 C

o
u
n
c
il
's

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

o
f 
C

o
n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n

A
re

a
s
,

it
is

n
o
t

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
re

le
va

n
t 
fo

r
re

te
n
ti
o
n

a
s

a
n

L
P

I
a
n
d
 w

il
l
b
e

tr
a
n
s
fe

rr
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e

P
la

n
n
in

g
a
n
d

E
c
o
n
o
m

ic
 D

e
ve

lo
p
m

e
n
t

B
u
s
in

e
s
s

P
la

n
 f
o
r

2
0
0
9
/1

0
, 
w

h
e
re

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 w

il
l
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o

b
e

m
o
n
it
o
re

d
.

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

L
O

C
A

L
 P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

S
2

0
0

9
/1

0

P
la

n
n

in
g

&
E

c
o

n
o

m
ic

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
 D

E
F

IN
IT

IO
N

A
N

D
 D

IR
E

C
T

IO
N

O
F

IM
P

R
O

V
IN

G
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

(H
IG

H
/L

O
W

)

Page 39



Page 40

This page is intentionally left blank



C
U

R
R

E
N

T
L

P
I

R
E

F
E

R
E

N
C

E
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

IB
IL

IT
Y

R
E

T
A

IN
A

S

L
P

I
2

0
0

8
/0

9
Q

u
a

rt
e

r 
3

P
ro

p
o

s
e

d
J
U

S
T

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

O
F

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

D
IR

E
C

T
O

R
F

O
R

R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
A

T
IO

N
O

F
L

P
I

Y
E

S
 /

 N
O

T
a

rg
e

t
P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

T
a

rg
e

t
J
U

S
T

IF
IC

A
T

IO
N

O
F

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

D
IR

E
C

T
O

R
F

O
R

R
E

M
O

V
A

L
O

F
L

P
I

L
P

I
1

9
J
o
e

A
k
e
rm

a
n

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

o
f

a
u

d
it

p
ro

je
c
ts

c
o

m
p

le
te

d
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r

m
o
n

it
o
rs

 t
h

e
e
ff
e
c
ti
ve

n
e
s
s

o
f 
th

e
C

o
u

n
c
il'

s
 I

n
te

rn
a
l
A

u
d

it

fu
n

c
ti
o
n

(H
IG

H
).

N
o

9
0

.0
0

%
6

5
.0

0
%

9
0

.0
0

%

A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
re

c
o
rd

s
 t

h
e

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

o
f 
th

e
 I

n
te

rn
a
l
A

u
d

it
U

n
it
,

it

is
n

o
t

c
o
n

s
id

e
re

d
re

le
va

n
t

fo
r

re
te

n
ti
o
n

a
s

a
n

L
P

I
a
n

d
w

ill
b

e
 t

ra
n

s
fe

rr
e
d

 t
o

th
e
 I

n
te

rn
a
l
A

u
d

it
U

n
it

B
u

s
in

e
s
s

P
la

n
fo

r
2

0
0

9
/1

0
,

w
h

e
re

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

w
ill

c
o
n

ti
n

u
e
 t

o
b

e
m

o
n

it
o
re

d
b

y 
th

e
A

u
d

it
a
n

d
 G

o
ve

rn
a
n

c
e

C
o
m

m
it
te

e
.

L
P

I
2

0
J
o
e

A
k
e
rm

a
n

P
ro

d
u

c
ti
v
e

a
u

d
it
 t

im
e

.
T

h
is

in
d

ic
a
to

r
m

o
n

it
o
rs

 t
h

e

e
ff
e
c
ti
ve

n
e
s
s

o
f 
th

e
C

o
u

n
c
il'

s
 I

n
te

rn
a
l
A

u
d

it
fu

n
c
ti
o
n

(H
IG

H
).

N
o

7
0

.0
0

%
7

2
.0

0
%

7
2

.0
0

%

A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
re

c
o
rd

s
 t

h
e

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

o
f 
th

e
 I

n
te

rn
a
l
A

u
d

it
U

n
it
,

it

is
n

o
t

c
o
n

s
id

e
re

d
re

le
va

n
t

fo
r

re
te

n
ti
o
n

a
s

a
n

L
P

I
a
n

d
w

ill
b

e
 t

ra
n

s
fe

rr
e
d

 t
o

th
e
 I

n
te

rn
a
l
A

u
d

it
U

n
it

B
u

s
in

e
s
s

P
la

n
fo

r
2

0
0

9
/1

0
,

w
h

e
re

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

w
ill

c
o
n

ti
n

u
e
 t

o
b

e
m

o
n

it
o
re

d
b

y 
th

e
A

u
d

it
a
n

d
 G

o
ve

rn
a
n

c
e

C
o
m

m
it
te

e
.

L
P

I
2

1
J
o
e

A
k
e
rm

a
n

In
te

rn
a

l
A

u
d

it
c
u

s
to

m
e

r
s
a

ti
s
fa

c
ti
o

n
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r

m
o
n

it
o
rs

 t
h

e
e
ff
e
c
ti
ve

n
e
s
s

o
f 
th

e
C

o
u

n
c
il'

s
 I

n
te

rn
a
l
A

u
d

it

fu
n

c
ti
o
n

(H
IG

H
).

N
o

8
3

.0
0

%
8

7
.0

0
%

8
5

.0
0

%

A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
re

c
o
rd

s
 t

h
e

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

o
f 
th

e
 I

n
te

rn
a
l
A

u
d

it
U

n
it
,

it

is
n

o
t

c
o
n

s
id

e
re

d
re

le
va

n
t

fo
r

re
te

n
ti
o
n

a
s

a
n

L
P

I
a
n

d
w

ill
b

e
 t

ra
n

s
fe

rr
e
d

 t
o

th
e
 I

n
te

rn
a
l
A

u
d

it
U

n
it

B
u

s
in

e
s
s

P
la

n
fo

r
2

0
0

9
/1

0
,

w
h

e
re

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

w
ill

c
o
n

ti
n

u
e
 t

o
b

e
m

o
n

it
o
re

d
b

y 
th

e
A

u
d

it
a
n

d
 G

o
ve

rn
a
n

c
e

C
o
m

m
it
te

e
.

L
P

I
2

2
J
o
e

A
k
e
rm

a
n

A
v
e

ra
g
e

c
o

s
t

p
e

r
p

ro
d

u
c
ti
v
e

a
u

d
it

d
a

y
.

T
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r

m
o
n

it
o
rs

 t
h

e
e
ff
e
c
ti
ve

n
e
s
s

o
f 
th

e
C

o
u

n
c
il'

s
 I

n
te

rn
a
l
A

u
d

it

fu
n

c
ti
o
n

(H
IG

H
).

N
o

£
3

2
0

.0
0

£
2

9
8

.0
0

£
3

2
0

.0
0

A
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

is
in

d
ic

a
to

r
re

c
o
rd

s
 t

h
e

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

o
f 
th

e
 I

n
te

rn
a
l
A

u
d

it
U

n
it
,

it

is
n

o
t

c
o
n

s
id

e
re

d
re

le
va

n
t

fo
r

re
te

n
ti
o
n

a
s

a
n

L
P

I
a
n

d
w

ill
b

e
 t

ra
n

s
fe

rr
e
d

 t
o

th
e
 I

n
te

rn
a
l
A

u
d

it
U

n
it

B
u

s
in

e
s
s

P
la

n
fo

r
2

0
0

9
/1

0
,

w
h

e
re

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e

w
ill

c
o
n

ti
n

u
e
 t

o
b

e
m

o
n

it
o
re

d
b

y 
th

e
A

u
d

it
a
n

d
 G

o
ve

rn
a
n

c
e

C
o
m

m
it
te

e
.

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 L
O

C
A

L
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

 I
N

D
IC

A
T

O
R

S
2

0
0

9
/1

0

In
te

rn
a

l
A

u
d

it

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
D

E
F

IN
IT

IO
N

A
N

D
D

IR
E

C
T

IO
N

O
F

IM
P

R
O

V
IN

G
P

E
R

F
O

R
M

A
N

C
E

(H
IG

H
/L

O
W

)

Page 41



Page 42

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to: Finance and 
Performance Management Scrutiny 
Panel 
 
Date of Meeting: 31 March 2009 
 
 
 
Portfolio:  Finance and Performance Management 
 
Subject: Equality and Diversity - Progress Report 2008/09 
 
Officer contact for further information:  S. Tautz (01992 564180) 
 
Democratic Services Officer:  A. Hendry (01992 564246) 
 
 

 
Recommendations/Decisions Required: 
 
That current progress in relation to the development and implementation of the 
Council’s approach to Equality and Diversity issues be noted. 

 
Executive Summary: 
 
1. (Deputy Chief Executive) At its meeting on 28 March 2008, the Scrutiny Panel 
received a comprehensive report on the Council’s progress towards meeting its statutory 
equality duties.  
 
2. The Council’s Performance Improvement Unit (PIU) is responsible for equality and 
diversity issues. As a result of establishment vacancies and the transfer of staff resources out 
of the PIU following the corporate restructure in 2008, limited progress on equality and 
diversity issues was made over the first half of 2008/09. However, the PIU is now fully staffed 
and this report details current progress on various matters, and proposals for further action. 
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision: 
 
3. The Council is responsible for the development and coordination of an approach to its 
statutory equality duties, particularly in relation to the specific responsibility for promoting 
equality and diversity. 
 
Other Options for Action: 
 
4. None. The Council is statutorily required to carry out a range of equality and diversity 
activities. 
 
Report: 
 
Background: 
 
5. Local authorities and other public bodies are currently subject to a range of duties to 
promote equality and diversity in respect of the race, disability and gender equality strands. 
The Council has developed Equality Strategies for each of these areas, progress against 
which was considered by the Scrutiny Panel in March 2008. 
 

 
Agenda Item 7

Page 43



 

6. In the Queens Speech in December 2008, the Government announced a new 
Equality Bill which is due for introduction in 2010. The Equality Bill extends the range of 
groups covered by equalities legislation from race, disability and gender, to include age, 
faith/belief, sexual orientation, and gender reassignment. The Bill also introduced a single 
new equality duty for public bodies, which requires them to tackle discrimination, promote 
equality of opportunity and encourage good community relations across all seven equality 
strands.   
 
7. The Council currently measures its equality performance against the Equality 
Standard for Local Government (ESLG), through a local performance indicator. The Equality 
Standard is a tool designed to enable local authorities to mainstream equality and to ensure 
that discriminatory barriers are identified and removed. The ESLG has helped 
to make equality an integral part of service delivery. To reflect recent demographic changes 
and emerging thinking on the nature of equality and diversity, a revised equality standard 
known as the Equality Framework for Local Government (EFLG) is to be introduced in April 
2009.   
 
8. The EFLG takes account of criticisms that the former standard was too process 
orientated, unnecessarily resource intensive and therefore burdensome. The EFLG has 
simplified the measurement of equality performance by reducing the previous five levels of 
attainment down to three, encouraging a proportional approach, and favouring critical self-
assessment rather than external auditing. The EFLG also adopts the practical definition of 
equality as used in the 2007 Equality Review  of ‘equal life chances for all’. This overcomes 
the limitations of traditional interpretations of equality and focuses on what really matters to 
people, whilst recognising that people have different needs and that some may need more or 
different resources to have access to the same outcomes as others.  
 
9. The Council has currently attained Level 2 of the ESLG, which equates to the 
‘Emerging’ first level of the new framework.  Performance to date on the ESLG will 
automatically count towards the new EFLG, and the simplification of the standard has the 
potential to bring the next level of the standard, that of ‘Achieving’, within the grasp of the 
authority and work to progress this will take place accordingly. The local performance 
indicator that measures the Council’s equality performance has been retained for 2009/10, as 
part of a proposed suite of ‘key’ performance indicators for the year. 
 
Comprehensive Area Assessment and Use Of Resources 
 
10. Equality, diversity and human rights are likely to be integral to the Comprehensive 
Area Assessment process to be introduced from April 2009, informing ambitions for: 
 

(a) better outcomes for individuals, families and communities, including tackling 
unequal outcomes; 

(b) stronger and more cohesive communities; and 
(c) better understanding of the needs and aspirations of communities, including the 

differing needs and life chances of individuals, families and communities and the 
barriers to equality. 
 

11. Equality and diversity considerations are also mainstreamed in the methodology for 
the new Use Of Resources (UoR) assessment. From 2009/10 there are no explicit equality 
Key Lines of Enquiry (KLoE) for the assessment, and equality issues have been integrated 
across all themes. For example, there will be an expectation that the Council can 
demonstrate that it has taken account of the equalities profile of the local community when 
identifying priorities. 
 
12. The new UoR methodology requires that equality good practice is embedded and 
showing outcomes. Use of the EFLG should assist the Council to demonstrate relevant and 
robust evidence to support the equality aspects of both CAA and UoR. 

Page 44



 

 
Equality Impact Assessments 
 
13. In 2005 the Council implemented its Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) programme 
according to the requirement to monitor policies for any adverse impact on the promotion of 
race equality, as required by the Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000. In early 2008 work 
was done to ensure that EqIAs were undertaken for new policies or functions, and progress 
in this respect was also considered by the Scrutiny Panel in March 2008. 
 
14. EqIAs are required to be reviewed every three years, and a programme for this 
exercise is currently being developed. Although the timing for the repeat of the original EqIAs 
has slipped as a result of the capacity issues identified at paragraph 2 of this report, it is 
intended that this exercise will be taken forward over the next few months. 
 
15. In order to help meet the requirements of CAA, the EFLG and in order to address its 
responsibilities under the Equality Bill, the Council’s EqIA toolkit has been revised to ensure 
that it can provide maximum value. The revised toolkit has recently been agreed by the 
Corporate Executive Forum (CEF), and is currently being subject to CEF piloted in several 
service areas, prior to being rolled out across the authority. 
 
16. In line with the objective of mainstreaming equality into the authority and therefore 
service provision, the EqIA enlists the knowledge and input of staff actively engaged in 
providing services. Relevant staff training in the EqIA process is being provided, using 
service specific examples and performance orientated language to convey the message, 
followed up with active support and guidance in the completion of EqIAs. Arms length support 
is provided by  the PIU on an ongoing basis where necessary, however it is anticipated the 
intensive initial support would assist relevant staff to become knowledgeable and confident 
with the process in order to take it forward. 
 
Corporate Equalities Action Plan 
 
17. The Corporate Equalities Action Plan (CEAP) supports the Council’s existing key 
equality documents, including the EqIA process, and sets out key corporate equality 
responsibilities, objectives and actions. The CEAP was reviewed by the Scrutiny Panel in 
March 2008, and contains a number of actions that are being taken forward with the 
endorsement of CEF. 
 

(a) An Equalities Working Group (EWG) is to be established of Assistant Directors or 
managers from across the authority to provide support to Directors in 
implementing the CEAP and thereby progressing the overall equality agenda. The 
EWG will be engaged in the following equality activities: 

 
• ‘equality mapping’ the organisation’s plans and activities and identifying 

equality mainstreaming, for service improvement and CAA purposes; 
• monitoring and reviewing the EqIA cycle;  
• ensuring that EqIAs are subject to ‘reality checking’ with service users; 
• supporting staff with EqIA process; 
• promoting the message that diversity is everyone’s responsibility; 
• sharing best practice and community intelligence; and 
• providing support to an equality staff group. 

 
(b) Impact Assessments for proposed new policies The CEAP identifies the need to 

produce procedures and guidance to ensure impact assessments and formal 
consultation are carried out for relevant proposed policies and the outcomes 
reported before decisions are made and published. Formal requirements for the 
‘identification’ of equality implications on all Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny 
reports were introduced in May 2008. Case law (Kaur and Shah v London 

Page 45



 

Borough of Ealing - July 2008) has ruled that in relation to race, it is illegal to 
introduce a policy without having conducted an EqIA. With this in mind, the 
relevant Agenda Planning Groups lead by the Chief Executive and Deputy Chief 
Executive will in future take a more robust approach to ensuring that all reports 
identify relevant equality implications, and that EqIAs are undertaken prior to the 
consideration of reports by the Cabinet and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
and Panels where necessary; 

 
(c) An equalities staff group is to be created to provide an opportunity for minority or 

disadvantaged groups or members of staff across the seven equalities strands to 
engage with the Council as an employer in relation to equality issues. Staff 
equality focus groups have been identified as good practice, and the new UoR 
methodology requires the Council to demonstrate that it operates positive 
diversity practices, and receives positive feedback by staff on workforce diversity. 
The staff group will be a source of information and advice for the Council, helping 
to develop initiatives and to progress positive change, and will provide an 
opportunity for personal development for staff, making available a supportive 
environment to address issues of concern and to create opportunities to learn 
about the equalities agenda. Interest in participation in the focus group will be 
sought from amongst those staff who have declared themselves to have a 
disability, and the group would be supported as necessary by the PIU.  

 
Disability and Gender Equality Schemes  
 
18. A Consultative Group comprising local people with disabilities was formed in respect 
of the Council’s Disability Equality Scheme (DES)  met regularly throughout 2007/08 in order 
to progress the development of an action plan for the Scheme. As a result of the previous 
staffing position within the PIU, little progress has been made in this respect, although the 
Consultative Group was reconvened during early March 2009 to consider a draft action plan 
drawing together a number of issues raised to date. The terms of reference and membership 
for the group are to be revised in line with the proposed new legislation to embrace the new 
general duty, to facilitate the similar development of an action plan for the Council’s Gender 
Equality Scheme.   
 
Disability Awareness Day   
 
19. Every year December 3 is observed as the International Day of Disabled Persons, 
and is intended to promote understanding about disability issues and to increase awareness. 
Stemming from The United Nations General Assembly’s Programme on Disability, the 
programme aims to do a number of things including promoting equal access to employment, 
education, information, goods and services, and advancing the rights and protecting the 
dignity of persons with disabilities. In 2008 a number of local authorities around the eastern 
region hosted disability awareness raising events in conjunction with the voluntary sector, 
and it is intended to investigate the holding of a similar type of event for the Epping Forest 
District in 2009  to promote awareness and services for the disabled. Local recognition of the 
International Day of Disabled Persons could provide  the following advantages to the 
authority, its employees and the local community: 
 

(a) an opportunity to work towards meeting the General Duty under the new 
Equalities Bill; 

(b) an opportunity to promote council services for the disabled; 
(c) an opportunity to promote services within the voluntary sector for the disabled; 
(d) an opportunity to raise awareness within the council regarding disability equality; 
(e) an opportunity to promote the local government employer brand to under-

represented groups; and 
(f) to meet specific actions in the Corporate Equality Action Plan around improving 

the impact and accessibility of the Council’s services.   

Page 46



 

 
20. Further details of the Council’s for recognising the International Day of Disabled 
Persons in December 2009 will be published in the Members’ Bulletin. 
 
Equality Monitoring 
 
21. The Council is required to monitor its policies and functions for any adverse impact on 
the promotion of equality.  Effective monitoring is seen as key to keeping track of how a 
policy is working, for example how different groups are affected by a service, how often and 
why people use a service, experience enforcement or legal action, or make complaints, and 
the nature of those complaints. In addition to these service-related monitoring requirements, 
the Council is also under a statutory duty to monitor employment outcomes concerning the 
numbers of people who: 
 

(a) are in post, or who make applications for employment, training and promotion; 
(b) receive training or performance assessment procedures; 
(c) are involved in grievance procedures or subject to disciplinary procedures; and 
(d) cease employment with the authority. 

 
22. This employment monitoring information is to be published annually. In order to 
ensure consistency in the collection of monitoring information, and to comply with data 
protection requirements, the Council’s Equality Monitoring Policy covers each of the equality 
strands. It is sensible to combine the various monitoring requirements in one overall process 
in order to avoid duplication.   
 
23. The Council’s equality monitoring report was last considered by the Scrutiny Panel in 
March 2008. The next report is to be produced by the Director of Corporate Support Services 
in June 2009, to cover 2007/08 and 2008/09 and provide two full comparative data for two full 
years. The report will be made to the Scrutiny panel early in the next municipal year, and 
thereafter will be reported each April/May. 
 
24. The Scrutiny Panel is requested to note current progress in relation to the 
development and implementation of the Council’s approach to the range of Equality and 
Diversity issues set out in this report. 
 
Resource Implications: 
 
The achievement of the Council’s corporate equality responsibilities can currently be met 
from within existing resources.  
 
Legal and Governance Implications: 
 
There are no legal implications or Human Rights Act issues arising from this report, which 
seeks to ensure the development and coordination of a corporate approach to the Council’s 
statutory equality duties, particularly in relation to the specific responsibility for promoting 
equality and diversity. 
 
Safer, Cleaner and Greener Implications: 
 
There are no legal implications arising from this report in respect of the Council’s commitment 
to the Nottingham Declaration for climate change, the corporate Safer, Cleaner and Greener 
initiative, or any Crime and Disorder issues within the district. 
 
Consultation Undertaken: 
 

Page 47



 

The actions proposed in this report have been reviewed and considered by the Corporate 
Executive Forum and Management Board. The Council’s current approach to disability 
equality has been endorsed by the Disability Equality Consultative Group. 
 
Background Papers:  
 
None. 
 
Impact Assessments: 
 
There are no risk management issues arising from this report. This report seek to ensure the 
development and coordination of a corporate approach to the Council’s statutory equality 
duties, particularly in relation to the specific responsibility for promoting equality and diversity. 
 

Page 48



Report to the Finance and 
Performance Management Scrutiny 
Panel 
 
Date of meeting: 31 March 2009 
 
 
Portfolio: Finance and Performance Management 
 
Subject: Value For Money Strategy - Review 
 
Responsible Officer: S. Tautz (01992 564180) 
 
Democratic Services Officer:  G. Woodhall (01992 564470) 
 
 
 

Recommendations/Decisions Required: 
 
(1) That the Council’s draft Value For Money Strategy for 2009 to 2012 be 

adopted; and 
 
(2) That arrangements for annual scrutiny of the Council’s Value For Money 

performance be agreed. 
 

Executive Summary: 
 
1. (Deputy Chief Executive) The Council is required, under the Local Government Act 
1999, to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its 
functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness. The relationship between economy, efficiency and effectiveness is often 
defined as ‘Value For Money’. 
 
2. The Council’s Value For Money (VFM) Strategy was first adopted in 2006, and has 
recently been reviewed in light of the completion of the detailed ‘Value For Money Review’ of 
the Council’s costs and performance, which was undertaken during 2008 in light of the Audit 
Commission’s concern at the level of costs identified in its Use of Resources Judgement for 
2006/07. A presentation of the findings of the VFM Review was made to the Finance and 
Performance Management Cabinet Committee in August 2008 and a copy of the detailed 
report arising from the review has been placed on deposit in the Members’ Room. 
 
3. Scrutiny of the Council’s VFM performance has traditionally been undertaken by the 
Scrutiny Panel, through the development of a VFM analysis tool. The purpose of the analysis 
tool has been to provide an initial indicator of the relationship between the Council’s service 
costs and performance, in order to identify areas where further more detailed and targeted 
analysis or improvement activity may be required. 
 
Reasons for Proposed Decision: 
 
4. The VFM Strategy sets out the Council’s overall approach to ensuring the provision of 
value for money services. The revised version of the Strategy builds upon the work 
undertaken as part of the corporate VFM Review in 2008, as a result of which improvements 
are also proposed to existing arrangements for the annual scrutiny of the Council’s VFM 
performance. 
 
 

 Agenda Item 8

Page 49



Other Options for Action: 
 
5. None. The VFM Strategy seeks to bring together best practice within the Council in 
terms of the provision of value for money services. Failure to identify arrangements for 
securing and improving value for money might mean that opportunities for improvement are 
lost, and may adversely affect the reputation of the authority. 
 
Report: 
 
Value For Money Strategy 2009-2012 
 
6. The Council’s VFM Strategy was first adopted in 2006, and has recently been 
reviewed by the internal Use Of Resources Working Party. VFM is defined as the relationship 
between economy, efficiency and effectiveness (i.e. the value chain).   
 

• Economy is the price paid for what goes into providing a service – for example, 
the cost per hour of a refuse collector or the rent per square metre of 
accommodation; 

 
• Efficiency is a measure of productivity – how much you get out in relation to what 

is put in. For example, the number of Housing Benefit applications processed per 
worker per week or the number of Council homes maintained per £1,000 spent; 
and 

 
• Effectiveness is a measure of the impact achieved and can be quantitative or 

qualitative. For example, the number of planning applications processed 
(quantitative) and satisfaction levels amongst different sections of the community 
with street cleansing standards (qualitative). 

 
7. VFM is the perception of persons’ paying for goods and/or services that the goods 
and/or services received were worth the price paid. A number of factors may be considered 
in assessing whether VFM is achieved including suitability, quality, whole life costs and the 
relationship between economy, efficiency and effectiveness.  VFM is high when there is an 
optimum balance between economy, efficiency and effectiveness i.e. relatively low costs, 
high productivity and successful outcomes. 
 
8. The achievement of VFM is central to the delivery of quality services, improved 
outcomes for citizens and businesses and continuous improvement. The Comprehensive 
Performance Assessment process placed great emphasis on the delivery of VFM through the 
annual Use of Resources judgement, and VFM will be equally central to Comprehensive 
Area Assessment when introduced from 1 April 2009. 
 
9. The Council has had a robust and integrated approach to VFM for many years.  This 
has included a whole series of arrangements, including devolving budgets to service 
managers, comprehensive benchmarking and cost comparison arrangements, a track record 
of outsourcing/market testing, an effective Procurement Strategy and investment in new 
technology to deliver service improvements and efficiencies. In addition, a corporate ‘VFM 
Review’ was undertaken in 2008 through an analysis of information available from a variety 
of sources (including cost and performance data published by the Audit Commission), in 
order to reach an overall conclusion on the provision of VFM by the Council. An annual 
review of the Council’s VFM performance is also undertaken by the Finance and 
Performance Management Scrutiny Panel, and best practice suggests that the Council 
should articulate these activities in the form of a coherent and consistent strategy, to be 
applied across the Authority. 
 
10. The revised version of the Council’s VFM Strategy 2009-2012 is attached as 
Appendix 1 to this report, and sets out the framework for how VFM will be approached across 
the Council over the next three years.  The Strategy assigns responsibility for VFM across 
every level of the Authority, and incorporates an action plan, progress against which it is 

Page 50



intended will be monitored by the Committee on a six-monthly basis. The Strategy will also 
contain details of the Council’s key performance indicators for each year, a report on which 
will be found elsewhere on the agenda for this meeting. 
 
Value For Money Performance Analysis 
 
11. The VFM Analysis Tool was originally developed as a means to better understand the 
Council’s unit costs for individual services, and how they related to performance and 
compared with other organisations. The analysis has previously been recognised as a model 
of good practice by the Audit Commission.  
 
12. The purpose of the VFM analysis is only to provide an initial indicator of the 
relationship between service costs and performance, to identify areas where further more 
detailed and targeted analysis may be required, and which may then lead to a need for some 
form of corrective action or additional resource allocation. The first results of the analysis (for 
2006/07) were considered by a Sub-Group of the Scrutiny Panel, as a result of which a 
specific Task and Finish Panel was established to consider the provision of VFM within the 
Council’s planning functions. The Scrutiny Panel will be aware that the sub-group has also 
recently considered the analysis for 2007/08 and, as a result, progress reports in relation to a 
range of ongoing issues with major VFM implications will be found elsewhere on the agenda 
for this meeting.   
 
13. In order to improve these existing arrangements for the annual scrutiny of the 
Council’s VFM performance, it intended to refocus the analysis to concentrate in future on the 
use of the national cost and performance information published by the Audit Commission 
through its VFM Profile tool, supported by relevant commentaries from service directors. The 
corporate VFM Review adopted this approach to cost comparison, and proved useful in 
benchmarking the Council’s costs and performance with other authorities, as it is based on a 
consistent set of data returns across all local authorities. The VFM Profile Tool facilitates 
comparison with pre-defined and bespoke local authority groupings in order to determine 
relative ‘rankings’. It is intended that future analysis of the Council’s cost performance should 
focus on comparisons with its ‘nearest neighbour’ authorities (those that are geographically 
and demographically similar), and the district and borough councils across Essex, in order to 
gain meaningful benchmarking information.  
 
14. The Audit Commission’s VFM Profile tool is updated during late February/early March 
each year. In order for the Council’s own annual VFM analysis to be developed from this tool, 
it will be necessary to defer the Scrutiny Panel’s traditional consideration of the authority’s 
cost and performance information from late in each calendar year to the early part of each 
municipal year. However, this approach will allow members to receive more up to date cost 
information than has previously been the case. The Scrutiny Panel may therefore wish to 
agree arrangements for the consideration of the VFM analysis, and the composition of any 
necessary sub-group, as part of the formulation of its work programme for each year. 
 
15. The Scrutiny Panel is requested to agree the Council’s draft Value For Money 
Strategy for 2009 to 2012, and proposed arrangements for the annual scrutiny of the 
Council’s VFM performance. This report was considered by the Finance and Performance 
Management Cabinet Committee at its meeting on 16 March 2009, and the draft Value 
Strategy and proposed arrangements for future VFM scrutiny were agreed, subject to the 
concurrence of the Panel. 
 
Resource Implications: 
 
It is considered that the budget and human resource implications of the implementation of the 
draft  Value For Money Strategy and the on-going review of the Council’s Value For Money 
performance can be met from within existing resources. 
 
Legal and Governance Implications: 
 

Page 51



VFM is a key component of the annual Use of Resources judgement, and will be equally 
central to Comprehensive Area Assessment when introduced from 1 April 2009. 
Failure to identify arrangements for securing and improving value for money might mean that 
opportunities for improvement are lost, and may adversely affect the reputation of the 
authority. 
 
Safer, Cleaner and Greener Implications: 
 
There are no direct implications arising from the implementation of the draft  Value For 
Money Strategy and the on-going review of the Council’s Value For Money performance for 
the Council’s commitment to the Nottingham Declaration for climate change, the corporate 
Safer, Cleaner and Greener initiative, or any Crime and Disorder issues within the district.  
 
Consultation Undertaken: 
 
The draft Value For Money Strategy has been developed by the Use Of Resources Working 
Party and has been agreed by Management Board. Revised arrangements for the on-going 
review of the Council’s Value For Money performance have been considered by the Finance 
and Performance Management Scrutiny Panel. 
 
Background Papers:  
 
A copy of the Corporate VFM Review undertaken in 2008 has been placed on deposit in the 
Members’ Room. The achievement of VFM is central to the published frameworks for the Use 
of Resources and Comprehensive Area Assessments for 2009. 
 
Impact Assessments: 
 
The lack of a coherent approach to VFM could lead to wasteful effort or an under-
appreciation of the more strategic implications of taking forward particular initiatives.  
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 52



 

 1

 

 
 
 

 
 

VALUE FOR MONEY 
 

 STRATEGY 
 

2009-2012 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

March 2009 

Page 53



 

 2

CONTENTS 
 

1. BACKGROUND.................................................................................................. 3 
2. POLICY STATEMENT ....................................................................................... 4 
3. VALUE FOR MONEY REVIEW.......................................................................... 4 

(a)  Background ................................................................................................. 4 
(b) The Council’s ’s Approach To Council Tax Levels ............................................. 6 
(c) Future Focus Of The Council’s Value For Money Strategy................................ 6 

4.  THE COUNCIL’S VALUE FOR MONEY METHODOLOGIES ........................... 7 
5. MEMBER LEVEL RESPONSIBILITIES ............................................................. 7 

(a) Executive Functions ........................................................................................... 7 
(b) Overview and Scrutiny Functions....................................................................... 8 

6. OFFICER LEVEL RESPONSIBILITIES ............................................................. 8 
(a) Corporate Executive Forum ............................................................................... 8 
(b) Directors............................................................................................................. 9 
(c) The Performance Improvement Unit .................................................................. 9 
(d) Use of Resources Working Party ..................................................................... 10 

Appendix 1 - Action Plan For Value For Money Strategy.......................................... 11 
Appendix 2 - 2009/10 EFDC Key Performance Indicators & Targets ....................... 13 
Appendix 3 - Value For Money Glossary (Example for review) ................................ 14 
Appendix 4 - The Value For Money & Use Of Resources Framework...................... 16 
Appendix 5 - Value For Money, Use Of Resources & The Comprehensive Area 

Assessment (based upon Audit Commission “Use of Resources: 
Guidance for Auditors – Section 3 The Assessment Framework”)....... 17 

Page 54



 

 3

 
1. BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 It is important that the Council has a good understanding of the inter-

relationship between its performance and its costs, and that it uses this 
information to make sound strategic and policy decisions.  This Value for 
Money Strategy sets out the Council’s approach to ensuring that it provides 
value for money over the next three years (2009-2012). The action plan within 
the Strategy will be subject to a review of progress every six months by the 
Finance and Performance Management Scrutiny Panel. 

 
1.2 The Audit Commission undertakes an annual Use of Resources assessment to 

evaluate how well councils manage and use their financial resources.  The 
assessment focuses on the importance of having sound and strategic financial 
management to ensure that resources are available to support and improve 
Council services.  This assessment is based upon national ‘Key Lines of 
Enquiry’ (KLoEs), for which value for money is a key component.  This national 
framework provides the basis for the Council’s actions to improve its 
performance in relation to value for money.   

 
1.3 The Audit Commission has long defined value for money as the relationship 

between economy, efficiency and effectiveness and consideration of these 
aspects runs throughout the use of resources framework. Value for money is 
about obtaining the maximum benefit over time with the resources available. It 
is about achieving the right local balance between economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness or, spending less, spending well and spending wisely to achieve 
local priorities for services. Value for money is high when there is an optimum 
balance between all three elements. 

 

 
 
1.4 The Audit Commission also acknowledges that value for money can be 

achieved in different ways and is also specific to different contexts, and a key 
component in assessing effectiveness is relevance to and impact on local 
priorities. What is value for money for one organisation, or locality, may not be 
the same for another. 

 
1.5 The Council continues to operate a sound well-established approach to the 

achievement of value for money. In order to achieve value for money and to 
focus resources on its main priorities, the Council’s Vision and Medium Term 
Priorities are set out within the Council Plan 2006-2010. A new Council Plan 
will be developed during 2009/10 and will be subject to extensive consultation 
with local residents, partner organisations and other stakeholders. 

 
1.6 Further scope for linking resource allocation to priorities and performance and 

maximising value for money in the Council’s use of resources is achieved 
through the inclusion of value for money as a mandatory element of the 

Page 55



 

 4

Council’s business planning process. Value for money is required to be 
addressed as a standing item in all Business Plans, and the agenda of 
meetings of individual service management teams. 

 
2. POLICY STATEMENT 
 
2.1 The Council recognises its responsibilities as a custodian of public funds to 

strive for value for money in the delivery of services. 
 
2.2 The Council seeks to achieve and where possible improve value for money by 

ensuring that: 
 

• costs compare well with other local authorities, and where appropriate 
other sectors, allowing for external factors; 

• costs are commensurate with service delivery, performance and 
outcomes achieved; 

• costs reflect policy decisions; 
• performance in relation to value for money is monitored and reviewed; 
• efficiency gains are achieved; 
• full long term costs are taken into account when making procurement and 

other spending decisions; and 
• external funding and partnership opportunities are sought in order to 

enhance funding for the Council. 
 

2.3 This Value For Money Strategy sets out the Council’s approach to value for 
money and methodology in achieving these aims for the period from 2009 to 
2012, including the responsibilities of members and officers for the delivery of 
value for money. The Action Plan will be reviewed for each year of the 
Strategy, and progress in achieving specific actions and targets will be 
reviewed by the Finance and Performance Management Scrutiny Panel on a 
six-monthly basis.  

 
3. VALUE FOR MONEY REVIEW 2007/08 
 

(a) Background 
 
3.1 In order to reinforce the Council’s commitment to value for money, it completed 

a detailed corporate ‘Value For Money Review’ in 2008  to explore the facts that 
underlie the Audit Commission’s views on the provision of value for money by 
the Council, and in order to reach an overall conclusion on the Council’s 
provision of value for money. The purpose of the review was to : 

 
• examine and comment on the Council’s costs, as stated in the Audit 

Commission’s Value For Money Profile Tool, and how they compared 
with other local authorities in comparator groups; 

• examine and comment on the Council’s performance in respect of the 
performance data within the Audit Commission’s Value For Money Profile 
Tool; 

• reach conclusions on the Audit Commission’s value for money 
assessment of the Council; 

• consider the nature and limitations of the comparative data, particularly 
issues that could significantly affect the data and the Council’s ranking; 

Page 56



 

 5

• assess  Council Tax levels, considering how they compare with other 
councils and  the value for money provided by the Council from the 
‘citizen’s perspective’; and 

• consider the most cost effective future strategy to continuously improve 
value for money in terms of reduced costs, higher performance, or both. 

 
3.3 The Value For Money Review raised a number of concerns about the accuracy 

and reliability of comparing the Council’s costs with other councils using the 
Audit Commission’s Value For Money Profile Tool. Some of these concerns 
were: 

 
• a lack of commentary surrounding the data on the Commission’s website 

to assist councils in understanding it; 
• the use of net costs as a basis for the Commission’s data rather than 

gross expenditure, thereby distorting the true cost of council services by 
masking costs with income; 

• significant differences between local authorities in the comparator groups, 
which not only affected the overall net cost of services but also the 
comparisons between services; and 

• reliance by the Commission on poor quality data when making 
comparisons between, and rankings of, local authorities. 

 
3.4 As a result of the Value For Money Review, the Council concluded that: 
 

• it is very important that the Council strives to continuously improve value 
for money; 

• the Council agrees with the Audit Commission’s comment in 2008 that its 
overall net costs ‘are higher than comparable councils’, but that the 
Council’s perceived costs are artificially high for a number of reasons and 
the Council’s ranking is therefore adversely affected; 

• the Council knows where its costs are high compared with other councils 
and understands the reasons, but despite these higher costs the 
Council’s council tax is very low and will remain low for at least the next 
three years; 

• although the Council’s net costs are comparatively high, there is no need 
to reduce overall costs, rather, there is a need to improve the Council’s 
overall performance and the performance in specific areas; 

• the Council will continue to seek and implement efficiency gains and 
reduce costs at service levels where possible. It will then, rather than 
reduce overall costs, continue to re-invest the savings in a targeted way 
to help further improve performance; and 

• to justify the Council’s level of spend, and the re-investment of efficiency 
gains, the Council must improve its performance. 

 
3.5 These conclusions, mirror some of the key principles which underpin the Audit 

Commission’s approach to Value for Money (as stated in the 2008/09 Audit 
Commission “Use Of Resources: Guidance For Auditors – 3.5 Value For Money 
in the use of resources”), namely: 

 
• where possible to look at gross costs, as net costs can mask high 

spending if income is also high (balancing value for money for the whole 
community with charging levels that do not represent a barrier to people 
using the service); 

Page 57



 

 6

• costs alone do not reflect value – local context and quality of service need 
to be taken into account in arriving at value for money judgements; 

• numerical data on costs and performance provide a starting point for 
questions, not answers; and 

• value for money judgements need to allow for local policy choices (within 
a national policy context) about priorities and standards of service 

 
(b) The Council’s ’s Approach To Council Tax Levels 

 
3.7 The Council’s Medium-Term Financial Strategy is based on maintaining a 

policy of Council Tax increases of no more than 2.5% and remaining a low tax 
council. This means that the Council is able to deliver the full range of statutory 
services, and a wide range of discretionary ones, within a very low precept. 
This is possible due to the Council’s healthy financial position. 

 
3.8 There are a number of reasons why the Council is able to set such a 

comparatively low Council tax, including: 
 

• good financial management; 
• the Council’s debt free status; 
• relatively high exchequer support; 
• General Fund balances; and 
• Efficiency gains. 

 
3.9 It is the Council’s view that, from the perspective of the Council Tax payer, the 

Authority provides good value for money. 
 
3.10 As a result of the Council’s healthy financial position it does not have an 

immediate funding problem, however, there is a need in future years to identify 
savings. Therefore, there is no reason or need to reduce the Council’s overall 
net expenditure on services, in order to simply reduce the overall cost of 
General Fund services. 

 
(c) Future Focus Of The Council’s Value For Money Strategy 

 
3.11 It remains very important that the Council strives to continuously improve value 

for money. However, the Value For Money Review established that: 
 

• although the Council’s net costs are comparatively high (using the Audit 
Commission’s Value For Money Profile Tool), there is no need to reduce 
the Council’s overall costs; 

• however, there is a need to improve the Council’s overall performance 
and the performance in specific areas. 

 
3.12 The Council has concluded that it will continue to seek and implement efficiency 

gains, and reduce costs at service levels where possible. Rather than reduce 
costs, it will then continue to re-invest the savings in targeted ways, to help 
improve performance further. 

 
(d) Findings For Future Action 

 
3.13 Having regard to the Value For Money Review, on an annual basis the cost 

comparison information as derived from the Audit Commission’s Value For 

Page 58



 

 7

Money Profile Tool, is to be updated and reported, with any identifiable actions 
from the exercise to be monitored on an ongoing basis. 

 
4.  THE COUNCIL’S VALUE FOR MONEY METHODOLOGIES 
 
4.1 The Council has a number of different methodologies and structures that it 

employs to deliver and promote value for money. These include: 
 

• the Council has identified Use Of Resources, including value for money, 
as a key priority and has established a corporate officer-level Use Of 
Resources Working Party to progress the Council’s approach to Use Of 
Resources and to ensure value for money in the services the Council 
provides; 

• on an annual basis the Finance and Performance Management Scrutiny 
Panel compare and consider Council costs and performance, as detailed 
in the annual Value For Money Review, with a view to making 
recommendations for action to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 

• value for money, including benchmarking, is a key element of the 
Authority’s annual business planning process; 

• reviews by Overview and Scrutiny examine and challenge services and 
costs and include consideration of value for money issues;  

• the annual Internal Audit Plan ensures a variety of value for money 
related issues are addressed and all studies undertaken by the Internal 
Audit Unit incorporate a value for money element where appropriate; 

• the Council continues to allocate overheads as fully as possible and 
guidance produced by the Director of Finance and ICT assists in the 
allocation of overheads within individual service budgets; 

• the Council has joined the Essex Procurement Hub which has delivered a 
number of cost savings and is a cost effective way of obtaining expert 
procurement advice leading to increased value for money. Example areas 
of savings include the waste management contract, IT hardware, lease 
cars and the next stage will be the enforcing of the agreed framework of 
the Hub; 

• the Council has adopted a corporate level approach of separating ongoing 
General Fund expenditure (Continuing Services Budget (CSB)) from 
expenditure on one-off projects (District Development Fund (DDF)). 
Growth in the CSB or DDF is subject to a value for money evaluation 
process; 

• capturing annual efficiency gains identified under the Gershon regime; 
and 

• annual improvement plans are produced for each of the Council’s Key 
Performance Indicators which contain details of service costs wherever 
possible and feed into the annual development of Directorate Business 
Plans. 

 
5. MEMBER LEVEL RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

(a) Executive Functions 
 
5.1 On an annual basis, the Cabinet (and, as appropriate, Portfolio Holders) will:  
 

• determine relevant key priority objectives for the following year;  
• consider the outcomes of the annual consultation exercise of partners 

and stakeholders when setting spending levels for the budget; 

Page 59



 

 8

• allocate resources in line with agreed budget priorities, taking into 
account performance; 

• plan actions and allocate resources in the light of agreed priorities, 
identified community issues, deprivation indices and customer 
consultation feedback; 

• set targets for cost reductions and efficiency gains; 
• agree the annual efficiency plan; and 
• review any savings produced through the Procurement Strategy. 

 
5.2 The Cabinet will also review the allocation and use of resources on an on-going 

basis, especially when making policy decisions, to ensure value for money. 
 
5.3 The Finance and Performance Management Cabinet Committee may also 

undertake some of these functions as directed by Cabinet. 
 

(b)      Overview and Scrutiny Functions 
 
5.4 The role of Overview and Scrutiny will be to compare and assess performance 

and associated costs.   
 
5.5 On an annual basis the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will: 
 

• establish and monitor a work programme for the year ahead, which may 
include reviews of service areas via the Task and Finish Panel framework. 
One of the aims of any review undertaken will be to ensure that unit costs 
and performance are compared, scrutinised and improved where 
appropriate; and 

• receive reports on any reviews undertaken and make recommendations 
to Cabinet. 

 
5.6 The Finance and Performance Management Scrutiny Panel will carry out the 

scrutiny of the Council’s performance and costs, consisting of: 
 

• the monitoring of performance against Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
for each year, on a quarterly basis; 

• consideration of local unit cost information, compared to 
national/regional/local benchmarks and links to performance indicators 
where appropriate, through an annual cost and performance analysis; and 

• the monitoring of progress with key capital and revenue projects in terms 
of both financial and operational issues, on a quarterly basis. 

 
6. OFFICER LEVEL RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

(a) Corporate Executive Forum 
 
6.1 On a quarterly basis the Corporate Executive Forum (CEF) will carry out the 

following tasks: 
 

• scrutinise performance information for the KPIs; and 
• consider progress with the identified key capital projects, on both a 

budgetary and operational basis. 
 
6.2 On an annual basis CEF will: 
 

Page 60



 

 9

• scrutinise performance information for all performance indicators; 
• review the Council’s Value For Money framework by considering key unit 

cost and quality indicators (derived from the Audit Commission’s VFM 
Profile Tool), and the Council’s performance with reference to benchmark 
groups, surveys etc; and 

• provide a strategic steer for Members and officers on the development of 
the Council’s priorities and associated value for money/performance 
management considerations, taking into account quality and cost. 

 
6.3 On an ongoing basis CEF will: 
 

• through the Cabinet Agenda Planning Group, ensure that full and 
accurate cost information is included in reports to the Cabinet, to ensure 
the proper alignment of resources with priorities; and 

• ensure that appropriate processes are in place to secure high standards 
of data quality, as laid down in the Council’s Data Quality Strategy, which 
is reviewed annually. 

 
(b) Service Directors 

 
6.4 On a quarterly basis Directors will: 
 

• provide performance indicator information to CEF and members, 
reviewing performance and taking corrective action as necessary.  This 
will follow a critical review of all Performance Indicator information with 
service managers in order to agree any required action to be taken as a 
result; 

• review their budget expenditure, ensuring that resources are prioritised to 
key areas, and that budgetary performance is understood; 

• identify and quantify any efficiency gains that have arisen in the previous 
quarter and identify any opportunities for future efficiency gains; and 

• review progress with capital programme projects. 
 
6.5 On an annual basis Directors will: 
 

• review and update appropriate benchmarking data to determine whether 
their service provides value for money in terms of unit costs (against the 
Council’s overall approach to value for money and benchmarking); 

• take any necessary corrective action in the light of this; 
• ensure that all opportunities to review cost data on a local, regional and 

national basis are identified e.g. by joining relevant benchmarking clubs; 
and 

• critically, review the Audit Commission’s cost profiles for the Council, and 
their comparisons with all district councils, and investigate further any 
areas where unit costs appear to be inappropriate or unreasonably high. 

 
(c) Performance Improvement Unit 

 
6.6 The Performance Improvement Unit will carry out the following functions: 
 

• the maintenance of the ‘Ten Performance Manager’ performance 
management system;  

• co-ordination of the collection and reporting of performance indicator 
data; 

Page 61



 

 10

• co-ordination of the collection and reporting of unit cost data, where 
appropriate linking this to KPI data; and 

• periodic review of the Value For Money Strategy and the six-monthly 
review and annual update of the action plan. 

 
(d) Use of Resources Working Party   

 
6.7 The Working Party will carry out the following functions: 

 
• the maintenance, development and progression of the Council’s approach 

to the annual Use of Resources Assessment, ensuring that value for 
money is a key element throughout the services that the Council provides; 

• the review of annual Use Of Resources KLoEs and the identification of 
appropriate actions; 

• the consideration of all related value for money issues. 

Page 62



 

 
11

A
pp

en
di

x 
1 

- V
al

ue
 F

or
 M

on
ey

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
A

ct
io

n 
Pl

an
 2

00
9/

10
 

  
A

ct
io

n 
Ta

rg
et

 
R

es
po

ns
ib

le
 

O
ffi

ce
r(

s)
 

Ti
m

es
ca

le
s 

O
ut

co
m

e 

E
st

ab
lis

h 
a 

re
vi

se
d 

se
t o

f K
ey

 P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
In

di
ca

to
rs

 b
as

ed
 a

ro
un

d 
th

e 
ne

w
 s

et
 o

f N
at

io
na

l 
In

di
ca

to
rs

 a
nd

 a
 re

vi
ew

 o
f t

he
 C

ou
nc

il’
s 

ex
is

tin
g 

lo
ca

l p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 in
di

ca
to

rs
. 

1 
A

pr
il 

20
09

 
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
B

oa
rd

, 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t 

U
ni

t 

R
ev

is
ed

 K
P

I s
et

 
to

 b
e 

in
 p

la
ce

 
fro

m
 1

 A
pr

il 
20

09
 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 im
pr

ov
em

en
t 

ag
ai

ns
t a

 w
id

er
 ra

ng
e 

of
 p

rio
rit

y 
ar

ea
s 

th
an

 h
as

 p
re

vi
ou

sl
y 

be
en

 
ac

hi
ev

ed
. 

A
ch

ie
ve

 y
ea

r-
on

-y
ea

r i
m

pr
ov

em
en

t a
ga

in
st

 4
 o

ut
 

of
 e

ve
ry

 5
 a

gr
ee

d 
K

ey
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 In

di
ca

to
rs

 
(r

ef
er

 to
 A

pp
en

di
x 

2 
fo

r d
et

ai
ls

 o
f a

gr
ee

d 
K

P
Is

) 

31
 M

ar
ch

 2
01

0 
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
B

oa
rd

 
O

ut
tu

rn
 

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
 to

 
be

 re
po

rte
d 

fro
m

 A
pr

il 
20

10
 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 im
pr

ov
em

en
t 

ag
ai

ns
t a

 w
id

er
 ra

ng
e 

of
 p

rio
rit

y 
ar

ea
s 

th
an

 h
as

 p
re

vi
ou

sl
y 

be
en

 
ac

hi
ev

ed
. 

U
nd

er
ta

ke
 a

n 
an

nu
al

 V
FM

 c
os

t a
nd

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
re

vi
ew

, w
ith

 d
ire

ct
or

s 
to

 re
po

rt 
re

as
on

s 
fo

r c
os

t 
po

si
tio

n 
an

d 
pr

op
os

al
s 

fo
r i

m
pr

ov
em

en
t. 

  

A
pr

il 
20

10
 

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

B
oa

rd
, U

se
 o

f 
R

es
ou

rc
es

 
W

or
ki

ng
 P

ar
ty

, 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t 

U
ni

t 

C
om

pl
et

io
n 

of
 

V
FM

 c
os

t a
nd

 
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

 
re

vi
ew

 
de

pe
nd

en
t o

n 
pu

bl
ic

at
io

n 
of

 
V

FM
 P

ro
fil

e 
To

ol
 b

y 
th

e 
A

ud
it 

C
om

m
is

si
on

 

Th
e 

us
e 

of
 a

 c
on

si
st

en
t s

et
 o

f 
lo

ca
l a

ut
ho

rit
y 

da
ta

 to
 fa

ci
lit

at
e 

co
ns

is
te

nt
 b

en
ch

m
ar

ki
ng

 in
 

te
rm

s 
of

 c
os

t a
nd

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

. 

R
ol

lo
ut

 a
nd

 im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
of

 th
e 

B
us

in
es

s 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 P

la
nn

in
g 

Fr
am

ew
or

k.
 

1 
A

pr
il 

20
10

 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t 

U
ni

t, 
H

um
an

 
R

es
ou

rc
es

 U
ni

t 

Th
e 

C
ou

nc
il’

s 
ne

w
 B

us
in

es
s 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
P

la
nn

in
g 

Fr
am

ew
or

k 
is

 

Th
e 

al
ig

nm
en

t o
f b

us
in

es
s,

 
bu

dg
et

, w
or

kf
or

ce
 p

la
nn

in
g 

an
d 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t p

ro
ce

ss
es

 in
to

 a
 

cl
ea

r f
ra

m
ew

or
k 

to
 e

na
bl

e 
fo

cu
s 

on
 p

rio
rit

ie
s.

 

Page 63



 

 
12

be
in

g 
im

pl
em

en
te

d 
ac

ro
ss

 2
00

9/
10

 

 

R
ev

ie
w

 a
nd

 m
on

ito
r p

ro
gr

es
s 

ag
ai

ns
t t

he
 k

ey
 

V
FM

 a
re

as
 id

en
tif

ie
d 

by
 th

e 
Fi

na
nc

e 
an

d 
P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 M

an
ag

em
en

t S
cr

ut
in

y 
P

an
el

 a
s 

pa
rt 

of
 th

e 
co

ns
id

er
at

io
n 

of
 th

e 
V

FM
 c

os
t a

nd
 

pe
rfo

rm
an

ce
 a

na
ly

si
s 

fo
r 2

00
7/

08
 (B

en
ef

its
 

A
dm

in
, G

re
en

 W
as

te
 C

ol
le

ct
io

n,
 H

ou
si

ng
 R

ep
ai

r 
R

es
po

ns
e 

Ti
m

es
) 

31
 M

ar
ch

 2
00

9 
D

ire
ct

or
 o

f 
Fi

na
nc

e 
an

d 
IC

T,
 D

ire
ct

or
 o

f 
E

nv
iro

nm
en

t 
an

d 
S

tre
et

 
S

ce
ne

, D
ire

ct
or

 
of

 H
ou

si
ng

 

R
ep

or
ts

 to
 b

e 
m

ad
e 

to
 

Fi
na

nc
e 

an
d 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
M

an
ag

em
en

t 
S

cr
ut

in
y 

P
an

el
 

m
ee

tin
g 

on
 3

1 
M

ar
ch

 2
00

9 

S
ec

ur
in

g 
pr

og
re

ss
 a

ga
in

st
 th

e 
ke

y 
V

FM
 a

re
as

 id
en

tif
ie

d 
by

 th
e 

V
FM

 c
os

t a
nd

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
an

al
ys

is
 fo

r 2
00

7/
08

. 

               

Page 64



 

 13

Appendix 2 - Key Performance Indicators 2009/10 (to be populated) 
 

NI / KPI Ref Description 2008/09 
Actual 

2009/10 
Target 

2009/10 
Target  
+/- vs 

08/09 Actual 
% 

001     
002     
003     
004     
005     
006     
007     
008     
009     
010     
011     
012     
013     
014     
015     
016     
017     
018     
019     
020     
021     
022     
023     
024     
025     
026     
027     
028     
029     
030     
031     
032     
033     
034     
035     
036     
037     
038     
039     
040     
041     
042     
043     
044     
045     
046     
047     
048     
049     
050     

Page 65



 

 14

Appendix 3 - Value For Money Glossary 
 
Benchmarking: Comparing costs, performance indicators and processes for a 
service with those of an equivalent service, e.g. Housemark benchmarking club 
which compares across a range of housing management functions 
 
Business Plans: Business plans provide details about the Council’s key priority 
objectives as well as  each directorate or service’s strategic and operational 
objectives for the year ahead and how these will be achieved. Business plans 
provide a link between corporate objectives at the strategic level and the individual 
personal action plans of staff. 
 
Comparator Performance / Comparative Costs / Comparator Groups: The Audit 
Commission’s VFM Profile Tool enables a local authority to compare its costs and 
performance with a range of groups or clusters of authorities. The following 
comparators are considered most useful in comparing the Council’s costs: 
 

- Nearest Neighbours – those Districts (not London Boroughs) which are 
deemed to be similar to the Council, and generally lie just inside or outside 
the M25; 
 

- Office of National Statistics (ONS) Local Authority Cluster – those District 
Councils which the ONS considers to be similar to the Council in key ways; 
and, 

 
- Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership (CDRP) Family Group – those 

District Councils which are considered to have a similar crime profile to the 
Council. 

 
Continuing Services Budget: As part of the Council’s prudent approach to financial 
management, it separates General Fund expenditure into two elements. The 
Continuing Services Budget (CSB) accounts for “Ongoing annual costs in the 
General Fund” (see below for District Development Fund (DDF)) 
 
Cost Effectiveness: A form of analysis that combines cost and outcomes – for 
example, comparing the costs of alternative ways of producing the same outcome for 
users. 
 
Council Plan: The Council Plan 2006-10 reflects the Councils medium-term aims 
and priorities, and the aspirations of the Community Strategy.  
 
Council Vision: The Council’s vision and strategic aim for the Epping Forest District 
for 2006-10 is for the District to be a safe, healthy and attractive place in which to live 
and work. 
 
District Development Fund: As part of the Council’s prudent approach to financial 
management, it separates General Fund expenditure into two elements. The District 
Development Fund accounts for “One-off expenditure in 1-3 years for specific 
projects” (see above for Continuing Services Budget (CSB)) 
 
Economy: The price paid for providing the service (staff, materials, assets etc.) e.g. 
how much it costs to empty a refuse bin 
 

Page 66



 

 15

Effectiveness: The measure of the impact achieved, e.g. how satisfied customers 
are with the refuse collection service (qualitative) or how many bins were emptied on 
the correct day with no spillages (quantitative). 
 
Efficiency: How much you get out from what you put in, e.g. how many bins are 
emptied. 
 
Gershon (Annual Efficiency Gains):   Councils are required to submit annual 
efficiency gains, at least 50% of which must be cashable. Cashable efficiency gains 
allow resources to be diverted to other front line services whilst maintaining the same 
output – less inputs for the same outputs. Non-cashable efficiency gains occur 
through increased productivity – the same inputs for greater outputs. 
 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs): The KPIs are a measure of the Council’s 
performance in terms of its corporate priorities and core areas of service provision. 
The aim of the KPIs is to provide focused improvement and achieve comparable 
performance with that of the best local authorities. 
 
Medium Term Priorities: The Council’s medium-term priorities reflect the core 
issues that the authority faces in respect of the provision of services over the period 
from 2006 to 2010. 
 
Value For Money (VFM): VFM is about obtaining the maximum benefit over time 
with the resources available. It is about achieving the right local balance between 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness or, spending less, spending well and spending 
wisely to achieve local priorities for services. VFM is high when there is an optimum 
balance between all three elements - when costs are relatively low, productivity is 
high and successful outcomes have been achieved. (Audit Commission Guidance to 
Auditors 2008). 

Page 67



 

 16

Appendix 4 - The Value For Money and Use Of Resources Framework  
 
The Use Of Resources assessment forms part of the joint inspectorates’ framework 
for Comprehensive Area Assessment (CAA). CAA will consist of two assessments, of 
the area and of the organisations in an area. 
 
Local Area Agreements (LAA) are central to the new settlement between central 
government, local government and citizens. This is a long term strategy for the local 
area based on consultation with local people about the sort of place they want the 
area to be. The agreed local priorities will form the initial focus for the area 
assessment. 
 
Area Assessments: The area assessment will look at how well public services are 
delivering better results for local people in local priorities and how likely they are to 
improve in the future. Use of resources will make a valuable contribution to the area 
assessment. 
 
Organisational Assessments: The use of resources assessment is a key component 
of the proposed organisational assessment for councils. The use of resources 
assessment considers how well organisations are managing and using their 
resources to deliver value for money and better and sustainable outcomes for local 
people. The assessment in structured into three themes that focus on the importance 
of sound and strategic financial management, strategic commissioning and good 
governance, and the effective management of natural resources, assets and people. 
 

 
 
The key lines of enquiry in the three themes of the use of resources framework 
collectively comprise the auditor’s assessment of value for money in the use of 
resources. 
 
Assessing Value For Money (VFM) is a challenge. Inevitably some elements, such as 
quality and sustainability, are more subjective and more difficult to measure than 
other elements. ‘Value’ can often take many years to materialise, for example in long-
term contacts. What is VFM at one point in time may not be a year later. It is 
therefore important when considering VFM to evaluate the optimum balance over the 
whole life of the service taking into consideration whole life costs and benefits. 
 
VFM is also specific to different contexts and a key component is assessing 
effectiveness and relevance to and impact on local priorities. What is VFM to one 
organisation, or locality, may not be the same for another.  
 
(abridged Audit Commission advice on Use of Resources to auditors 2008) 

Page 68



 

 17

Appendix 5 - Value For Money, Use Of Resources and Comprehensive Area 
Assessment (based upon Audit Commission “Use of Resources: Guidance for 
Auditors – Section 3 The Assessment Framework”) 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Comprehensive 
Area Assessment 

(CAA) 

Area Assessment
Essex 

Use Of 
Resources 

(UOR) 

Value For 
Money 
(VFM) 

Organisational 
Assessment 

 

 

Local Area 
Agreement 

Economy Effectiveness Efficiency 

Use Of 
Resources 

(UOR) 

Local priorities and 
context 

Comparator group performance 
and costs 

Page 69



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Terms of Reference / Work Programme
	Work Programme

	6 Key Performance Indicators 2009/10
	KPI - Appendix 1
	KPI - Appendix 2-a
	KPI - Appndix 2-b
	KPI - Appendix 2- c
	KPI - Appendix 2- d
	KPI - Appendix 2 - e
	KPI - Appendix 2 - f
	KPI - Appendix 2 -g
	KPI - Appendix 2 - h

	7 Equality and Diversity - Progress Report 2008/09
	8 Value for Money Strategy - Review
	VFM - Appendix 1


